

**Table of Contents** 

Colin Brock (University of Oxford) Nadine Cammish (University of Hull) with Ruth Aedo-Richmond, Aparna Narayanan and Rose

Njoroge

January 1997 Reprinted January 1999

Serial No. 19

ISBN: 0902500767

**Department For International Development** 

# **Table of Contents**

# **Department for International Development - Education papers**

# Acknowledgements

# **Introduction**

## **Global**

**Annotations** 

# **Sub-Saharan Africa**

## Individual countries

**Angola** 

**Benin** 

Botswana

Burkina Faso

Cameroon

Chad

Congo

Eritrea

**Ethiopia** 

Gambia

Ghana

Guinea

Guinea Bissau

**Ivory Coast** 

Kenya

Lesotho

Liberia

Madagascar

Malawi

Mali

Mauritania

**Mozambique** 

Namibia

**Niger** 

Nigeria Rwanda Senegal Sierra Leone Somalia South Africa Sudan **Swaziland** Tanzania Togo Uganda Zaire Zambia **Zimbabwe** Annotations - Sub-Saharan Africa Individual countries **Zimbabwe** Sudan Niger Nigeria **Ivory Coast** Malawi, Zambia, Zimbabwe

# **North Africa and Middle East**

# **Individual Countries**

**Algeria** 

Bahrain

**Cyprus** 

**Egypt** 

Iran

Iraq

Jordan

**Kuwait** 

Lebanon

Oman **Palestine** Qatar Saudi Arabia **Syria** Tunisia **Turkey United Arab Emirates** Yemen **Annotations Individual countries Bahrain** Saudi Arabia **Annotation South Asia Individual countries** Afghanistan Bangladesh Bhutan <u>India</u> Nepal Pakistan Sri Lanka **Annotations** 

**Asia** 

Libya

Morocco

Bangladesh

Individual countries

India
Pakistan
Sri Lanka

## **South East Asia**

Brunei

Cambodia

Indonesia

Laos

Malaysia

Myanmar

Papua New Guinea

**Phillipines** 

**Singapore** 

Thailand

**Vietnam** 

**Annotations - Individual countries** 

Indonesia

Malaysia

# **Central and East Asia**

China

South Korea

Mongolia

**Kyrgyzstan** 

Taiwan

<u>Uzbekistan</u>

<u>Annotations - Individual countries</u>

**China** 

South Korea

# **Latin America**

**Individual countries** 

Argentina Bolivia **Brazil** Chile Colombia Costa Rica Cuba Dominican Republic Ecuador El Salvador Guatemala **Honduras** Mexico Nicaragua Panama Peru Puerto Rico Venezuela

#### Annotations

# **Individual countries**

Argentina

Bolivia

**Brazil** 

Chile

Costa Rica

Mexico

Peru

# **Tropical islands**

<u>Islands in the Caribbean - General section</u> <u>Individual islands</u>

Antigua and Barbuda

Barbados

Curacao

<u>Dominica</u> Grenada
Haiti Haiti
Jamaica
Martinique
Montserrat
Trinidad and Tobago
<u>Islands in the Indian ocean - Individual islands</u>
Mauritius
Reunion
Seychelles
Islands in the South Pacific ocean
<u>Individual islands</u>
<u>Fiji</u>
Solomon Islands
<u>Tonga</u>
<u>Vanuatu</u>
Western Samoa
Annotations - Tropical islands in the Caribbean
<u>Individual countries</u>
<u>Jamaica</u>
Pacific islands - General
<u>Vanuatu</u>
<u>Indian ocean - Individual countries</u>
Mauritius
Seychelles

### [Table of Contents] [Next Page]

# Department for International Development - Education papers

This is one of a series of Education Papers issued from time to time by the Education Division of the Department for International Development. Each paper represents a study or piece of commissioned research on some aspect of education and training in developing countries. Most of the studies were undertaken in order to provide informed judgements from which policy decisions could be drawn, but in each case it has become apparent that the material produced would be of interest to a wider audience, particularly but not exclusively those whose work focuses on developing countries.

Each paper is numbered serially, and further copies can be obtained through the DFID's Education Division, 94 Victoria Street, London SW1E 5JL, subject to availability. A fall list appears overleaf.

Although these papers are issued by the DFID, the views expressed in them are entirely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the DFID's own policies or views. Any discussion of their content should therefore be addressed to the authors and not to the DFID.

# List of other DFID education papers available in this series

No. 1	Pennycuick, D. 1993 'SCHOOL EFFECTIVENESS IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES: A SUMMARY OF THE RESEARCH EVIDENCE' ISBN: 0 90250 061 9	
No. 2	Hough, J.R. 1993 'EDUCATIONAL COST-BENEFIT ANALYSIS' ISBN: 0 90250 062 7	
No. 3	Gray, L. et al 1993 'REDUCING THE COST OF TECHNICAL AND VOCATIONAL EDUCATION' ISBN: 0 90250 063 5	
No. 4	Williams, E. 1993 'REPORT ON READING ENGLISH IN PRIMARY SCHOOLS IN MALAWI' ISBN: 0 90250 064 3 (See also No. 24)	
No. 5	Williams, E. 1993 'REPORT ON READING ENGLISH IN PRIMARY SCHOOLS IN ZAMBIA' ISBN: 0 90250 065 1 (See also No. 24)	

No. 6	Lowin V 1002 EDUCATION AND DEVELOPMENT, THE ISSUES AND		
	Lewin, K. 1993 'EDUCATION AND DEVELOPMENT: THE ISSUES AND THE EVIDENCE' ISBN: 0 90250 066 X		
No. 7	Penrose, P. 1993 'PLANNING AND FINANCING: SUSTAINABLE EDUCATION SYSTEMS IN SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA' ISBN: 0 90250 0678		
No. 8	(not issued)		
No. 9	Brock, C. Cammish, N. 1991 (Revised 1997) - 'FACTORS AFFECTING FEMALE PARTICIPATION IN EDUCATION IN SEVEN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES' ISBN: 1 86192 065 2		
No. 10	Rogers, A. 1994 'USING LITERACY: A NEW APPROACH TO POST- LITERACY METHODS' ISBN: 1 861920709		
No. 11	McGrath, S. King, K. et al. 1995 (Reprinted 1997) 'EDUCATION AND TRAINING FOR THE INFORMAL SECTOR' Vol 1. and Vol. 2 - Case studies. ISBN: 1 86192 090 3		
No. 12	Little, A. 1995 'MULTI-GRADE TEACHING: A REVIEW OF RESEARCH AND PRACTICE' ISBN: 0 90250 058 9		
No. 13	Bilham, T. Gilmour, R. 1995 'DISTANCE EDUCATION IN ENGINEERING FOR DEVELOPING COUNTRIES' ISBN: 0 90250 068 6		
No. 14	Barnett, E. de Koning, K. Francis, V. 1995 'HEALTH & HIV/AIDS EDUCATION IN PRIMARY & SECONDARY SCHOOLS IN AFRICA & ASIA' ISBN: 0 90250 069 4		
No. 15	Gray, L. Warrender, A.M. Davies, P. Hurley, G. Manton, C. 1995 -LABOUR MARKET SIGNALS & INDICATORS' ISBN: 0 90250 070 8		
No. 16	Lubben, F. Campbell R. Dlamini B. 1995 'IN-SERVICE SUPPORT FOR A TECHNOLOGICAL APPROACH TO SCIENCE EDUCATION' ISBN: 0 90250 071 6		
No. 17	Archer, D. Cottingham, S 1996 'ACTION RESEARCH REPORT ON REFLECT' ISBN: 0 90250 072 4		
No. 18	Kent, D. Mushi, P. 1996 'THE EDUCATION AND TRAINING OF ARTISANS FOR THE INFORMAL SECTOR IN TANZANIA' ISBN: 0 90250 074 0		
No. 20	Taylor, P. Mulhall, A. 1997 'CONTEXTUALISING TEACHING AND LEARNING IN RURAL PRIMARY SCHOOLS: USING AGRICULTURAL EXPERIENCE' Vol 1 ISBN: 1 861920 45 8 Vol 2 (Case Studies) ISBN: 1 86192 050 4		
NT 01	Kutnick, P. Jules, V. Layne, A. 1997 'GENDER AND SCHOOL ACHIEVEMENT IN THE CARIBBEAN' ISBN: 1 861920806		

No. 22	Bourne, R. Gundara, J. Dev, A. Ratsoma, N. Rukanda, M. Smith, A. Birthistle, U. 1997 -SCHOOL-BASED UNDERSTANDING OF HUMAN RIGHTS IN FOUR COUNTRIES: A COMMONWEALTH STUDY' ISBN: 1861920954
No. 23	Stephens, D. 1998 'GIRLS AND BASIC EDUCATION: A CULTURAL ENQUIRY' ISBN: 1 86192 036 9
	Williams, E. 1998 'INVESTIGATING BILINGUAL LITERACY: EVIDENCE FROM MALAWI AND ZAMBIA' (Updated and combined reissue of Serial No. 4 & 5) ISBN: 1 86192 041 5
No. 25	Swainson, N. Bendera, S. Gordan, R. Kadzamira, E. 1998 'PROMOTING GIRLS' EDUCATION IN AFRICA: THE DESIGN AND IMPLEMENTATION OF POLICY INTERVENTIONS' ISBN: 1 86192 046 6
No. 26	Rosenberg, D. Sidibé, A. Radebe, T. Amaral, W. Odini, C. 1998 'GETTING BOOKS TO SCHOOL PUPILS IN AFRICA' ISBN: 1 86192051 2
No. 27	Penrose, P. 1998 'COST SHARING IN EDUCATION' ISBN: 1 86192 056 3

#### Other DFID education studies also available

Swainson, N. 1995 'REDRESSING GENDER INEQUALITIES IN EDUCATION'

Wynd, S. 1995 'FACTORS AFFECTING GIRLS' ACCESS TO SCHOOLING IN NIGER'

Phillips, D. Arnhold, N. Bekker, J. Kersh, N. McLeish, E. 1996 'EDUCATION FOR RECONSTRUCTION'

Rosenberg, D. 1996 'AFRICAN JOURNAL DISTRIBUTION PROGRAMME: EVALUATION OF 1994 PILOT PROJECT'

Perraton, H. 1998 'REWARDING WRITERS OF COURSE MATERIAL FOR OPEN AND DISTANCE LEARNING'

All available free of charge from DFID Education Division, 94 Victoria Street, London SW1E 5JL.

[Top of Page] [Next Page]

[Previous Page] [Table of Contents] [Next Page]

# **Acknowledgements**

In a project like this there are too many individuals involved for us to be able to thank them all by name, We are most grateful to all those ministries, agencies, institutions, projects and librarians who have responded to our requests for information and assistance. We hope that they will be gratified to see the result of their response evident within the bibliography.

There are, however, just a few people we do wish to identify and thank on the record for their special support. Firstly there are our researchers Ruth Aedo-Richmond, Aparna Narayanan and Rose Njoroge who have made very significant contributions, not only in respect of their general input to the work, but also in terms of their insights and expertise on Latin America, South Asia and Sub-Saharan Africa respectively. Secondly, our secretarial support has been equally vital, and here we would especially wish to record our thanks to Jennifer Webster. Finally, the index of any academic document is the first port of call for most users, and for compiling this important element of the publication we thank Shirley Brock.

Inevitably there will be some oversights and significant omissions in a work of this kind. The theme is a massive one, still attracting a great deal of interest, as it should. We take full responsibility for any shortcomings, and hope that readers will notify us of important, readily available sources that have not been listed here. Hopefully they may be included in a subsequent update of the list and the annotations.

Colin Brock Oxford

Nadine K. Cammish Hull

[Previous Page] [Top of Page] [Next Page]

[Previous Page] [Table of Contents] [Next Page]

# Introduction

In theory a bibliography on the interconnected issues of gender, education and development could embrace a massive temporal and spatial scale: millennial and global. In practice there has to be selection, and this publication resides within a range of parameters that determines its rationale.

The initial step in this rationale is the motivation for its compilation, which is to follow up the ODA Research Report of 1991 on Factors Affecting Female Participation in Education in Six Developing Countries. (That report has been revised, updated and reissued at the same time as this study.). Such a description immediately limits the range of nation states involved but also introduces problems of definition. Conventions such as 'Third World', 'Developing Countries' and 'The South' are all imperfect as the extremely disparate rates of development both between and within countries that tend to fall within such categories continue to deepen and diverge. Rather than seek to resolve this problem, we have decided to rest with traditional regional groupings as listed on the contents page above. All could be contentious, but are at least easily recognised, with real problems existing only on the margins and interfaces, where we have made arbitrary decisions as to inclusion or exclusion. In areas where in recent decades there has been massive economic growth in some countries, for example the Middle East and South East Asia, we have decided to include all component states despite the fact that there are levels of development in such places that exceed those of most parts of the traditionally perceived 'industrialised world'.

Consequently the main frame structure of the bibliography is that of single traditional regional groupings of nation states, before which there is a section comprising selected publications that seek to address one or more of the related issues on a global scale. Within each regional grouping we begin with items that operate at that scale, for example 'Latin America' or 'Sub-Saharan' Africa, before proceeding with the component nation-states in alphabetical order. No significance at all is ascribed to the order in which regions, and therefore countries, appear in this bibliography.

Within this broad geographical framework we have then operated a number of criteria in the selection of items to be included. This is in no respect an exhaustive list and does not pretend to be so. A key plank in the rationale is that it should be useful, therefore

useable, within the limited time frame within which it may expect to be a 'contemporary resource'. We have therefore placed severe limitations in respect of language, periodisation and availability, again using arbitrary parameters for clear and practical reasons.

The vast majority of items are in English, though where, on occasions, what we reckon to be a key source is published in either French or Spanish, we have included them.

In general we have included only selected items published since 1975. The mid 1970s saw the emergence of a significant body of literature on gender, especially in the USA and then Europe, but it was in the 1980's that the connection with development becomes more apparent, with a surge of activity in respect of gender issues in developing countries.

The issue of availability, admittedly a relative concept, has also informed our selection and inevitably reflects the target audience. While it is hoped that this bibliography will be of interest to academics from a variety of disciplines it is, like the report from which it has grown, also intended for a wider professional readership. Especially in mind are those who are charged with the formation and operation of policy in respect of the issue of gender in educational provision, and also those in the service of governments or **NGOs** who work in this field. So most entries are published by well known companies or institutions and should not be too difficult to trace. They range from books and reports through journal articles and, occasionally, to pamphlets. We are aware that a vast range of additional material has been produced during the two decades in question, often by active groups within particular countries, but we have had to be deliberately highly selective on grounds of wider accessibility. Consequently locally produced publications in developing countries, probably numbered in the thousands in global terms and of obvious significance in particular situations, have not in general been included.

There are considerable differences in the amount of material available from zone to zone and country to country. In some cases it has been necessary to cull severely, but where few items appeared to be available selection has been less stringent. Some countries have been omitted entirely because no easily accessible material appeared to be available, although in such cases some significant documentation almost certainly exists.

The selection of some publications for annotation has also been based on the same range of criteria as described above in respect of the bibliographical list. It was thought most useful to the reader to locate the annotations at the end of each regional grouping rather than as a completely separate section of the publication, as many readers will have region-specific interests. Here again, selection has been made largely on the issue

of the items being informative and capable of practical interpretation and therefore import. Obscure discourses have been excluded, and the treatment of all items selected for annotation has been such as to render information to the reader rather than deep criticism. Given the vast range of locations and cultures involved it would have been improper to do otherwise.

While taking full responsibility for the selection, we have been significantly constrained by the nature of the literature that is readily available in the sense described above. The global and regional material, as well as a fair proportion of the country specific items, focus on gender or gender and development. Publications that focus on education in relation to issues of gender constitute a minority, albeit for us a significant one. This is an interesting issue in itself. Does the virtual absence of educational discourse in relation to gender and development books and articles represent a calculated decision on the part of the authors, editors and publishers involved, or is it simply a function of intellectual and academic specialisation? Most such publications are edited, and contributed to, by social scientists of one hue or another. Perhaps their analysis of the situation includes the realisation that the role of formal education in the development process is a second order issue, following the satisfaction of certain cultural and infrastructural imperatives? This may well be a fair position to take in respect of the formal mode, but while non-formal dimensions of education and training are more visible in the global and regional literature especially, they are still at the margins of the discussion. It would seem that international and comparative educators still have a great deal to do to effect interaction and dialogue with their social science counterparts involved in issues of gender and development.

Be that as it may, the outcome in respect of this bibliography is that we have decided to divide the lists relating to global regional and national categories into two sections: gender, and gender and education. The relative incidence of each in terms of individual cases varies considerably, but as this would appear to reflect current and recent attitudes and approaches we have not attempted to adjust this imbalance to any significant degree. Rather, we hope that inter alia this will interest the social scientists and the educationists in each other's literature on an important issue of mutual concern that is central to. the development process.

[Previous Page] [Top of Page] [Next Page]

# [Previous Page] [Table of Contents] [Next Page]

# **Global**

## **Annotations**

Gender		
AFSHAR, Haleh (ed) (1985)	Women, Work and Ideology in the Third World, Tavistock, London.	
AFSHAR, Haleh (ed) (1991)	Women, Development and Survival in the Third World, Longman, London.	
AFSHAR, Haleh (ed) (1996)	Women and Politics in the Third World, Routledge, London.	
ASLANBEIGUI, Nahid et al (1994)	Women in the Age of Economic Transformation: Gender Impact of Reforms in Post-Socialist and Developing Countries, Routledge, London.	
AVERY, Desmond (1984)	Home versus Job: A Global Perspective on Women in Science, UNESCO, Paris.	
BORCELLE, Germaine (1985)	Jobs for Women: A Plea for Equality of Opportunity, Technical Education Vocational Training and Employment, UNESCO, Paris.	
BRAIDOTTI, Rosi et al (1994)	Women, the Environment and Sustainable Development: Towards a Theoretical Synthesis, Zed Books, London.	
BUVINIC, Mayra (1976)	Women and World Development: An Annotated Bibliography, American Association for the Advancement of Science, Washington DC.	

CURTIN, Leslie B (1982)	Status of Women: A Comparative Analysis of Twenty Developing Countries, Population Reference Bureau Inc., Washington DC.
ELSON, Diane (ed) (1995)	Male Bias in the Development Process, Manchester University Press, Manchester.
FOLBRE, Nancy (1994)	Who Pays for the Kids? Gender and the Structures of Constraint, Routledge, London.
HERZ, Barbara and SCHREIBER, Golz (1990)	Women in Development, a Progress Report on the World Bank Initiative, The World Bank, Washington DC.
JACOBSON, Jodi et al (1992)	Gender Bias: Roadblock to Sustainable Development, Worldwatch Institute, Washington DC.
JAMISON, Ellen (1985)	Women of the World: A Chartbook for Developing Regions, IDCA, Washington DC.
JAPAN INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION AGENCY (1994)	Manual on Integrating WID Considerations into Development Programs, Tokyo.
JAPAN INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION AGENCY (1994)	Technical Cooperation Toward Upgrading Technical Levels of Rural Women in Developing Countries, Tokyo.
LIMAGE, Leslie (1994)	Convergence XXVII (2/3 Special Edition on Gender).
LOUTFI, Martha F. (1980)	Rural Women: Unequal Partners in Development, I.L.O. Geneva.
MACKENZIE, Liz (1993)	On Our Feet: Taking Steps to Challenge Women's Oppression, University of the Western Cape, Bellville, South Africa.
MARTENS, Margaret H. and MITTER, Swasti (1994)	Women In Trade Unions: Organising the Unorganised, I.L.O., Geneva.

MASON, Karen Oppenheim (1994)	The Status of Women: A Review of its Relationship to Fertility and Mortality, The Rockefeller Foundation.
MASSIAH, Joycelin (ed) (1993)	Women in Developing Economies: Making Visible the Invisible, Berg/UNESCO.
MILLER, Karen A (1984)	The Effects of Industrialisation on Men's Attitudes Towards the Extended Family and Women's Rights: A Cross-National Study, <b>Journal of Marriage</b> and the Family, 46(1) 153-160.
MOLYNEAUX, Maxine (1984)	Strategies for the Emancipation of Women in the Third World Socialist Societies, in ACKER, S (et al) (eds) World Yearbook of Education: Women and Education, Kogan Page, London, pp 268-278.
MOMSEN, Janet (1991)	Women and Development in the Third World, Routledge, London.
MOMSEN, Janet and KINNAIRD, Vivian (eds) (1993)	Different Places, Different Voices: Gender and Development in Africa, Asia and Latin America, Routledge, London.
MOSER, Caroline (1993)	Gender, Planning and Development: Theory, Practice and Training, Routledge, London.
MOSSE, Julia C (1993)	Half the World, Half a Chance: An Introduction to Gender and Development, Oxfam, Oxford.
NELSON, Nici (1979)	Why Has Development Neglected Rural Women? Pergamon, Oxford.
NUSSBAUM, Martha and GLOVER, Jonathan (eds) (1995)	Women, Culture and Development, A Study of Human Capabilities, Clarendon Press, Oxford
OFOSU-AMMAAH, Waafas (1994)	Women: Key Partners in Sustainable and Equitable Development, Commonwealth of Learning, Vancouver.

OSTERGAARD, Lisa (1992)	Gender and Development: A Practical Guide, London.
OVERHOLT, Catherine et al (ed)	Gender Role in Development Projects: A Practical Guide, Kumarian, Connecticut.
RAI, Shirin (1996)	Women and the State: International Perspectives, Taylor and Francis, Basingstoke.
REARDEN, Geraldine (1994)	Power and Process: A Report from the Women Linking for Change Conference, Oxfam, Oxford.
RODDA, Annabel (1994)	Women in the Humid Tropics, UNESCO, Paris.
ROWBOTHAM, Sheila and MITTER, Swasti (1993)	Dignity and Daily Bread: New Forms of Economic Organisation Among Poor Women in the Third World and the First, Routledge, London.
ROYAL TROPICAL INSTITUTE (NETHERLANDS) (1992)	Women and Development: An Annotated Bibliography, 1990-1992.
SCHULTZ, T. Paul (1994)	Human Capital Investment in Women and Men Micro and Macro Evidence of Economic Returns, ICS Press, San Francisco.
SEN, Gita and GROWN, Caren (1988)	Development, Crimes and Alternative Visions: Third World Perspectives, Earthscan, London.
SPARR, Pamela (1994)	Mortgaging Women's Lives: Feminist Critiques of Structural Adjustment, Zed Books, London.
TINKER, Irene (ed)(1990)	Persistent Inequalities: Women and World Development, OECD, Paris.
TINKER, Irene and BRAMSEN, Michele, (eds) (1976)	Women and World Development, ODC, Washington DC.
TOWNSEND, Janet (1988)	Women in Developing Countries: A Selected Annotated Bibliography for Development Organisations, IDS, University of Sussex, Brighton.

TOWNSEND, Janet (1995)	Women's Voices from the Rainforest, Routledge, London.
UNESCO (1985)	Women from Witch-Hunt to Politics, Paris.
UNESCO (1991)	The Status of Women: Annotated Bibliography for the Period 1965-1990, Paris.
UNESCO (1995)	The Status of Women: An Annotated Bibliography for the Period 1990-1995, Paris.
UNITED NATIONS (1990)	The Bejing Conference and the Platform for Action: Fourth World Conference on Women, UN. Dept. of Public Information, New York.
WALLACE, Tina and MARCH, Candida (eds) (1991)	Changing Perceptions: Writings on Gender and Development, Oxfam, Oxford.
WILKINSON, Jean (1989)	Unheard Words: Third World Women Speak for Themselves, <b>Social Studies</b> <b>Review</b> , 29 (1).
WOMEN'S FEATURE SERVICE (1993)	The Power to Change: Women in the Third World Redefine Their Environment, Zed Books, London.
WORLD BANK (1979)	Recognising the "Invisible" Women in Development: The World Bank's Experience, The World Bank, Washington DC.
WORLD BANK (1995)	Investing in All the People: the World Bank in Action, Washington DC.
WORLD BANK (1995)	Towards Gender Equality: the Role of Public Policy, Washington DC.
YOUNG, Katie (1993)	Planning Development with Women: Making a World of Difference, Macmillan, London.

# **Gender and education**

ACKER, Sandra (1987)	Feminist Theory and the Study of Gender and Education, in: <b>International Review of Education</b> 33 (4), 419-435.
ACKER, Sandra et al (ed) (1984)	World Yearbook of Education: Women and Education, Kogan Page, London.
AHUJA, Vinod and FILMER, Deon (1995)	Educational Attainment in Developing Countries: New Estimates and Projections Disggregated by Gender, World Bank, Washington DC.
ARPESLAGH, Robert and VAN DEN BERG, Jannie (eds) (1991)	World Without Writing and then They Write for the First Time, Netherlands Institute for International Relationa, The Hague.
BAGLA-GOKALP, Lusin (1990)	Les Femmes et L'Éducation de Base: Étude Spéciale Pour la Conférence Mondiale sur L'Éducation Pour Tous, UNESCO, Bangkok.
BEHRMAN. J.R. (1991)	Investing in Female Education for Development USAID, Washington DC.
BELLEW, Rosemary and KING, Elizabeth (1991)	Promoting Girls' and Women's Education: Lessons from the Past, The World Bank, Washington DC.
BERG, Kersti and WOOD, Adrian (1994)	Does Educating Girls Improve Export Opportunities?, Institute of Development Studies, University of Sussex, Brighton.
BERNARD, Anne and GAYFER, Margaret (1983)	Women Hold Up more than Half the Sky: A Third World Perspective on Women and Nonformal Education for Development International Council of Adult Education, Toronto.
BOWMAN, M and ANDERSON C.A. (1980)	The Participation of Women in the Third World, in: Comparative Education Review, 24 (2).
BOWN, Lalage (1990)	Preparing the Future: Literacy, Women and Development, Actionaid, Chard.
BROCK, Colin and CAMMISH, Nadine K. (1991/94)	Factors Affecting Female Participation in Primary Education in Six Developing Countries, ODA, London.

BROCK, Colin and CAMMISH,	Constraints on Female Participation in
Nadine K. (1994)	Education in Developing Countries in: STROWBRIDGE, G. and TULASIEWICZ, W. (eds) Education and the Law: International Perspectives, Routledge,
	London, 82-93.
BROCK, Colin and CAMMISH, Nadine K (1996)	Cultural Capacity Building and the Closing of the Gender Gap, in: WATSON J.K. (ed).  Educational Dilemmas: Debate and Diversity, Cassell, London 118-126.
BYRNE, Eileen M (1991)	Investing in Women: Technical and Scientific Training for Economic Development, I.L.O. Geneva.
CAMMISH, Nadine K.	Sons and Daughters: Attitudes and Issues Affecting Girls' Education in Developing Countries, in: ALLSOP, T. and BROCK, C. (eds), <b>Key Issues in Educational Development. Oxford Studies in Comparative Education,</b> 3 (2), 87-107.
CHAMIE, M (1983)	National, Institutional Household Factors Affecting Young Girls' School Attendance in Developing Societies, USAID, Washington DC.
CHLEBOWSKA, Krystyna (1990)	Literacy for Rural Women in the Third World, UNESCO, Paris.
CHLEBOWSKA, Krystyna (1992)	Knowing and Doing: Literacy for Women, UNESCO, Paris.
CHOWDHURY, K.P. (1993)	Women and Education, World Bank, Washington DC.
CLARK, Noreen (1979)	Education for Development and The Rural Women, World Education, New York.
CONWAY, Jill K and BOURQUE, Susan C. (eds) (1993)	The Politics of Women's Education: Perspectives from Asia, Africa and Latin America, UNESCO, Paris.
DEBLE, Isabelle (1980)	The School Education of Girls: An International Comparative Study on School Wastage Among Girls and Boys at the First and Second Levels of Education, Paris.

DUPONT, Beatrice (1981)	Unequal Education: A Study of Six Differences in Secondary School Curricula, Paris.
ELLIOTT, Carolyn and KELLY, Gail P (1980)	Perspectives on the Education of Women in Third World Nations, in: Comparative Education Review 24 (2).
FLORO, Maria and WOLF, Joyce M. (eds) (1990)	The Economic and Social Impacts of Girl's Primary Education in Developing Countries, Creative Associates Inc., Washington DC.
FRIEDMAN S.A. (1994)	Education for All Girls: A Human Right, A Social Gain, UNICEF, New York.
HAQ, K. (1992)	Educating Girls and Women: A Moral Imperative, UNICEF, New York.
HARTEMBERGER, Lisa and BOSCH, Andrea (1996)	Making Interactive Radio Instruction Even Better for Girls, Education Development Center, Washington DC.
HERZ, Barbara K. et al (1991)	Letting Girls Learn: Promising Approaches in Primary and Secondary Education, The World Bank, Washington DC.
ILON, L. (1992)	Fitting Girls' Schooling Into Existing Economic Paradigms: Confronting the Complexities, in: <b>International Journal of Educational Development</b> 12 (2), 147-159.
JAYAWEERA, Swarna (1987)	Women and Education, in: <b>International Review of Education</b> 33 (4), 415-418.
KANE, Ellen (1996)	Gender, Culture and Learning, Education Development Center, Washington DC.
KELLY, Gail (1984)	Women's Access to Education in the Third World: Myths and Realities, in: ACKER, S. et al. <b>World Yearbook of Education:</b> Women and Education, Kogan Page, London.
KELLY, Gail (1987)	Setting State Policy on Women's Education in the Third World: Perspectives for Comparative Research, in: Comparative Education, 23 (1).

KELLY, Gail, P and ELLIOTT, Carolyn M.	Women's Education in the Third World: Comparative Perspectives, SUNY Press, Albany NY.
KELLY, David H. and KELLY, Gail P. (1982)	Education of Women in Developing Countries, UNESCO, Paris.
KELLY, David H, and KELLY, Gail P. (1989)	Women's Education in the Third World: An Annotated Bibliography, Garland Publishing, New York.
KING, Elizabeth M. (1990)	Educating Women and Girls: Investing in Development, World Bank, Washington DC.
KING, Elizabeth and HILL, Anne M.(1993)	Women's Education in Developing Countries: Barriers, Benefits and Policies, John Hopkins Press/World Bank, Baltimore.
KASUM, Premi K. (1993)	Why Not Educate Girls?, UNESCO, Bangkok.
LEVINE, Robert A. (1980)	Influences of Women's Schooling on Maternal Behaviour in the Third World, in:  Comparative Education Review, 24 (2).
LIND, Agneta (1990)	Mobilising Women for Literacy IBE/UNESCO, Paris.
MUKHERJEE, Hena and KEARNEY, Mary-Louise (eds) (1993)	Women in Higher Education Management, Commonwealth Secretariat/IDRC/UNESCO.
MALMQUIST, Eve (ed) (1992)	Women and Literacy in the Third World, Linkoping University, Linkoping.
MANI, Gomati (ed) (1988)	Women in Distance Education: Issues and Prospects, International Council for Distance Education.
NATIONAL ALLIANCE OF WOMEN'S ORGANISATIONS AND WUS (1990)	Aid and Women's Non-Formal Education World University Service, London.
ODARA, Catherine et al (1989)	Women and Literacy: Yesterday, Today and Tomorrow, Svenska Unescoradet, Stockholm.
PSACHAROPOULOS, G. (1994)	Returns to Investment in Education: A Global Update, in: <b>World Development</b> 22 (9), 1324-43.

REHMAN, M.M. and BISWAL, Kamalakanta (1993)	Education, Work and Women: An Enquiry into Gender Bias, Commonwealth Publishers, New Delhi.
ROSE, P. (1995)	Female Education and Adjustment Programs: A Cross-Country Statistical Analysis, in: World Development (UK) 23, 1931-49.
ROSS, Heidi (1992)	The Tunnel at the End of the Light: Research and Teaching on Gender and Education, in: <b>Comparative Education Review,</b> 36 (3), 343-354.
SANYAL, Bikas C. and COLLINS, J.E. (1988)	Women, Higher Education and Employment in the Developing Countries, IIEP, Paris.
SMOCK, Audrey C. (1981)	Women's Education in Developing Countries: Opportunities and Outcomes, Praeger, New York.
STROMQUIST, Nelly P. (1987)	School - Related Determinants of Female Primary School Participation and Achievement in Developing Countries: An Annotated Bibliography, World Bank. Washington DC.
SUBBARAO, K. and RANEY, Laura (1993)	Social Gains from Female Education: a Cross-National Study, The World Bank, Washington DC.
SUBBARAO, K. et al (1994)	Women in Higher Education: Progress, Constraints and Promising Initiatives, World Bank, Washington DC.
SUMMERS, Lawrence H. (1994)	Investing in All the People: Educating Women in Developing Countries, The World Bank, Washington DC.
SUTHERLAND, Margaret B. (1991)	Women and Education: Progress and Problems, in: <b>Prospects</b> 21 (2) 145-155.
TIETJAN, Karen (1991)	Educating Girls: Strategies to Increase Access, Persistence and Achievement, USAID, Washington DC.
UNESCO, (1975)	<b>Prospects: Educating and Womankind</b> (3), 324-397.

UNESCO (1980)	Comparative Analysis of Male and Female Enrolment and Illiteracy, Paris.
UNESCO (1983)	Equality of Educational Opportunities for Girls and Women, Paris.
UNESCO (1990)	Writing for Women: Civic Education, PROAP, Bangkok.
UNESCO (1992)	Development of Literacy Follow-up Materials for Women and Other Disadvantaged Populations, PROAP, Bangkok.
UNESCO (1992)	Promotion of Primary Education for Girls and Disadvantaged Groups, PROAP, Bangkok.
UNICEF (1992)	Strategies to Promote Girls' Education: Policies and Programmes that Work, New York.
UNESCO (1995)	The Education of Girls and Women: Towards a Global Framework for Action, Paris.
UNESCO/IBE (1975)	Education and Training of Women: Select Bibliography, Paris.
VEENHOFF, A. (ed) (1992)	Education for Women's Development in:  Netherlands Vena Journal 4 (1) (special issue).
WEXLER, Philip (ed) (1989)	<b>Sociology of Education</b> 62 (1) (Special Edition on Gender and Education).
WHARTON, Mandy (1982)	Women and Education: a Comparative Bibliography, in: <b>Compare</b> 12 (1), 67-70.
WIGG, David (1994)	In a Class of Their Own: A Look at the Campaign Against Female Illiteracy, World Bank, Washington DC.
WORLD BANK (1996)	Leveling the Playing field: Giving Girls an Equal Chance for Basic Education - Three Countries' Efforts, Washington DC.

WYATT, K. (1991)	Determinants of Gender Disparity in
	Education in the Developing World: A
	<b>Broad Perspective with Specific</b>
	Implications for Policy Strategy and
	<b>Development,</b> UNICEF, New York.

# **Annotations**

ACKER, S. et al (1984) **World Yearbook of Education 1984: Women and Education,** Kogan Page, London.

The articles on gender and education in this collection cover both developed and developing countries but there are useful case-studies on Jamaica (Hamilton and Leo-Rhynie), Malaysia (Fatimah Hamid Don), Egypt (Cynthia Nelson), and India (Carolyn Elliott). Two more general articles on aspects of gender and education in developing countries are particularly interesting. Maxine Molyneux, writing in 'Strategies for the emancipation of women in Third World socialist societies', (p. 268-278), shows how women's legal, economic and social position has been improved in socialist states such as China, Cuba, Democratic Yemen or Soviet Central Asia, even though they have not yet attained full equality with men. Where a state is committed to planned economic development and there is a comparatively high level of social welfare, employment opportunities for women are more likely to be developed. However, "For socialist states, the emancipation of women is not so much a goal in itself but is, rather, pursued chiefly insofar as it contributes to the achievement of the wider goals of economic development and socialist reconstruction", (p. 270). The pre-revolutionary social order is seen by socialist states as an obstacle to economic development and social reform. They see women's importance in the period of social and economic transformation as helping to achieve three goals

# - to extend political support

Women need to be drawn into political activity so that, politicised, they will cooperate in the process of social transformation. Their politicization challenges ancient customs and carries the revolution into the heart of the family.

# - To increase and improve the labour supply

Once familial constraints are eased, women form a large reserve of potential employees or voluntary workers.

#### - to reconstruct the family

"When revolutionary governments outlaw institutions such as polygamy, the bride-price, child marriage, and discrimination against women in property settlements, they are not doing so only to emancipate women, but also to hasten the disappearance of the pre-existing social order as a whole," (p. 272).

The two main policies usually pursued are family reform and the expansion of female educational opportunities. Although these bring about rapid change, the family remains a locus of inequality between the sexes - women are still responsible for housework and childcare, while being expected to participate fully in wage employment and political life. Women tend to have lower paid jobs too.

As Molyneux says - "legal reforms and Party proclamations will not, in themselves, suffice to enable women to attain equality with men," (p. 276).

The second article, Gail Kelly's 'Women's access to education in The Third World: myths and realities', (p. 82-89) is important in that it questions the assumptions that it is social background, cultural and religious milieu and the level of economic development in a country that influence women's access to education. Such assumptions lead to the view that women's access to schooling is independent of government policy towards women's education and school provision. Kelly argues that the greatest factor influencing female access to education is whether schooling is made available and accessible and what type of schooling is offered. These factors are matters of public policy and "therefore amenable to change," (p. 82).

AFSHAR, Haleh (ed) (1996) **Women and Politics in the Third World,** Routledge, London and New York.

The editor of this book is a distinguished academic in the field of gender and development, and gender studies in general, and it is therefore no surprise to find this excellent addition to her range of publications. It adds a strong element to the literature in respect of the contribution of political science to the study of this area of enquiry.

While recognising in the introduction of this book the increased recognition of women's contribution to other dimensions of the development process, the editor makes a strong initial case for greater acknowledgment of their increasing role in the political arena at various levels. The fact that relatively few women even now are evident in positions of high power and leadership, especially in the West, leads to the generally Western-centred academic analysis of politics, ignoring women in developing countries and leaving them on the periphery of the discourse. As Afshar puts it: "Western feminisms

negated Third World women's choices of paths of political activism which used the local prevalent ideologies and were often located within religious or maternal discourses".

So the object of this collection is to "bring Third World women to the centre of the political analysis, "and to illustrate that, "Their forms of negotiation with the state must not be equated with weakness nor should their strategies be classified as either temporary or unimportant." Contributions to this volume fall into two categories: those that are global or regional, and those that are country specific. The first, comprising four chapters includes three broad analyses of roles played by women in the Third World political arena, while the fourth concentrates on their resistance to authoritarianism in Latin America and South Asia. The country-specific chapters therefore form the majority of the book, but concentrate on just four cases, three of which are from Asia with two chapters each (China, Iran and Palestine), leaving the remaining chapters to a Nicaraguan subject.

The quality of the contributions is everywhere of a high order and sub-themes range across a number of issues, including: the politics of aid (Nicaragua); the politics of reform (China); fertility behaviour (China); fundamentalism (Iran); constraint (Iran); the national struggle (Palestine); the Intifada (Palestine). Given the title, the absence of African discussion, except in the global papers to some extent, is unfortunate and renders the title somewhat misleading. South Asia - the other major poverty zone - is also hardly represented.

Nonetheless, some of the excellent discussions have possibilities for generalising across the Third World, and in any case, the main objective is to point up the political dimension, and the significant involvement in it by many women in developing countries.

BAGLA-GOKALP, Lusin (1990) Les femmes et l'éducation de base. Étude spéciale pour la conférence mondial sur l'éducation pour tous, Thaïlande mars 1990 UNESCO, Paris.

Chapter 1 of this wide-ranging survey examines the arguments for women's rights to education. The impact of female education on birth-rates, for example, is discussed, with evidence of the disparity between the experiences of various parts of the world and the contributory influence of numerous other social factors, apart from education. The "inter-generational effect" of women's education is examined in terms of the well-being and health of children, their cognitive development, and their schooling (particularly that of girls). Chapter 2 *La Situation des femmes dans l'éducation de base* is a good source of facts and figures on literacy rates for women and girls, the impact of world economic recession on basic education, and drop-out and wastage. Chapter 3

summarises various projects on girls' education in a variety of countries.

Chapter 4 *Les facteurs qui influencent la scolarité* is a substantial study of the following factors:

#### socio-economic and cultural constraints

- poverty
- early marriage
- locus of authority
- control of sexuality
- family systems (eg patrilocal)
- sexual division of labour

#### Problems of infrastructure and services

- access (roads, transport)
- buildings
- incomplete educational systems
- teachers (supply and quality)
- lack of single-sex schools for girls

## Inappropriate types of education

# Inequalities within education itself

The final chapter makes a series of suggestions for possible action and intervention to improve girls' chances in education. The author points out that central political change is usually ineffective because of regionally disparity and that equally changes at school level alone are insufficient to ensure real progress. A pluridimensional and integrated approach is needed. Firstly, quality education adapted to the environment should be the aim: good quality buildings and resources should be provided in rural areas, systems with multiple entry points and opportunities to catch up should be developed and national policy on education should be flexible in local circumstances. "Une politique participatoire" should involve villages in the building of schools and planning curriculum and materials to fit in with community development. Non-formal education should be part of community, development programmes.

There is a need to improve the image of the school (a school building should reflect its importance) and to develop a climate of security and confidence, especially as far as women teachers in rural areas are concerned. Motivating and convincing parents is also essential. Girls' education should be encouraged by adapting to parental wishes,

providing for example single-sex education if this is what is wanted. To encourage poorer parents to send their girls to school, not only must the fee problem be removed but indirect costs need to be considered: where girls would otherwise be looking after younger siblings, pre-school provision and family allowances can both help. It is important too to make girls feel at ease within the school environment. The provision of separate toilets, awareness-training for teachers, the revision of sex-stereotyped textbooks and the introduction of female role-models into school would all help. Resources need to be equitably shared so that boarding places and scholarships are available to girls as well as boys. Job discrimination laws and good careers advice are needed to provide equality of opportunity in the jobs market.

BOWN, Lalage (1990), **Preparing the Future: Women, Literacy and Development,** Actionaid, Chard, UK.

This is a report prepared in order to focus attention on the impact of female literacy on human development and the participation of literate women in change. As the author puts it: "The main threads of the enquiry have been the effect of literacy on women's preparation for the future and on their capacity to emerge from being the shadows of other people."

It is necessary for the concept of literacy to be examined, and it is clearly explained that literacy is not a single unified competence, nor is it a fixed measurable achievement. Nonetheless, it is possible to recognise illiteracy and it would appear to be a growing problem overall, and with the gap between males and females widening to the further disadvantage of the latter. In order to get closer to the realities, a number of case studies are examined, especially to ascertain what kind of returns might be expected from an improvement in female literacy rates. Such returns are discussed in respect of social effects (increased participation in education and health initiatives); economic effects (greater capacity to mobilise credit and participate in business initiatives), personal effects (greater influence on family decisions and willingness to participate in community activity). It is recommended that the female dimension should be highlighted in development projects funded by multilateral and bilateral donors, and that popular, or basic education be promoted. The issue of self-realisation and selfbelief is central to any improvement that may be enjoyed. All these matters are well illustrated with detailed reference to field examples and experiences from Asia, Africa and Latin America. These cases are interwoven within the thematic chapters and thus relate well to theoretical considerations.

Despite the evidence collected and reported on here, the author concludes that there is still a great deal to be discovered. For example: does literacy have an impact on the life-expectancy of mothers? how far is literacy an ingredient in the sustainability of women's economic ventures? how far could women's literacy improve agriculture in countries where women play a large part in farming? what effect does literacy have on

women's budgeting and spending patterns/ how does literacy affect women's care for the environment? what is the interaction between schooled women and women gaining literacy in adulthood in movements for social change? Much of the existing evidence of some progress is based on short term, small scale project outcomes, but the more important dimension is the longer term. More research is needed, but at least there is widespread evidence of the significance of literacy for development, and in particular of female literacy.

KING, Elizabeth M and Hill, M. Anne (1993), **Women's Education in Developing Countries: Barriers, Benefits and Policies,** The John Hopkins University Press, Baltimore and London.

This book examines the education of women in developing countries from an economic perspective, both in terms of the then current situation and in terms of prospects for the future. The Foreward by Lawrence Summers, who has also examined this issue and is listed in this bibliography, contains telling introductory statistics about the 100 million or so "missing women" who in effect do not survive the rigours of the Third World. As he puts it: "Whereas women comprise 52.5 percent of the population in the industrial world, they account for only 51 per cent of the population in Sub-Saharan Africa, less than 48 per cent in East Asia, and less than 47 per cent in South Asia".

Such a situation correlates with indications surrounding the issue of educational disadvantage: that is to say, poorer cultures tend to view girls as less valuable than boys in that they may be less capable to perform physical labour - and yet they are called upon to do exactly that.

There are eight chapters. The first two comprise an overview of women's education in developing countries, and an analysis of the returns to women's education. These are followed by five regional chapters: Sub-Saharan Africa, Middle East and North Africa, Latin America and the Caribbean, South Asia and East Asia. All contain detailed data on the economic and educational condition of their respective regions, and polices implemented in respect of the education of women and girls. The final chapter concentrates on lessons to be had from the experiences outlined before and selects a number of desirable aims: expanding access to schools; providing culturally appropriate facilities; recruiting female teachers; reducing direct costs; reducing opportunity costs; increasing the benefits; alleviating poverty; making interventions more successful. The writers conclude that while local initiatives are important and local research is needed to provide insights into the determinants of female disadvantage in particular contexts, broad policies also make a difference: "For example, the more the government supports primary education, the greater the relative benefits to girls because girls are more likely than boys to quit school after primary level." Such an assessment fits well with the post-Jomtien thrust for basic educational development and the likely returns from investing in it.

MOMSEN, Janet and KINNAIRD, Vivian (1993) **Different Places, Different Voices: Gender and Development in Africa, Asia and Latin America,** Routledge, London and New York.

A number of disciplines contribute to the study of educational issues in international and comparative perspective, and so it is with geography and gender studies. This volume is a contribution to the latter by exponents of the former.

In the developing world today the subordinated position of women is exacerbated not only by patriarchal attitudes but also by economic crisis and the legacy of colonialism. The traditional model for women has been housework and childcare. However, new socio-economic demands and individual motivation have created new opportunities.

Different places, Different Voices analyses the changing lives of the women in the South through the voices of female geographers from the developing world. An emphasis on location and positionality highlights the differences created by place, and challenges much of the feminist and post-colonial scholarship of the West.

The focus on place, with country-specific studies within individual regions, results in a natural grouping by continent of the chapters within the book and emphasises the diversity of identities. The twenty case studies present regional perspectives by Third World geographers on aspects of urban and rural development, household reproduction and production and community organisation. There is a balanced coverage of Asia, Africa, Latin America and Oceania with contextual and theoretical introductions to each continent by local leading feminist geographers.

Many topics covered within the case studies fall within established geographical fields of enquiry - human/environment relations, demographic analysis and migration; others exemplify the broad range of issues as part of a 'new geography' that is bold in embracing new areas of enquiry and methodology. It is relevant beyond the particular interests and approaches of geographers and is certainly useful in respect of development studies, women's studies, sociology and anthropology. Although there are brief regional commentaries at the beginning of each section (Africa, South Asia, South-East Asia and Oceania, Latin America), almost every chapter is country-specific, though in fact only fifteen countries are actually represented. Countries favoured with multiple chapters are: India, Sri Lanka, Malaysia, Bolivia and Colombia.

NUSSBAUM, Martha and GLOVER, Jonathan (1995), **Women, Culture and Development: A Study of Human Capabilities,** Clarendon Press, Oxford.

This substantial volume (480 pages) is a major contribution to the convergence of

philosophical and economic analysis in respect of gender, and development policy. From a variety of philosophical positions the 25 contributors proceed to provide considerable support for the 'capabilities' approach pioneered by Amartya Sen, who is in fact also a contributor. A sense of realism and practical consensus is promoted by the decision of the editors to preface the various discourses with a major case study by Martha Chen entitled: 'A Matter of Survival: Women's Right to Employment in India and Bangladesh'. As the writer of the foreword (Lal Jayawardena) puts it: "The problems of women in developing countries call urgently for new forms of analysis and for an approach that moves beyond utilitarian economics to identify a number of distinct components of a human being's quality of life, including life-expectancy, maternal mortality, access to education, access to employment, and the meaningful exercise of political rights. Even when a nation seems to be doing well in terms of GNP per capita, its people may be doing poorly in one or more of these areas. This is especially likely to be the case for women, who have been treated unequally in many traditional societies, and who nowhere enjoy, on average, a 'quality of life' equal to that of men, when this is measured by the complex standard recommended by the 'capabilities' approach."

The book is structured into four parts, the first being the aforementioned case study. The second is focused on: 'Women's Equality: Methodology, Foundations' and includes discussion of, for example; human capabilities, development elites, justice, pragmatism, democracy and rationality, cultural complexity and moral interdependence. The third has to do with: 'Women's Equality: Justice, Law and Reason', comprising contributions on gender inequality and theories of justice; inequalities and cultural context; gender, caste and law; emotions and women's capabilities. Finally, part four takes on 'Regional Perspectives' with examples from China, Mexico, India and Nigeria. So the volume as a whole contributes in a balanced way as across the major components of the developing world and adds greatly to the ongoing work of the Quality of Life Project of which it is a part.

[Previous Page] [Top of Page] [Next Page]

[Previous Page] [Table of Contents] [Next Page]

# **Sub-Saharan Africa**

<u>Individual countries</u>
<u>Annotations - Sub-Saharan Africa</u>
Individual countries

General	
Gender	
ADEPOJU, Aderanti & OPPONG, Christine (eds.) (1994)	Gender, Work and Population in Sub-Saharan Africa, International Labour Office, J. Currey, Geneva.
AFRICAN TRAINING AND RESEARCH CENTRE FOR WOMEN (1985)	'Women and Mass Media in Africa: a Case of Sierra Leone, the Niger and Egypt' in <b>Journal of Eastern African Research and Development,</b> 15, 198-221.
AKEROYD, Anne V. (1996)	Some Gendered and Occupational Aspects of HIV and AIDS in Eastern and Southern Africa: Changes, Continuities and Issues for Further Consideration at the End of the First Decade, Centre of African Studies, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh.
COMHAIRE, Sylvain Suzanne (1963)	Participation of Women in Industry and Commerce in African Towns South of the Sahara, United Nations Commission, Lagos.
COULSON, Brenda Mary (1994)	The Impact of Development Upon the Health of Women and Children in Sub-Saharan Africa, Unpublished M.A. Thesis, University of Hull, United Kingdom.
CREEVEY, Lucy E. (ed.) (1986)	Women Farmers in Africa: Rural Development in Mali and the Sahel, Syracuse University.

EMEAGWALI, Gloria Thomas (ed.) (1995)	Women Pay the Price: Structural Adjustment in Africa and the Caribbean, Africa World Press.
EUROPEAN COMMISSION (1991)	Thematic Evaluation on the Integration of Women in Rural Development: Evaluation of Nine Projects Financed by the European Development Fund in Botswana, Burkina Faso, Cameroon, Kenya, Niger, Swaziland, Togo and Zambia, Synthesis Report by BMB and FEMCONSULT, Brussels European Commission.
GRELLIER, RUTH (1995)	All in Good Time: Women's Agricultural Production in Sub-Saharan Africa, Natural Resources Institute.
HAY, Margaret Jean & STICHTER, Sharon, 2nd Edition (1995)	African Women South of the Sahara, Longman, London.
NEWMAN, Jeanne S. (1984)	Women of the World: Sub-Saharan Africa, Agency for International Development (IDCA), Washington D.C.
PALRIWALA, Ranji & RISSEEUW, Carla (eds.) (1995)	Shifting Circles of Support: Conceptualising Gender and Kinship in South Asia and Sub-Saharan Africa, Sage Publications.
SMITH, E. Nan (1988)	Women in Sub-Saharan Africa, Minority Rights Group, London.
UNESCO (1993)	The education of girls: the Ougadougou declaration and framework for action: Pan-African conference on the education of girls, Pan-African Conference, Ougadougou.

Gender and Education	
ABEL (1990)	Les Impacts Économiques et Sociaux
	de L'Éducation Primaire Pour les
	Filles dans les Pays en Voie de
	<b>Développement,</b> USAID Office of
	Education and Women, Washington D.
	C.

ADAMCHAK, D. J. & NTSEANE, P. G. (1992)	'Gender, Education and Fertility - A Cross National Analysis of Sub-Saharan Nations' in <b>Sociological Spectrum</b> , 12 (2), 167-182.
ADAMS, Milton N. & KRUPPENBACH, S. E. (1987)	'Gender and Access in the African School', in <b>International Review of</b> <b>Education,</b> 33 (4), 437-455.
AINSWORTH, Martha (et al.) (1995)	The Impact of Female Schooling on Fertility and Contraceptive Use: A Study of Fourteen Sub-Saharan African Countries, Living Standards Measurement Study, Working Paper No. 110, World Bank, Washington D.C.
APPLETON, Simon (et al.) (1995)	Gender Differences in the Returns to Schooling in Three African Countries, Development Working Papers 83, Centre of African Economics, Oxford.
BOUYA, Alphonsine (1994)	'Education des Filles: Quelles Perspectives Pour L'Afrique Sub- Saharienne au XXI Siècle?' in <b>African</b> <b>Development</b> , XIX (4), 11-34IIEP, Paris.
BROCK, C. & CAMMISH N. (1994)	Factors Affecting Female Participation in Education in six Developing Countries, Overseas Development Administration, ODA Research Project 4532 Serial No. 9, London (includes Cameroon and Sierra Leone).
BOWN, Lalage (1985)	'Without Women No Development: The Role of Non Formal Education for Women in African Development' in Kevin M. LILLIS (ed.) School and Community in Less Developed Areas, Croom Helm, London, 258-276.
BROWNE, Angela W. & BARRETT, Hazel R. (1991)	'Female Education in Sub-Saharan Africa: The Key to Development' in <b>Comparative Education</b> , 27 (3), 275- 85.

De GRAUWE, Anton (1994)	'Why does Franky Go to School while Aminata Stays at Home? Supply and Demand Constraints on Enrolment on Education in Africa' in UNESCO- Africa, 9, 12-19.
ELIOU, Marie (1973)	'Scolarisation et Promotion Féminines en Afrique Francophone (Cote d'Ivoire, Haute - Volta, Sénégal)' in International Review of Education, 19 (1), 30-44.
HALL, Eve (1988)	Vocational Training for Women Refugees in Africa: Guidelines from Selected Field Projects, ILO, Geneva.
HALLAM, S (1994)	Crimes without punishment: sexual harassment and violence against female students in schools and universities in Africa, Discussion Paper No. 4, Africa Rights, London.
HARTNETT, Teresa (1993)	Statistical Indicators of Female Participation in Education in Sub- Saharan Africa, Human Resources Division, World Bank, Washington D.C.
HYDE, Karin A. L. (1989)	Improving Women's Education in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Review of the Literature, PHREE Background Paper Series, Document No. PHREE/89/15, Education and Employment Division, World Bank.
KERENGE, Apollonia (1992)	Women in Development: Training Experiences in Sub-Saharan Africa, Pan African Institute of Development, Douala.
MACHILA, Margaret (1989)	'Women, Peace and Development in Southern Africa' in <b>Convergence</b> 22 (1), 75-81.

ODAGA, Adhiambo & HENEVELD, Ward (1995)	Girls and Schools in Sub- Saharan Africa: From Analysis to Action, World Bank, African Technical Department Series, World Bank, Washington D. C.
ROUSSEAU, I. F. (1975)	'African women: Identity crisis? Some Observations on Education and the Changing Role of Women in Sierra Leone and Zaire' in ROHRICH- LEAVITT, R. (ed.) Women Cross- Culturally: Challenge and Change, Mouton Publishers, Hague.
UNESCO (1995)	Educating girls and women in Africa, UNESCO, Paris.

[Previous Page] [Top of Page] [Next Page]

Education research gender, education and development - A partially annotated and selective bibliography - Education Research Paper No. 19, 1997, 250 p.

[Previous Page] [Table of Contents] [Next Page]

### **Individual countries**

Angola

Benin

Botswana

Burkina Faso

Cameroon

Chad

Congo

Eritrea

Ethiopia

Gambia

Ghana

Guinea

Guinea Bissau

**Ivory Coast** 

Kenya

Lesotho

Liberia

Madagascar

Malawi

Mali

Mauritania

 $\underline{Mozambique}$ 

Namibia

Niger

**Nigeria** 

Rwanda

Senegal

Sierra Leone

**Somalia** 

South Africa

Sudan

Swaziland

**Tanzania** 

Togo

<u>Uganda</u>

Zaire

Zambia

**Zimbabwe** 

### **Angola**

Gender		
	Angolan women Building the Future, From	
	National Liberation to Women's Emancipation,	
	Organization of Angolan Women, Zed Books,	
	London.	

### **Benin**

Gender and Education	
AKAPA, Odile & GABA, Lea (1991)	Les Aspects Socio-Culturels de la Fréquentation Scolaire des Filles au Niveau Primaire au Bénin, Cotonou, Centre Béninois de la Recherche Scientifique et Technique, UNESCO, Paris.
CENTRE BENINOIS DE LA RECHERCHE SCIENTIFIQUE ET TECHNIQUE (1988)	Étude des Principales Causes de la Déperdition Scolaire Chez les jeunes Filles dans la Province du Mono, Cotonou, CBRST, UNESCO, Paris.
COMMISSION NATIONALE BENINOISE POUR I'UNESCO (1979)	Étude sur la Déperdition d'Effectifs Scolaires Chez les Jeunes Filles en République Populaire du Bénin, Cotonou, CBN Pour UNESCO, Paris.

#### **Botswana**

Gender	
BROWN, B. B. (1983)	'The Impact of Male Labour Migration on Women in Botswana' in <b>African Affairs</b> , 82 (328), 367-388.
BUSANG, Condrill M. (1986)	Report on the Socio-Economic Activities of Women in the North-Eastern District Squatter Areas, Ministry of Local Government and Lands, Gaborone, Botswana.
DRIEL, Francien Th. M. Van (1994)	Poor and Powerful, Female Headed Households and Unmarried Motherhood in Botswana, Nijmegen Studies in Development and Cultural Change 16, NICCOS, Nijmegen.
ENGE, Marianne (1985)	Women in Botswana, Dependent Yet Independent, SIDA, Stockholm.
ERICKSON, Christine (1993)	Women in Botswana, An Annotated Bibliography, Women and Law in Southern Africa Trust, Gaborone.
GEISLER, G. (1995)	Troubled Sisterhood: Women and Politics in Southern Africa - Case Studies from Zambia, Zimbabwe and Botswana' in <b>African Affairs</b> , 94 (377), 545-578.
GLICKMAN, M. (1988)	Thoughts on Certain Relationships between Gender, Kinship and Development among the Tswana of Botswana' in <b>African Studies</b> , 47 (2), 81-87.
KOSSOUDJI, S. & MUELLER, E. (1983)	The Economic and Demographic Status of Female Headed Households in Rural Botswana' in <b>Economic Development and Cultural Change,</b> 31 (4), 831-859.
LEE, Richard B. (1979)	The Kung San Men, Women and Work in a Foraging Society, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
PETERS, P. (1983)	'Gender Developmental Cycles and Historical Process - A Critique of Recent Research on Women in Botswana' in <b>Journal of Southern African Studies,</b> 10 (1), 100-122.

Gender and Education	
CHEYO, Evelyn M. (1993)	Girls' Access, Performance and Achievement in Secondary Education: A Comparative Study of Tanzania, Kenya and Botswana, M.A.  Dissertation, Institute of Education, University of London.
DUNCAN, Wendy A. (1988)	School Drop-outs in Botswana: Gender Differences at Secondary Level, Institute of International Education, University of Stockholm.
DUNCAN, Wendy A. (1989)	Engendering School Learning, Science, Attitudes and Achievement among Girls and Boys in Botswana, Studies in Comparative and International Education, 16, University of Stockholm.
FULLER, Bruce (et al.) (1994)	'When Girls Learn more than Boys: The Influence of Time in School and Pedagogy in Botswana' in <b>Comparative Education Review</b> , 38 (3), 347-76.
HIGGINS, K.M. (1981)	Women Farmers and their Training: An Evaluation of a Programme of Non-formal Education Provided by the Ministry of Agriculture, Botswana.
MAROPE, P. T. M. & NJABILI, A.F. (1993)	Gender Bias in Educational Materials: Proceedings of a Workshop, University of Botswana, Gaborone.
MINISTRY OF EDUCATION, BOTSWANA (1991)	Girls and Women in Science: Science and Technology Roadshow, Gaborone.
NYATI-RAMAHOBO, Lydia (1992)	The Girl Child in Botswana: Educational Constraints and Prospects, UNICEF, Gaborone.
TSAYANG, G.T. (1989)	Gender and Education: Proceedings of a Workshop, University of Botswana, Gaborone.

### **Burkina Faso**

Gender		
GIANOTTEN, Vera (et al.) (1994)	Assessing the Gender Impact of Development Projects: Case Studies from Bolivia, Burkina Faso and India, Intermediate Technology, London.	
HADDAD, L. & REARDON, T. (1993)	'Gender Bias in the Allocation of Resources Within Households in Burkina Faso - A Disaggregated Outlay Equivalent Analysis' in <b>Journal of</b> <b>Development Studies</b> , 29 (2), 260-276.	
MINISTERE DU PLAN ET LA COOPERATION, Burkina Faso (1984)	Quelques Aspects de la Fécondité des Femmes Voltaïques, République de Haute- Volta, Ministère du Plan et de la Coopération, Direction de la Recherche Démographique, Ouagadougou, INSD.	
UNICEF (1994)	Analyse de la Situation des Femmes et des Enfants au Burkina Faso, UNICEF.	

Gender and Education		
RAM, R. & SINGH, R. D.(1988)	'Farm Households in Rural Burkina Faso-Some Evidence on Allocative and Direct Return to Schooling and Male -Female Productivity Differentials' in <b>World Development</b> , 16 (3), 419- 424.	
SOME, T.J.B. (1994)	'Sociocultural Aspects of School Attendance by girls at the Primary Level in Burkina Faso' in <b>Canadian Journal of African Studies,</b> 28 (2), 276-289.	

#### Cameroon

Gender			

AZEVEDO, Mario J. & PRATER, Gwendolyn Spencer (1986)	'The Changing Status of Women in Cameroon: An Overview' in <b>Western Journal of Black</b> <b>Studies,</b> 10 (4), 195-204.
BRYSON, Judy C. (1979)	Women and Economic Development in Cameroon, Agency for International Development, Washington D. C.
KOLOKO, Marie-Yvette (1990)	La Décennie des Nations Unies Pour la Femme et la Condition de la Femme Camerounaise: Aspects Politique, Économique et Sociale, Thèse de Doctorat de 3e Cycle en Relations Internationales, Université de Yaoundé.
KOSACK, G. (1995)	Christianization - A Step towards Emancipation: The Significance of Religion for Mafa Women (Northern Cameroon)' in <b>Anthropos,</b> 90 (1-3), 206-217.
MOPE SIMO, J.A. (1991)	Gender, Agro-Pastoral Production and Class formation in Bamunka, North-Western Cameroon, Unpublished Ph.D. Thesis, University of East Anglia, United Kingdom.
NDONGKO, Theresa (1976)	'Tradition and the Role of Women in Africa' in <b>Présence Africaine</b> , 99-100,143-154.
NGWAFOR, E. (1991)	'Cameroon - Property Rights for Women- A Bold Step in the Wrong Direction' in <b>Journal</b> <b>of Family Law,</b> 29 (2), 297-302.
OFUNC (1982)	Intégration de la Femme Camerounaise Dans le Processus de Développement Économique, OFUNC, Yaoundé.
SANTEN, Jose C. M. V. (1993)	They Leave their Jars Behind, the Conversion of Mafa Women to Islam (Northern Cameroon), Centrum Voor en Autonomie, Leiden.
STERNER, J. & DAVID, N. (1991)	'Gender and Caste in the Mandara Highlands - Northeastern Nigeria and Northern Cameroon' in <b>Ethnology</b> , 30 (4), 355-369.

-1

Gender and Education	

AMIN, Martin E. (1994)	'Gender as a Discriminating Factor in the Evaluation of Teaching' in <b>Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education</b> , 19 (2), 135-43- (This study was carried out in the University of Yaoundé, Cameroon).
CAMMISH N. & BROCK, C. (1994)	'State, Status and Status Quo: Factors Affecting the Education of Girls in Cameroon' in <b>International Journal of</b> <b>Educational Development,</b> 14 (3), 233- 240.
OWONO, Rigobert Mbala (1986)	L'école Coloniale au Cameroun - Approche Historico-Sociologique, Imprimerie Nationale, Yaoundé, 64-66, 85-88.
OWONO, Rigobert Mbala (1990)	Éducation Traditionnelle et Développement Endogène en Afrique Centrale, Éditions CEPER, Yaoundé, Chapters 2&3.
WOODHOUSE, H. & NDONGKO, T.M. (1993)	'Women and Science Education in Cameroon: Some Reflections' in Interchange, 24 (1-2), 131-158.

### Chad

Gender	
CLOUTIER, Luce & SY, Achta Djibrinne (1993)	N'djamenoises du Secteur Informel, CEFOD, N'djamena.
SY, Achta Djibrinne & CARLIER, Marielle, 2nd Edition, (1992)	Fonds de Documentation sur les Femmes au Tchad, Répertoire, N'Djamena, CEFOD.

# Congo

Gender	
	Försörjerskan Kvinna i Kongo, (av), Uppsala, Nordiska, Afrikainstitute.
J.	

NGOLE, J.P. (1986)	'Social Relations and Group Identity among Women Fish
	Sellers in the Congo' in Women's Studies International,
	9 (3), 287-293.

### **Eritrea**

Gender	
SILKIN, T. (1983)	'Women in Struggle - Eritrea' in <b>Third World Quarterly,</b> 5 (4), 909-913.
SILKIN, T. (1989)	'Women Can Only be Free When the Power of Kin Groups is Smashed- New Marriage Laws and Social Change in the Liberated Zones of Eritrea' in <b>International Journal of the Sociology of Law</b> , 17(2), 147-163.
WILSON, Amrit (1991)	The Challenge Road, Women and the Eritrean Revolution, Earthscan, London.

# **Ethiopia**

Gender	
BJEREN, Gunilla (1986)	Migration to Shashemene: Ethnicity, Gender and Occupation in Urban Ethiopia, Uppsala, Scandinavian Institute of African Studies.
DIRASSE, Laketch (1992)	Commoditization of Female Sexuality: Prostitution and Socio-economic Relations in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, AMS Publishers.
HAMER, J. & HAMER, I. (1994)	'The Impact of Cash Economy on Complementary Gender Relations among the Sadama of Ethiopia' in <b>Anthropological Quarterly</b> , 67 (4), 187-202.
MOUSSA, Helena (1993)	Storm and Sanctuary, the Journey of Ethiopian and Eritrean Women Refugees, Ont. Artemis Enterprises, Dundas.
PANKHURST, Helen (1992)	Gender, Development and Identity, An Ethiopian Study, Zed Books, London.
UN Children's Fund (1980)	Children and Women in Ethiopia: A Situation Analysis, UNICEF.

Gender and Education	
	'What Factors Shape Girls' School Performance? Evidence from Ethiopia' in <b>International Journal of Education,</b> 11 (2), 107-118.
NEGUSSIE, Birgit (1988)	'Culture, Gender and Education in Rural Development with Special Emphasis on Ethiopia' (Conference Paper, June 16-18, 1988) Nordic Association, Oslo, Norway.

### **Gambia**

Gender	
WAGNER, Ulla (1982)	Catching the Tourist, Women Handicraft Traders in the Gambia, Stockholm Studies in Social Anthropology, 10, University of Stockholm, Stockholm.
CARNEY, J.A. (1992)	'Peasant Women and Economic Transformation in the Gambia' in <b>Development and Change,</b> 23 (2), 67-90.
UNICEF (1993)	The children and Women of the Gambia: An Analysis of their Situation, UNICEF, Banjul, The Republic of Gambia.

Gender and Education	
M. (1993)	Bitter seeds: girls' participation in primary education in the Gambia, World Bank, Washington, D.C.

### Ghana

Gender	
BRYDON, L. (1987)	'Women in the Family- Cultural Change in Avatime, Ghana 1900- 1980' in <b>Development and Change</b> , 18 (2), 251-269.
BUKH, Jette (1979)	The Village Woman in Ghana, Scandinavian Institute of African Studies, Uppsala.

CLARK, K, Gracia (1994)	Onions are My Husband: Survival and Accumulation by West Africa Market Women, Chicago University Press, Chicago.
EWUSI, Kodwo (1987)	Urbanization, Modernization and Employment of Women in Ghana, Adwinsa Publications, Ghana.
HADDAD, L. (1991)	'Gender and Poverty in Ghana- A Descriptive Analysis of Selected Outcomes and Processes' in IDS Bulletin-Institute of Development Studies, 22 (1), 5-16.
LLOYD, C. B.& GAGEBRANDON, A. J.(1993)	'Women's Role in Maintaining Households- Family Welfare and Sexual Inequality in Ghana' in <b>Population Studies</b> , 47 (1), 115-131.
MICKELWAIT, Donald R. (et al.) (1976)	Women in Rural Development: A Survey of the roles of Women in Ghana, Lesotho, Kenya, Nigeria, Bolivia, Paraguay and Peru, Westview Press, Boulder Colo.
MIKELL, G. (1984)	'Filiation, Economic Crisis and the Status of Women in Rural Ghana' in Canadian Journal of African Studies, 18 (1), 195-218.
OWARE KNUDSEN, Christiana (1994)	The Falling Dawadawa Tree, Female Circumcision in Developing Ghana, Intervention Press, Højberg.
PELLOW, D. (1987)	Solidarity among Muslim women in Accra, Ghana' in <b>Anthropos</b> , 82 (4-6), 489-506.
SCHANDORF, Elizabeth Ardayfio & AKOTO, Kate Kwafa (eds.)(1990)	Women in Ghana: An Annotated Bibliography, Woeli Publishing Services, Ghana.

STEEL, W.F.(1981)	'Female and Small Scale Employment Under Modernization in Ghana' in <b>Economic Development</b> and Cultural Change, 30 (1), 153- 167.
ROBERTSON, Claire C., (1984)	Sharing the Same Bowl, a Socio- economic History of Women and Class in Accra, Ghana, Indiana University Press, Bloomington.
UNICEF, (1990)	Children and Women of Ghana: A Situation Analysis, Republic of Ghana and United Nations Children's Fund, Accra.

Gender and Education	
KAMARA, Siapha & DENKABE, Aloysius (1993)	Handbook on Participatory Approach to Training Vol. 2: Gender in Development, Freedom Publications, Ghana.
KANE, Eileen (1991)	Caught Between Two Stools: Women in Vocational Education and Training in Ghana, Discussion Paper, ILO, Geneva.
PARKER JENKINS, Marie & GRIFFITHS, Morwenna (1994)	'Methodological and Ethical Dilemmas in International Research: School Attendance and Gender in Ghana' in <b>Oxford Review of Education</b> , 20 (4), 441-459.
OPPONG, Christine (1987)	Seven Roles of Women: Impact of Education, Migration and Employment on Ghanaian Mothers, ILO, Geneva.
PEART, Edwina (1995)	The Planning and Implementation of the Functional Literacy Programme in Ghana: With Reference to Its Capacity to Address Gender Inequality in Education, M.A. Dissertation, Institute of Education, University of London.
ROBERTSON, Claire C. (1984)	'Formal or Non- Formal Education? Entrepreneurial Women in Ghana' in Comparative Education Review, 28 (4), 639-58.

#### Guinea

Gender and Education	
ANDERSON-LEVITT, K.(et al) (1994)	Inside classrooms in Guinea: girls'
	experiences, World Bank, Washington, D.C.

#### **Guinea Bissau**

Gender	
URDANGA, Stephanie (1979)	Fighting Two Colonialisms, Women in Guinea-
	Bissau, Monthly Review Press, New York.

### **Ivory Coast**

Gender	
	'Cousin Marriage, Birth Order and Gender- Alliance Models among the Being of Ivory Coast' in <b>Man</b> , 21 (4), 697-722.
KOUADIO, Akissi (1983)	Un Impossible Amour, Une Ivoirienne Raconte, INADES, Abidjan.

Gender and Education	
APPLETON, Simon (et al.) (1990)	'Gender, Education and Employment in Cote d'Ivoire, Social Dimensions Adjustment in Sub-Saharan Africa', Working Paper 8, Policy Analysis, World Bank, Washington D.C.
GRISAY, A. (1984)	'Analysis of Unequal Gender Related Results in Students in Primary Schools in the Ivory Coast' in International Review of Education, 30 (1), 25- 39.
VIJVERBERG, Wim P.M. (1993)	'Educational Investments and Returns for Women and Men in Cote d'Ivoire' in Journal of Human Resources, 28 (4), 933-74.

# Kenya

Gender	
AHLBERG, Beth Maina (1988)	Women, Sexuality and the Changing Social Order, the Impact of Government Policies on Reproductive Behaviour in Kenya Gordon and Breach, Philadelphia.
BROWN, Katrina (1990)	Women's Farming Groups in a Semi- Arid Region of Kenya: A Case Study of Tharaka Division, Meru, Unpublished Ph.D. Thesis, University of Nottingham, United Kingdom.
BÜLLOW, Dorthe Von & SØRENSEN, Anne (1988)	Gender Dynamics in Contract Farming, Women's Role in Smallholder Tea Production in Kericho District, Kenya, Centre for Development Research, Copenhagen.
CUBBINS, Lisa A.(1991)	'Women, Men and the Division of Power: A Study of Gender Stratification in Kenya' in <b>Social</b> <b>Forces,</b> 69 (4), 1063-83.
DAVISON, Jean (1989)	Voices from Mutira, Lives of the Rural Gikuyu Women, Reinner, Boulder.
DOW, Thomas E & WERNER, Linda H. (1981)	A Note on Modern, Transitional and Traditional Demographic and Contraception Patterns among Kenyan Women 1977-1978, Population Studies and Research Institute, University of Nairobi.
FATTON, Cynthia Hoehler (1996)	Women of Fire and Spirit: Faith, History and Gender in Roho Religion in Western Kenya, Oxford University Press.

FRANCIS, E. (1995)	'Migration and Changing divisions of Labour - Gender Relations and Economic Change in Koguta, Western Kenya' in <b>Africa</b> , 65 (2), 197-216.
FRIEDMAN, A. & TODD, J. (1994)	'Kenyan Women Tell a Story- Interpersonal Power of Women in 3 subcultures in Kenya' in <b>Sex Roles</b> , 31 (9-10), 533-546.
FUGLESANG, Minou (1994)	Veils and Videos, Female Youth Culture on the Kenyan Coast, Stockholm Studies in Social Anthropology, 32, Stockholm.
GORDON, A. (1995)	'Gender, Ethnicity and Class in Kenya- Burying Otieno Revisited' in <b>Signs,</b> 20 (2), 883-912.
HAKANSSON, Thomas (1988)	Bridewealth, Women and Land: Social Change among the Gusii of Kenya, Acta Universitatis Upsaliensis.
HAKANSSON, N. T. (1994)	'The Detachability of Women - Gender and Kinship in Processes of Socio-economic Change among the Gusii of Kenya' in <b>American</b> <b>Ethnologist</b> , 21 (3), 516-538.
KARANI, F. A. (et al.) (1987)	'The Situation and Roles of Women in Kenya- An Overview in <b>Journal of Negro Education</b> , 56 (3), 422-470.
KITEME, K. (1992)	The Socio-economic Impact of the African Market Women Trade in Rural Kenya' in <b>Journal of Black Studies</b> , 23 (1), 135-151.
LEVINE, Sarah (1979)	Mothers and Wives, Gusii Women of East Africa, University of Chicago, Chicago.
LIKIMANI, Muthoni (1985)	Passbook Number F47927, Women and Mau-Mau in Kenya, Macmillan Publishers, Basingstoke.

MACKENZIE, F.(1990)	'Gender and Land Rights in Murang'a District, Kenya' in <b>Journal of Peasant Studies,</b> 17 (4), 609-643.
MACKENZIE, F.(1995)	'A Farm is Like a Child Who Cannot be Left Unguarded -Gender, Land and Labour in Central Province, Kenya' in <b>IDS Bulletin - Institute of Development Studies,</b> 26 (1), 17-23.
MICKELWAIT, Donald R. (et al.) (1976)	Women in Rural Development: A Survey of the Roles of Women in Ghana, Lesotho, Kenya, Nigeria, Bolivia, Paraguay and Peru, Westview Press, Boulder Colo.
MIDAMBA, Bessie House (1990)	Class Development and Gender Inequality in Kenya, 1963-90, E. Mellen, Lewiston, Canada.
MIRZA, Sarah M. & STROBEL, Margaret (eds.) (1989)	Three Swahili Women: Life Histories from Mombasa, Kenya, Indiana University Press.
MOORE, Henrietta L. (1985)	Space, Text and Gender: Anthropological Study of Marakwet of Kenya, Cambridge University Press.
NJAU, Rebeka & MULAKI, Gideon (1992)	Kenyan Women Heroes and the Mystical Power, Risk Publications, Nairobi.
NZOMO, M. (1993)	'The Gender Dimension in Democratization in Kenya- some International Linkages' in Alternatives- Social Transformation and Humane Governance, 18 (1), 61-73.
OBOLER, Regina Smith (1985)	Women, Power and Economic Change, the Nandi of Kenya, Stanford University Press, Stanford.

PALA, Achola (et al.) (eds.) (1983)	The Participation of Women in Kenyan Society, Kenya Literature Bureau, Nairobi.
PRESLEY, Cora Ann (1992)	Kikuyu Women, the 'Mau-Mau' Rebellion and Social Change in Kenya, Westview Press, Oxford.
ROMERO, P.W. (1987)	'Possible sources of the Origin of Gold as an Economic and Social Vehicle for Women in Lamu (Kenya)' in <b>Africa</b> , 57 (3), 364-376.
SLAYTER, Barbara P. Thomas & ROCHELEAU, Dianne (1995)	Gender, Environment and Development in Kenya: A Grassroots Perspective, Rienner.
STAMP, P. (1991)	'Burying Otieno - The Politics of Gender and Ethnicity in Kenya' in <b>Signs,</b> 16 (4), 808-845.
STROBEL, Margaret (1979)	Muslim Women in Mombasa, 1890 1975, Yale University Press, New Haven.
THOMASSLAYTER, B. P. (1992)	'Politics, Class and Gender in African Resource Management- The Case of Rural Kenya' in <b>Economic</b> <b>Development and Cultural</b> <b>Change,</b> 40 (4), 809-828.
WORLD BANK (1989)	Kenya: The Role of Women in Economic Development, World Bank, Washington D.C.

Gender and Education	
CHEYO, Evelyn M. (1993)	Girls' Access, Performance and Achievement in Secondary Education: A Comparative Study of Tanzania, Kenya and Botswana, M.A. Dissertation, Institute of Education, University of London.
DAVISON, J. (1993)	'School Attainment and Gender: Attitudes of Kenyan and Malawian Parents Towards Educating Girls' in International Journal of Educational Development, 13 (4), 331-338.

ESHIWANI, G. S. (1985)	The Education of Women in Kenya, 1975-1984, Bureau of Educational Research, Kenyatta University, Nairobi.
HUGHES, Rees & MWIRIA, Kilemi (1989)	'Kenyan Women, Higher Education and the Labour Market' in <b>Comparative Education</b> , 25 (2), 179-95.
MWIRIA, Kilemi (1993)	'Kenyan Women Adult Literacy Learners: Why their Motivation is Difficult to Sustain' in <b>International Review of Education,</b> 39 (3), 183-92.
TSUMA, Orren G. K. (1989)	'A Study of Career Preferences of Primary School Girls in Kenya' in <b>Kenya Journal of</b> <b>Education</b> , 4 (2), 126-52.

### Lesotho

Gender	
BAYLIES, C. & WRIGHT, C. (1993)	'Female Labour in the Clothing and Textile Industry of Lesotho' in <b>African Affairs</b> , 92 (369), 577-591.
GORDON, E.(1981)	'An Analysis of the Impact of Labour Migration on the Lives of Women in Lesotho' in <b>Journal of Development Studies</b> , 17 (3), 59-76.
GORDON, E.B.(1994)	'The Plight of Women in Lesotho - Reconsideration with the Decline of Apartheid, in <b>Journal of Black Studies</b> , 24 (4), 435-446.
HARRIS, Betty J.(1990)	'Ethnicity and Gender in the Global Periphery: A Comparison of Basotho and Navajo Women' in <b>American -Indian</b> <b>Culture and Research Journal</b> , 14 (4), 15-38.
MALAHLEHA, Gwen (1984)	Contradictions and Ironies, Women of Lesotho, Change International Reports, London.

MICKELWAIT, Donald R. (et al.) (1976)	Women in rural Development: A Survey of the roles of Women in Ghana, Lesotho, Kenya, Nigeria, Bolivia, Paraguay and Peru, Westview Press, Boulder Colo.
MOTEBANG, Maria Seithati (1992)	Women and Development Planning in Lesotho, D. Phil. Thesis, University of York, United Kingdom.
SEEISO, Seitebatso (1986)	Legal Constraints on Women in Development in Lesotho, Institute of Labour Studies, National University of Lesotho, Lesotho.
WILKINSON, R, C.(1983)	'Migration in Lesotho- Some Comparative Aspects with Particular Reference to the Role of Women' in <b>Geography</b> , 68 (300), 208-224.

Gender and Education	
ARDAKANI, F. (1991)	Education, Women and Development with Special Reference to Lesotho and Zambia,
	University of Alberta, Canada.
MAKARA, Matora T. M. (1982)	Education, Women and Management
	<b>Opportunities: A Lesotho Case Study,</b> M. Ed. Thesis, University of Hull, United Kingdom.

### Liberia

Gender		
HENRIES, A. Doris Banks (1973)	Women and Girls in Higher Education in Liberia, Bedford, New York.	
THEODER OF THE MANAGEMENT		
JACOBS, Sylvia M. (1986)	'Say Africa When You Pray: The Activities of Early Black Baptist Women Missionaries Among	
	Liberian Women and Children' in <b>Sage</b> , 3 (2), 16-	
	21.	

LACEY, L. & SINAI, I. (1996)	'Do Female Headed Households have Different
	Shelter Needs than Men- The Case of Monrovia,
	Liberia' in <b>Journal of Comparative Family</b>
	<b>Studies,</b> 27 (1), 89-108.
MORAN, M. H. (1988)	'Women and Civilisation - The Intersection of
	Gender and Prestige in Southeastern Liberia' in
	Canadian Journal of African Studies, 22 (3),
	491-501.
MORAN, Mary H. (1990)	Civilised Women: Gender and Prestige in
	Southern Liberia, Cornell University Press.

# Madagascar

Gender	
MISSION DE COOPERATION ET D'ACTION CULTURELLE A MADAGASCAR (1993)	Femmes Malgaches et Développement: Pour une Société Plus Viable, Cabinet Ramaholimihaso, Antananarivo.
HUNTINGTON, Richard (1987)	Gender and Social Structure in Madagascar: African Systems of Thought, Indiana University Press.
JAROSZ, L. (1991)	'Women as Rice Sharecroppers in Madagascar' in <b>Society and Natural Resources</b> , 4 (1), 53-63.
RAVOLOLOMANGA, Bodo (1992)	Etre Femme et Mère à Madagascar (Tañata d'Infanadiana), L'Harmattan, Paris.

### Malawi

Gender	
DAVISON, J. (1993)	Tenacious Women - Clinging to Banja Household Production in the Face of Changing Gender Relations in Malawi' in <b>Journal of Southern African Studies,</b> 19 (3), 405-421.

KALIPENI, E. & ZULU, E.M. (1993)	'Gender Differences in Knowledge and Attitudes Toward Modem and Traditional Methods of Child Spacing in Malawi' in <b>Population Research and Policy Review,</b> 12 (2), 103-121.
HIRSCHMANN, D (1995)	'Managing Equity and Gender in an Agricultural Program in Malawi' in <b>Public Administration and Development,</b> 15 (1), 21-40.
SPRING, Anita (1986)	Agricultural Development in Malawi: Project for Women in Development, Westview Press.
SPRING, Anita (1995)	Agricultural Development and Gender Issues in Malawi, University Press of America, London.
VAUGHAN, Megan (1987)	Story of African Famine: Gender and Famine in Twentieth Century Malawi, Cambridge University Press.
WILSON, Monica (1977)	For Men and Elders, Change in the Relations of Generations and of Men and Women among the Nyakyusa People, 1875-1971, International African Institute, London.

Gender and Education	
DAVISON, Jean & KANYUKA, Martin (1992)	'Girls' Participation in Basic Education in Southern Malawi' in <b>Comparative Education Review</b> , 36 (4), 446-466.
DAVISON, J. (1993)	'School Attainment and Gender: Attitudes of Kenyan and Malawian Parents Towards Educating Girls' in <b>International Journal of</b> <b>Educational Development</b> , 13 (4), 331-338.
KAPASKA, A (1992)	Malawi: determinants of girls' participation and persistence in school, World Bank, Washington, D.C.
LAMBA, Isaac C.(1982)	'Women's Education in Malawi, 1875-1952' in <b>Journal of Educational Administration History</b> , 14 (1), 46-54.

SWAINSON, Nicola (1995)	Redressing Gender Inequalities in
	<b>Education: A Review of Constraints and</b>
	Priorities in Malawi, Zambia and
	Zimbabwe, (Commissioned by the British
	Development Division in Central Africa of
	the ODA).

### Mali

Gender	
BRETT-SMITH, Sarah C. (1994)	The Making of the Bamana Sculpture, Creativity and Gender, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
HARTSBROEKHUIS, EJA & VERKOREN, O.(1987)	'Gender Differentiation among Market Traders in Mali' in <b>Tijdschrift Voor Economische</b> <b>en Sociale Geografie,</b> 78 (3), 214-221.
DIARRA, Abdramane (1991)	Politsche Sozialisation und Rolle der Frau in Mali, Rader, Aachen.
RONDEAU, Chantal (1995)	Les Paysans du Mali, Espaces de Liberté et Changements, Rarthala, Paris.
TOULMIN, Camilla (1992)	Cattle, Women and Wells, Managing Household Survival in the Sahel, Clarendon Press, Oxford.
TURRITTIN, J. (1988)	'Men, Women and Market Trade in Rural Mali, West Africa' in Canadian Journal of African Studies, 22 (3), 583-604.

Gender and Education	
] ' ' '	Factors that affect girls' access to school and retention in Mali, Academy for Educational Development, Washington D.C.

### Mauritania

Gender	
ABEILLE, Barbara (1979)	A Study of Female Life in Mauritania, Agency for
	International Development (IDCA) Washington D.C.
SMALE, Melinda (1980)	Women in Mauritania: The Effects of Drought and
	Migration on their Economic Status and Implications
	for Development Programs, Agency for International
	Development (IDCA) Washington D.C.

# Mozambique

Gender	
KRUKS, S. & WISNER, B.(1984)	'The State, the Party and the Female Peasantry in Mozambique' in <b>Journal of Southern African Studies,</b> 11 (1), 106-127.
MANCEAUX, Michele (1975)	<b>Les Femmes du Mozambique,</b> Mercure de France, Paris.
SHELDON, K. (1991)	'Sewing Clothes and Sorting Cashew Nuts - Factories, Families and Women in Beira, Mozambique' in <b>Women's Studies International</b> <b>Forum</b> , 14 (1-2), 27-35.
URDANG, Stephanie (1989)	And They Still Dance, Women, War and the Struggle for Change in Mozambique, Earthscan, London.

#### **Namibia**

Gender		
Its Like Holding the Key to Your Own Jail, Women in Namibia, World Council of Churches.		

HISHONGWA, Ndeutala Selma (1983)	Women in Namibia, the Changing Role of Namibian Women from Traditional Precolonial Times to the Present, OCH BYGD, Stockholm.
LINDEKE, W. A. and WANZALA, W. (1994)	'Regional Elections in Namibia - Deepening Democracy and Gender Inclusion' in <b>Africa Today</b> , 41 (3), 5- 14.
REPUBLIC OF NAMIBIA (1995)	Women and Men in Namibia, Central Statistics Office, National Planning Commission, Windhoek.

# Niger

Gender	
AFRICAN TRAINING AND RESEARCH CENTRE FOR WOMEN (1985)	'Women and Mass Media in Africa: Case Studies of Sierra Leone, the Niger and Egypt' in <b>Journal of Eastern African</b> <b>Research and Development</b> , 15, 198-221.
HOPKINS, J. (et al.) (1994)	'Women's Income and Household Expenditure Patterns -Gender or flow- Evidence from Niger' in <b>American Journal</b> <b>of Agricultural Economics</b> , 76 (5), 1219- 1225.

Gender and Education	
WYND, Shona (1995)	Factors affecting Girls' Access to Schooling in Niger, Final
	Report to ODA Education Division, Overseas Development Administration, London, (mimeograph).

# Nigeria

Gender	
AKANDE, Jadesola 0. (1979)	Laws and Customs Affecting Women's Status in Nigeria, International Federation of Women Lawyers, Nigeria.

AMADIUME, Ifi (1987)	Male Daughters, Female Husbands, Gender and Sex in an African Society, Zed Books, London.
AWE, Bolanle (ed.) (1992)	Nigerian Women in Historical Perspective, Bookcraft, Nigeria.
AYOANDE, J.A.A. (et al.) (1992)	Women in Politics in Nigeria, Malthouse, Ikeya.
BABA OF KARO (SMITH, Mary F. trans.) (1981)	A Woman of the Muslim Hausa, Yale University Press.
BAPPA, S. (1985)	Women in Nigeria Today, Zed Books, London.
BARBER, Karin (1991)	I Could Speak Until Tomorrow, Oriki Women and the Past in a Yoruba Town, Edinburgh University Press, Edinburgh.
BELLONCLE, Guy (1980)	Femmes et Développement en Afrique Sahélienne, l'expérience Nigérienne d'Animation Féminine (1966-1976), Dakar, Nouvelles Editions Africaines, Les Editions Ouvrières, Paris.
CALLAWAY, Barbara (1985)	Women in Nigeria Today, Zed Books, London.
CALLAWAY, Barbara (1987)	Muslim Hausa Women in Nigeria: Tradition and Change, Syracuse University Press, Syracuse.
CALLAWAY, Barbara and CREEVEY, Lucy (1994)	The Heritage of Islam, Women, Religion and Politics in West Africa, Lynne Reinner, London.
CHINWEIZU (1990)	Anatomy of Female Power, a  Masculinist Dissection of Matriarchy, Pero, Lagos.
CHIZEA, Dora Obi & NJOKU, Juliet (eds.) (1991)	Nigerian Women and the Challenges of Our Time, Malthouse Publishers, Lagos.
COLES, Catherine & MACK, Beverley (1991)	Hausa Women in the Twentieth Century, University of Wisconsin Press, Madison.
ERINOSHO, Stella Yemisi (ed.) (1994)	Perspectives on Women in Science and Technology, Sam Bookman, Ibadan.

EZEILO, Bernice N. (1983)	'Sex and Rural - Urban Differences in Self Concepts among Nigerian Adolescents' in <b>Journal of Psychology,</b> 114 (1), 57-61.
EZUMAH, N. N. & DIDOMENICO, C. M.(1995)	'Enhancing the Role of Women in Crop Production- A Case Study of Igbo Women in Nigeria' in <b>World Development,</b> 23 (10), 1731-1744.
HOUSE-MIDAMBA, Bessie & EKECHI, Felix K. (eds.) (1995)	African Market Women and Economic Power, The Role of Women in African Economic Development, Greenwood Press, London.
IGOCHE, M. H. G.(1980)	'Integrating Conscientization into a Program for Illiterate Urban Women in Nigeria' in <b>Convergence</b> , 13 (1-2), 110- 117.
ITYAVYAR, D. A. & OBIAJUNWA, S. N. (1992)	The State and Women in Nigeria, Jos University Press, Jos.
MBA, Nina Emma (1982)	Nigerian Women, Mobilized Political Activity in Southern Nigeria, 1900- 1965, University of California, Berkeley.
MICKELWAIT, Donald R. (et al.) (1976)	Women in Rural Development: A Survey of the Roles of Women in Ghana, Lesotho, Kenya, Nigeria, Bolivia, Paraguay and Peru, Westview
	Press, Boulder Colo.
OKOJIE, C.E.E. (1984)	Press, Boulder Colo.  Female Migrants in the Urban Labour Market- Benin city, Nigeria' in Canadian Journal of African Studies, 18 (3), 547- 562.
OKOJIE, C.E.E. (1984)  OKONJO, Kamene (1976)	Female Migrants in the Urban Labour Market- Benin city, Nigeria' in Canadian Journal of African Studies, 18 (3), 547-

OYEFESO, A.O. & ZACHEAUS, A. (1990)	'Self Esteem as Determined by Gender Differences among Yoruba Adolescents in Ibadan, Nigeria- A Research Note' in Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines, 31 (3), 461-463.
PITTIN, Renee (1984)	'Documentation and Analysis of the Invisible Women: A Nigerian Case Study' in <b>International Labour Review,</b> 123 (4), 473-90.
PORTER, R. E. (1988)	'Perspectives on Trade, Mobility and Gender in a Rural Market System-Borno, Northeast Nigeria' in <b>Tijdschrift Voor</b> <b>Economische en Sociale Geographie</b> , 79 (2), 82-92.
SIMMONS, Emmy B. (1976)	Economic Research on Women in Rural Development in Northern Nigeria, American Council on Education, Washington D.C.
SPIRO, Heather M. (1981)	The Fifth World: Women's Rural Activities and Time Budgets in Nigeria, Queen Mary College, London.
STERNER, J. & DAVID, N. (1991)	'Gender and Caste in the Mandara Highlands - Northeastern Nigeria and Northern Cameroon' in <b>Ethnology</b> , 30 (4), 355-369.
STONE, M. P. (et al.) (1995)	The Sexual Division of Labour in Kofyar Agriculture' in <b>American Ethnologist</b> , 22 (1), 165-186.
UCHENDU, Patrick Kenechukwu (1993)	The Role of Nigerian Women in Politics: Past and Present, Fourth Dimension Publishing Co., Enugu, Nigeria.

Gender and Education	

ADEJUMOBI, S. A.(1976)	'An Investigation into the Subject Preference of Students in Western State of Nigerian Grammar Schools with Stress and Differentiated Interests between Boys and Girls' in <b>West African Journal of</b> <b>Education,</b> 20 (2), 257-266.
AKANDE, Bolanle E. (1987)	'Rural - Urban Comparison of Female Educational Aspirations in South Western Nigeria' in <b>Comparative Education</b> , 23 (1), 75-83.
AZINGE, Daphne Fae (1971)	The Education of Women and Girls in Northern Nigeria: A Survey, M. Ed Thesis, University of Hull, United Kingdom.
BIRAIMAH, Karen L. (1987)	'Class, Gender and Life Chances: A Nigerian University Case Study' in Comparative Education Review, 31 (4), 570-82.
BIRAIMAH, Karen (1994)	'Class, Gender and Societal Inequalities: A Study of Nigerian and Thai Undergraduate Students' in <b>Higher Education</b> , 27 (1), 41-58.
CSAPO, Marg (1981)	'Religious, Social and Economic Factors Hindering the Education of Girls in Northern Nigeria' in <b>Comparative</b> <b>Education</b> , 17 (3), 311-319.
ETIM, James S. (1988)	'Sex Role Portrayal in 15 YA Books Used in Nigerian Secondary Schools' in <b>Journal of Reading,</b> 31 (5), 452-57.
GLAZER, Daphne (1977)	'Problems of the Education of Girls in Nigeria' in <b>Aspects of Education</b> , 19, 33-42.
JEGEDE, Joseph 0. (1994)	'Influence of Motivation and Gender on Secondary Students' Academic Performance in Nigeria' in <b>Journal of</b> <b>Social Psychology</b> , 134 (5), 695-97.

LEE, Valerie E. & LOCKHEED, Marlaine E. (1990)	The Effects of Single Sex - Schooling on Achievement and Attitudes in Nigeria' in <b>Comparative Education Review,</b> 34 (2), 209-31.
MASHA, G.S. (1979)	Occupation Preferences, Cognitive and Affective Factors in Female Students in Nigeria: A Comparative Study, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Cardiff, Wales.
NILES, F. Sushila (1989)	'Parental Attitudes Toward Female Education in Northern Nigeria' in <b>Journal</b> of Social Psychology, 129 (1), 13-20.
NWAGWU, Cordelia (1994)	'Women in Nigeria's Teaching Profession: The Challenges Ahead' in <b>Vocational</b> <b>Aspects of Education,</b> 46 (2), 167-180.
OKOYE, M. (1986)	Secondary Education Opportunities of Girls in Anambra State in Nigeria, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Bristol, United Kingdom.
OSAKUE, Grace (et al.) (eds.) (1992)	Women and Education, Proceedings of the Third Annual Women in Nigeria Conference, Women in Nigeria, Zaria, Nigeria.
UCHENDU, Patrick Kenechukwu (1995)	Education and Changing Economic Role of Nigerian Women, Fourth Dimension Publishing Co., Nigeria.

### Rwanda

'Loose Women, Virtuous Women and Timid Virgins -Gender and the Control of Resources in Rwanda' in <b>Canadian Journal of African Studies,</b> 25 (3), 378-395.

RANDOLPH, S. & SANDERS, R.(1988)	'Constraints to Agricultural Development
	in Africa- A Survey of Female Farmers in
	the Ruhengeri Prefecture of Rwanda' in
	Studies in Comparative International
	<b>Development,</b> 23 (3), 78-98.

# Senegal

Gender	
CREEVEY, L.E. (1991)	The Impact of Islam on Women in Senegal' in <b>Journal of Developing Areas,</b> 25 (3), 347-368.
FASSIN, D. (1987)	'Village Rituals, Urban Rituals - social Reproduction of Joola Women of Senegal' in <b>Homme</b> , 27 (4), 54-75.
LAGOUTTE, C. (1988)	'Female Artisans of the Senegal River Region' in Canadian <b>Journal of African Studies</b> , 22 (3), 448-471.
LINARES, O.F.(1985)	'Cash Crops and Gender constructs- The Joola of Senegal' in <b>Ethnology</b> , 24 (2), 83-93.
MACKINTOSH, Maureen (1989)	Gender, Class and Rural Transition: Agribusiness and the Food Crisis in Senegal, Zed Books, London.

Gender and Education	
FOUGEYROLLAS, Pierre (1967)	Television and the Social Education of Women, A First Report on the Unesco-Senegal Pilot Study at Dakar, UNESCO, Paris.
RISS, Marie - Denise (1989)	Femmes Africaines en Milieu Rural, les Sénégalaises du Sine Saloum, L'Harmattan, Paris.
SOW, Fatou (1990)	La Décennie des Nations Unies Pour la Femme (1975-1985) au Sénégal, Bilan et Perspectives, Centre Djoliba, Bamako.

### Sierra Leone

Gender	
AFRICAN TRAINING AND RESEARCH CENTRE FOR WOMEN (1985)	'Women and Mass Media in Africa: Case Studies of Sierra Leone, the Niger and Egypt' in <b>Journal of</b> <b>Eastern African Research and</b> <b>Development,</b> 15, 198-221.
BEOKUBETTS, J. (1990)	'Agricultural Development in Sierra Leone - Implications for Rural Women in the Aftermath of the Women's Decade' in <b>Africa Today</b> , 37 (1), 19-35.
DAVIES, Clarice (et al.) (eds.) (1992)	Women of Sierra Leone, Traditional Voices, Women in Traditional Vocations: Talking with Mafila Thoronka, Mammy Fatu Tejan, Kamuyu Women, Bondo Elders of Port Loko, Isatu Cole and Boi Nancy Koroma, Partners in Adult Education Women's Commission, Sierra Leone.
INTERNATIONAL LABOUR ORGANIZATION (1986)	Women's Employment Patterns, Discrimination and Promotion of Equality in Africa: The Case of Sierra Leone, Jobs and Skills Programme for Africa, Addis Ababa.
LEACH, Mellisa (1994)	Rainforest Relations: Gender and Resource Use among the Mende of Gola, Sierra Leone, Edinburgh University Press, Edinburgh.
MAY-PARKER, Judith (1986)	Women's Employment Patterns, Discrimination and Promotion of Equality in Africa- The Case of Sierra Leone, ILO., Addis Ababa.
SPENCER, Dunstan S. C. (1976)	African Women in Agricultural Development, A Case Study of Sierra Leone, American Council on Education, Washington D.C.

#### **Gender and Education**

AMARA, J. M. (1987)	'Indigenous Technology of Sierra Leone and Science Education of Girls' in <b>International Journal of Science</b> <b>Education,</b> 9 (3), 317-324.
CANLKER, Gifty Shirley Yema (1989)	Training Young Women the Sherbro Way in the Bush School: An Education in Traditional Life (Research Studies by Adult Education Students 1988-1989) DVV, 43.
DAVIES, V., TOLLESON, N. &	Final Report on Access to School -
GITTENS-STRONGE, V. (n.d)	Primary and Secondary Data, 1977-78, Government of Sierra Leone/IDA Project, Credit 573/SL.
KETKAR, Suhas L. (1978)	'Female Education and Fertility: Some Evidence from Sierra Leone' in <b>Journal</b> <b>of Developing Areas,</b> 13, 23-33.
MAY-PARKER, J.(1977)	'A Study of Attitudes and Home Background Factors Associated with Wastage among Secondary School Girls in Sierra Leone' Unpublished Ph.D. Thesis, University of Glasgow, United Kingdom.
MAY-PARKER, Judith (n.d.)	Out of School Programs for Women in Sierra Leone, Freetown.
MAY-PARKER, Judith (1987)	Counselling to Prevent Pregnancy among School Girls, Report on a Project by Planned Parenthood Association of Sierra Leone, Freetown (Mimeograph).
ROUSSEAU, I. F. (1975)	'African Women: Identity Crisis? Some Observations on Education and the Changing Role of Women in Sierra Leone and Zaire' in ROHRICH- LEAVITT, R. (ed.) Women Cross- Culturally: Challenge and Change, Mouton Publishers, Hague.
SIERRA LEONE NATIONAL COMMISSION FOR UNESCO (1974)	Education, Training and Employment Opportunities for Women in Sierra

SINCLAIR, J.S.(1976)	'Education and the Changing Social
	Structure in Sierra Leone, Unpublished
	Ph.D. Thesis, University of Edinburgh,
	United Kingdom.

### **Somalia**

Gender	
AMAN (1994)	The Story of a Somali Girl (as Told to Virginia Lee Barnes and Janice Boddy), Bloomsbury, London.
GALLO, P.G. & VIVIANI, F. (1988)	'Female Circumcision in Somalia' in <b>Mankind Quarterly</b> , 29 (1-2), 165-180.

### **South Africa**

Gender	
AHWIRENGOBENG, F. (1993)	'Gender, Entrepreneurship and Socioeconomic Reparation in South Africa' in <b>Review of Black Political Economy</b> , 22 (2), 152-165.
ALBERT, Alexa A. & PORTER, Judith R. (1986)	'Children's Gender Role Stereotypes - A Comparison of the United States and South Africa' in <b>Journal of Crosscultural Psychology</b> , 17 (1), 45-65.
BERGER, Iris (1992)	Threads of Solidarity, Women in South African Industry, 1900-1980, Indiana University Press, Bloomington.
COCK, J. (1987)	'Trapped Workers - Constraints and Contradictions Experienced by Black Women in contemporary South Africa' in <b>Women's Studies</b> <b>International Forum,</b> 10 (2), 133- 140.

KADALIE, R. (1995)	'The Constitutional Equality - The Implications for Women in South Africa' in <b>Social Politics</b> , 2 (2), 208-224.
KAGANAS, F. & MURRAY, C. (1994)	The Contest Between Culture and Gender Equality under South Africa Interim constitution' in <b>Journal of Law and Society</b> , 21 (4), 409-433.
LAWSON, Lesley (1986)	Working Women in South Africa, Pluto Press.
MAGUBANE, Peter (1993)	Women of South Africa: Their Fight for Freedom, Little Brown, Boston.
MAKAN, A. (1995)	'Power for Women and Men- Towards a Gendered Approach to Domestic Energy-Policy and Planning in South Africa' in <b>Third</b> <b>World Planning Review</b> , 17 (2), 183-198.
MALVEAUX, J. (1985)	'You have Struck a Rock - A Note on the Status of Black Women in South Africa' in <b>Review of Black Political Economy,</b> 14 (2-3), 277-284.
MEENA. Ruth (ed.) (1984)	Gender in Southern Africa: Conceptual and Theoretical Issues, SAPES Books, Harare.
MURRAY, Christina (ed.) (1994)	Gender and the New South African Legal Order, Kenwyn Juta.
NOMVETE, Nomatamsanqua (1984)	The Participation of the Female Working Class in Trade Unions and Labour Struggles in South Africa from 1950, Centre of African Studies, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh.
SEIDMAN, G. W. (1993)	'No Freedom Without Women- Mobilization and Gender in South Africa' in <b>Signs</b> , 18 (2), 291-320.

WALKER, Cherryl (ed.) (1990)	Women and Gender in Southern Africa to 1945, James Currey, London.
WHITE, Caroline (1993)	Status of South African Women, A Source Book in Tables and Graphs, the Reasons for Change, ANC Women's League Policy Division, Marshalltown.

Gender and Education	
GREEN, Lena & FOSTER, Don (1986)	'Classroom Intrinsic Motivation: Effects of Scholastic Level, Teacher Orientation, and Gender' in <b>Journal of Educational Research</b> , 80 (1), 34-39 (This study was carried out in South Africa)
MACKENZIE, Liz (1993)	'On Our Feet, Taking Steps to Challenge Women's Oppression, A Handbook on Gender and Popular Education Workshops' in <b>Adult</b> <b>Education and Development</b> , 41 (Supplement).
SEBAKWANE, Mahlase & SHIRLEY, M. (1994)	'Women Teachers and Community Control in Lebowa Secondary Schools' in <b>Multicultural Teaching</b> , 12 (3), 31- 34.

### Sudan

Gender	
BERNAL, V. (1994)	'Gender, Culture and Capitalism- Women and the Remaking of the Islamic Tradition in a Sudanese Village' in <b>Comparative Studies in Society and History,</b> 36 (1), 36-67.
CLOUDSLEY, Anne (1981)	The Women of Omdurman, Victims of Circumcision, Craven Hill, London.

CLOUDSLEY, Anne (1984)	Women of Omdurman, Life, Love and the Cult of Virginity, St. Martins Press, New York.
EL DAREER, Asma (1982)	Woman, Why do you Weep? Circumcision and its Consequences, Zed Books, London.
HALE, Sondra (1995)	Gender Politics in Sudan: Islamism, Socialism and the State, Westview Press.
HALL, Marjorie & BAKHITA, Amin Ismail (1981)	Sisters Under the Sun, The Story of Sudanese Women, Longman, London.
ISMAIL, Ellen T.(1982)	Social Environment and Daily Routine of Sudanese women, A Case Study of Urban Middle Class House Wives, Reimer, Berlin.
KAMIER, El-Wathig (et al.) (1985)	The State of Women's Studies in the Sudan, Development Studies and Research Centre, University of Khartoum.
KHALEEFA, O. H. (et al.) (1996)	'Gender and Creativity in an Afro- Arab Islamic Culture-The Case of Sudan' in <b>Journal of Creative Behaviour,</b> 30 (1), 52-60.
MAKKI, Maureen (1990)	Women of the Sudan, Verlag, Bendestorf.
KENYON, Susan (1991)	Five Women of Sennar: Culture and Change in Central Sudan, Clarendon, Oxford.
SHAMI, Seteney (et al.) (1990)	Women in Arab Society, Work Patterns and Gender relations in Egypt, Jordan and Sudan, Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Gender and Education	
	'The Islamic Movement, Development and Health Education - Recent Changes in the Health of Rural Women in Central Sudan' in <b>Social Science and</b> <b>Medicine</b> , 33 (6), 637-645.

# **Swaziland**

Gender	
HARRIS, Betty (1993) The Political Economy of the Southern African Peripher Cottage Industries, Factories and Female Wage Labour Swaziland Compared, Macmillan Publishers, Basingstoke	
RUSSELL, M. (1986)	'High Status, Low Pay- Anomalies in the Position of Women in Employment in Swaziland' in <b>Journal of Southern African Studies,</b> 12 (2), 293-307.

# **Tanzania**

Gender	
BULOW, Dorthe Von (et al.) (1995)	Supporting Women's groups in Tanzania through Credit: Is this a Strategy for Empowerment?, Working Paper No. 10, Copenhagen Centre for Development Research.
CAPLAN, P. (1981)	'Development Policies in Tanzania - Some Implications for Women' in <b>Journal of Development Studies,</b> 17 (3), 98-108.
CHERIET, B. (1987)	'Specific Socialism' and Illiteracy amongst Women: A Comparative Study of Algeria and Tanzania, Ph.D. Thesis, Institute of Education, London.
CREIGHTON, Colin & OMARI, C.K. (1995)	Gender, Family and Household in Tanzania, Averbury, Aldershot.
CROLL, E. J. (1981)	'Women in Rural Production and Reproduction in the Soviet Union, China, Cuba and Tanzania - Case Studies' in <b>Signs</b> , 7 (2), 375-399.
CROLL, E. J. (1981)	'Women in Rural Production and Reproduction in the Soviet Union, China, Cuba and Tanzania- Socialist Development Experiences' in <b>Signs</b> , 7 (2), 361-374.

LARSSON, Birgitta (1991)	Conversion to Greater Freedom: Women, Church and Social Change in North Western Tanzania under Colonial Rule, Acta Universitatis Upsaliensis.
MASCARENHAS, Ophelia & MBILINYI, Marjorie (1983)	Women in Tanzania, An Analytical Bibliography, Holmes and Meier, New York.
MBILINYI, Marjorie (1991)	Big Slavery Agribusiness and the Crisis in Women's Employment in Tanzania, Dar es Salaam University Press, Dar es Salaam.
MEGHJI, Z. (1985)	'Women and Cooperatives- Some Realities Affecting Development in Tanzania' in <b>Community Development</b> <b>Journal,</b> 20 (3), 185-188.
MITZLAFF, Ulrike Von (1988)	Maasai Women's Life in a Patriarchal Society: Field Research among the Parakuyo, Tanzania, Dar es Salaam University Press, Dar es Salaam.
MSONGANZILA, M. R (1994)	'Women and Cooperatives in Tanzania - Separatism or Integration' in <b>Economic</b> and Political Weekly, 29 (44), ws 86-ws 96.
OOMEN-MYIN, M. A.(1983)	'The Involvement of Rural women in Village Development in Tanzania' in <b>Convergence,</b> 16 (2), 59-69.
SENDER, John & SMITH, Sheila (1990)	Poverty, Class, Gender in Rural Africa, A Tanzanian Case Study, Routledge, London.
SMITH S. & SENDER, J. B. (1990)	Poverty, Gender and Wage Labour in Rural Tanzania' in <b>Economic and Political Weekly</b> , 25 (24-2), 1334-1342.

SMITH, C. D. & STEVENS, L. (1988)	'Farming and Income Generation in the Female Headed Smallholder Household-The Case of a Haya Village in Tanzania' in Canadian Journal of African Studies, 22 (3),552-566.
SWANTZ, Marja-Liisa (1985)	Women in Development - The Creative Role Denied: The Case of Tanzania, C. Hurst, London.
TRIPP, A. M. (1989)	'Women and the changing Urban Household Economy in Tanzania' in <b>Journal of Modern African Studies,</b> 27 (4),601-623.

Gender and Education	
ASAYEHGN, Desta (1979)	The Role of Women in Tanzania: Their Access to Higher Education and Participation in Labour Force, UNESCO, International Institute of Educational Planning, Paris.
CHEYO, Evelyn M. (1993)	Girls' Access, Performance and Achievement in Secondary Education: A Comparative Study of Tanzania, Kenya and Botswana, M.A. Dissertation, Institute of Education, University of London.

# Togo

Gender	
1	<b>Femmes de Lomé,</b> CEEBA Publications, 77, Bandundu.

Gender and Education	
. ,	'The Impact of Western Schools on Girls'
	Expectations: A Togolese Case' in <b>Comparative</b>
	<b>Education Review,</b> 24 (2), 196-208.

# Uganda

Gender	
AHIKIRE, J. (1994)	'Women, Public Politics and Organization - Potentialities of Affirmative Action in Uganda' in <b>Economic and Political Weekly,</b> 29 (44), pp. ws 77 - ws 83.
AKELLO, Grace (1982)	Self Twice Removed, Ugandan Woman, Change International Reports, London.
BROWN, Winifred (1988)	Marriage, Divorce and Inheritance, the Ugandan Council of Women's Movement for Legislative Reform, African Monographs, African Studies Centre, Cambridge.
CASALE, D. M. (1982)	'Women, Power and Change in Lugbara (Uganda) Cosmology- A Reinterpretation' in <b>Anthropos</b> , 77 (3-4), 385-396.
MULEMWA, Jane N. (1993)	'Women's Participation in Science and Technology' in Alberta Science Education Journal, 26 (1), 41-7.

Gender and Education	
<b>Cormal Education of African Women and Girls in da: Some Changes Involved in its Acceptance,</b> Thesis, University of London, United Kingdom.	

# Zaire

Gender	
MITCHNIK, David A. (1978)	The Role of Women in Rural Zaire and Upper Volta, Improving Methods of Skill Acquisition, Oxfam, Oxford.
VERHEUST, Thérèse Par (1985)	Portraits de Femmes: Les Intellectuels Zaïroises, Les Cahiers du CEDAF ASDOC Studies, 6, CEDAF, Bruxelles.

Gender and Education		

ROUSSEAU, I. F. (1975)	'African Women: Identity Crisis? Some Observations on
	Education and the Changing Role of Women in Sierra
	Leone and Zaire' in ROHRICH-LEAVITT, R. (ed.)
	Women Cross- Culturally: Challenge and Change,
	Mouton Publishers, Hague.

# Zambia

Gender		
BANDA, Gabriel (1991)	Adjusting to Adjustment in Zambia: Women's and Young People's Response to a Changing Economy, Oxfam Research Papers, Oxfam.	
BARDOUILLE, R. (et al.) (1985)	An Annotated Bibliography of Research on Zambian Women, Zambia Association for Research and Development, Lusaka, Zambia.	
CREHAN, Kate A. F. (1987)	'Production, Reproduction and Gender in North-Western Zambia' Unpublished Ph.D. Thesis, University of Manchester, United Kingdom.	
GEISLER, G. (1992)	'Who is Losing Out- Structural Adjustment, Gender and the Agricultural Sector in Zambia' in <b>Journal of Modern African Studies</b> , 30 (1), 113-139.	
GEISLER, G. (1995)	'Troubled Sisterhood: Women and Politics in Southern Africa- Cases of Zambia, Zimbabwe and Botswana' in <b>African Affairs,</b> 94 (377), 545-578.	
HANSEN, K. T. (1980)	'When Sex Becomes a Critical Variable Married Women and Extra Domestic Work in Lusaka, Zambia' in African Social Research, 30, 831-849.	
HANSEN, K.T. (1984)	'Negotiating Sex and Gender in Urban Zambia' in <b>Journal of Southern</b> <b>African Studies,</b> 10 (2), 219-238.	

HINFELAAR, Hugo F. (1994)	Bemba-Speaking Women of Zambia in a Century of Religious Change (1892-1992), Studies of Religion in Africa, V. 11, Leiden, Brill.
KELLER, B. & MBEWE, D. C. (1991)	'Policy and Planning for the Empowerment of Zambian Women Farmers' in <b>Canadian Journal of</b> <b>Development Studies,</b> 12 (1), 75-88.
LUNGU, G. F. (1989)	'Women and Representative Bureaucracy in Zambia - The Case of Gender Balancing in the Civil Service and Parastatal Organizations' in Women's Studies International Forum, 12 (2), 175-182.
MOORE, Henrietta L. & VAUGHAN, Megan (1994)	Cutting Down Trees: Gender, Nutrition and Agricultural Change in Northern Province, Zambia, 1890- 1990, Heinemann, Portsmouth N. H.
MWALE, Genevieve & BURNARD, Phillip (1992)	Women and AIDS in Rural Africa: Rural Women's Views of AIDS in Zambia, Averbury, Aldershot.
O'REILLY, C. & GORDON, A. (1995)	Survival Strategies of Poor Women in Urban Africa: The Case of Zambia, Natural Resources Institute.
POEWE, Karla O. (1981)	Matrilineal Ideology, Male- Female Dynamics in Luapula, Zambia, Academic Press, London.
SCHUSTER, I. M. Glazer (1979)	New Women of Lusaka, Mayfield Publishing Company, California.
SIBALWA, David (1993)	'Women's Contribution towards National Development in Zambia' in Convergence, 26 (2), 38-46.
ZARD (1989)	Agenda for the Study of Rural Women in Zambia: Zard's Presentation at Forum 85, in <b>International Studies- Notes,</b> 14 (3) 72-76.

#### **Gender and Education**

ARDAKANI, F. (1991)	Education, Women and Development with Special Reference to Lesotho and Zambia, University of Alberta, Canada.
MUMBA, Elizabeth (1988)	'Training for Women in Zambia: A Review of Selected Research' in <b>Studies in the Education of Adults,</b> 20 (2), 144-152.
MWANSA, D.M. (1995)	'Perspectives on Literacy, Gender and Change - A Case for Zambia' in <b>British Journal of Sociology of Education,</b> 16 (4), 495-516.
SWAINSON, Nicola (1995)	Redressing gender inequalities in education: a review of constraints and priorities in Malawi, Zambia and Zimbabwe, Overseas Development Administration, London.

# **Zimbabwe**

Gender	
ADAMS, J.M. (1991)	'Female Wage Labour in Rural Zimbabwe' in <b>World Development</b> , 19 (2-3), 163-177.
ADAMCHAK, Donald J. (1991)	'Elderly Support and Intergenerational Transfer in Zimbabwe: An Analysis by Gender, Marital Status and Place of Residence' in <b>Gerontologist</b> , 31 (4), 505-13.
BARNES, Terri & WIN, Everjoyce (1992)	To Live a Better Life. An Oral History of Women in the City of Harare 1930-70, Baobab, Harare.
BATEZAT, Elinor & MWALO, Margaret (1989)	Women in Zimbabwe, SAPES Trust, Southern Africa Printing & Publishing House, Harare.
BOND-STEWART, Kathy (1987)	Independence is not Only for One Sex, Zimbabwe Publishing House, Harare.

CHEATER, A. (1981)	'Women and their Participation in Agricultural Production -The Case of Medium Scale Freehold in Zimbabwe' in <b>Development and</b> <b>Change,</b> 12 (3), 349-377.
DRAKAKISSMITH, D. W.(1984)	'The Changing Economic role of Women in the Urbanization Process- A Preliminary Report from Zimbabwe' in <b>International</b> <b>Migration Review</b> , 18 (4), 1278- 1292.
GEISLER, G. (1995)	'Troubled Sisterhood: Women and Politics in Southern Africa- Case Studies from Zambia, Zimbabwe and Botswana' in <b>African Affairs</b> , 94 (377), 545-578.
GETECHA, Ciru & CHIPIKA, Jesimen (1995)	Zimbabwe Women's Voices, Women's Resource Centre, Zimbabwe.
JACOBS, S. (1991)	'Land Resettlement and Gender in Zimbabwe - Some Findings' in <b>Journal of Modern African studies,</b> 29 (3), 521-528.
JACOBS, S. (1992)	'Gender and Land Reform- Zimbabwe and Some Comparisons' in <b>International Sociology</b> , 7 (1), 5- 34.
JØRGENSEN, Kirstein (1982)	Women's Programmes in Zimbabwe, K.U.L.U, Copenhagen.
KANJI, N. (1995)	'Gender, Poverty and Economic Adjustment in Harare, Zimbabwe' in <b>Environment and Urbanization,</b> 7 (1), 37-55.
KANJI, N. & JAZDOWSKA. N. (1995)	'Gender, Structural Adjustment and Employment in Urban Zimbabwe' in <b>Third World Planning Review,</b> 17 (2), 133-154.

MACNAMARA, Eve (1989)	Women in Zimbabwe, An Annotated Bibliography, University of Zimbabwe, Harare.
MADE, Patricia & LAGERSTROM, Birgitta (1985)	Zimbabwean Women in Industry, Zimbabwe Publishing House, Harare.
MAY, Joan (1979)	African Women in Urban Employment, Factors Influencing their Employment in Zimbabwe, Mambo Press, Gwelo.
MAY, Joan (1983)	Zimbabwean Women in Colonial and Customary Law, Mambo Press, Gweru.
MEHRETU, A. & MUTAMBIRWA, C.(1992)	'Gender Differences in Time and Energy Costs of Distance for Regular Domestic Chores in Rural Zimbabwe- A Case Study in the Chiduku Communal Area' in <b>World</b> <b>Development,</b> 20 (11), 1675-1683.
SEIDMAN, G.W. (1984)	'Women in Zimbabwe - Post- Independence Struggles' in <b>Feminist</b> <b>Studies,</b> 10 (3), 419-440.
SCHMIDT, Elizabeth (1992)	Peasants, Traders and Wives, Shona Women in the History of Zimbabwe, 1870-1939, Heinemann, Portsmouth.
STOTT, Leda (1990)	Women and the Armed Struggle for Independence in Zimbabwe (1964-1991), Centre of African Studies, Edinburgh University, Edinburgh.
WEISS, Ruth (1986)	The Women of Zimbabwe, Kesho Publishers, London.
WILSON D. & MBUDZI, M. (1989)	'Correlates of Attitude towards Women in Zimbabwe' in <b>Journal of</b> <b>Social Psychology,</b> 129 (1), 21-26.

GORDON, Rosemary (1994)	'Education Policy and Gender in Zimbabwe' in <b>Gender and Education</b> , 6 (2), 131-39.
LAWRENCE, Brenda & TSHUMA, Stanley (1992)	'Gender Bias in Reading Materials in Zimbabwean Primary Schools' in <b>New Era</b> in Education, 73 (3), 89-97.
SWAINSON, Nicola (1995)	Redressing gender inequalities in education: a review of constraints and priorities in Malawi, Zambia and Zimbabwe, Overseas Development Administration, London.
WILSON, David (et al.) (1989)	'Academic Locus of Control and LOGO Performance among the Black and White Zimbabwean Girls and Boys' in <b>Journal of</b> <b>Social Psychology</b> , 129 (4), 565-567.

[Previous Page] [Top of Page] [Next Page]

Education research gender, education and development - A partially annotated and selective bibliography - Education Research Paper No. 19, 1997, 250 p.

[Previous Page] [Table of Contents] [Next Page]

# **Annotations - Sub-Saharan Africa**

#### General

HAY, Margaret Jean & STICHTER, Sharon (eds.) (1995), **African Women South of the Sahara**, Longman Group. Essex.

The main purpose of the book is to explore the range of variations in women's social and political positions in sub-Saharan Africa, taking into account two important factors: firstly, the great variety of traditional social arrangements; secondly, how historical forces, for example, European colonial conquest in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, and Arab/Islamic penetration have influenced the contemporary situation of women.

The material in the book is organized in such a way that it provides an overview on the women of sub-Saharan Africa. It is an introductory interdisciplinary text, written from a number of disciplines but set in a historical context.

The contributions by various writers are divided into three main topics, namely:

- (i) African women in the economy
- (ii) African women in society and culture
- (iii) Women in politics and policy.

The first three chapters address the issue of African women in the economy by describing the activities in which women engage themselves in both in urban and rural areas. The activities are viewed in terms of production, distribution and reproduction. This section provides: first, a summary of the impact of pre-colonial socio-economic structures, colonial changes and post-colonial trends on contemporary women's work and welfare; second, a discussion of contemporary variations in women's rural economic roles and how they are attached to the world economy; thirdly, description of various occupations of urban women in various cities in Sub-Saharan Africa.

The next six chapters provide an investigation into the question of African women in society and culture. This section deals with various factors, such as the changing

African family, inheritance law, religion and secular ideology, the arts, African literature, and voluntary associations. This has been done by describing the women's associations and complex roles within the extended structures in the African customary and kinship organizations as well as the situation in the modem world.

The third topic concerns African women both as active in politics and as objects of public policy. This includes issues relating to the political roles that women have taken in both indigenous and modem societies, their participation in national liberation movements in various countries in the Sub-Saharan region especially from the 1960s when most people in Africa were fighting for political independence, the impact of developmental policies on women, health, and contraception and technological issues. Structural adjustment programmes and their effect on women in the region under discussion have also been included. Illustrations from different countries have been used throughout the book in discussing women's social, economic, health and political issues.

ODAGA Odhiambo and HENEVELD, Ward, (1995) **Girls and Schools in Sub-Saharan Africa: From Analysis to Action,** World Bank Technical Paper No. 298, Africa Technical Department Series, World Bank, Washington D.C.

The central focus of this study is to formulate an operational gender perspective for reference in educational planning, programming, management, implementation, and monitoring and evaluation across Sub-Saharan Africa.

In an effort to achieve this objective, research findings in the last five (5) years on the constraints that girls experience in schools in this region have been summarized indicating the status of female education and factors that generally constrain girls' education. Under the section dealing with the status of female education, research findings on access, persistence, literacy and access to employment are summarized.

The findings on the factors that affect female education have been grouped into three, that is: socio-cultural and socio-economic factors; factors related to the school environment; and political and institutional factors. Under the first group, direct cost of schooling, opportunity cost of girls' education, attitude of parents/families on girls' education, initiations and religion are highlighted. With regard to the second group of constraints which concern school environment, the following factors have been outlined: distance to school, teachers' attitude, curricula and learning materials, sexual harassment, pregnancy, girls' expectations and motivation. In the third group, problems dealing with financing and management of education, the limited involvement of women in development initiatives, and political instability are summarized. The above factors have further been grouped into two as: demand-side and supply-side factors. The demand-side factors include the factors that limit the demand for female education,

that is, socio-cultural and socio-political factors. The supply-side factors are viewed as those that reinforce gender inequalities by strengthening stereotypes about female roles and low academic expectations, that is, school related and political and institutional factors.

Key areas that require interventions and research have been noted. The study also offers suggestions and approaches that can be used to reduce the gender gap in access to education, attainment and achievement in the region. An overview of programs and projects that are already in the stage of implementation has been provided.

The importance of moving from analysis to action has also been given prominence. An approach for identifying and planning effective interventions has been offered. Set questions for assessing gender issues in education at the local and national levels have been provided. At the local level the questions are for assessing households, the school, the community, and participant groups, such as students and teachers. At the national level, questions are for assessing policy and macro-development planning.

BROWNE, A.W. & BARRETT, H.R. (1991) 'Female education in Sub-Saharan Africa: the Key to development?', **Comparative Education**, 27 (3), p. 275-285.

Browne & Barrett bring together clearly the three themes of this Bibliography in their study of gender, education and development in sub-Saharan Africa. Since improvements in health, nutrition and education are not just ends in themselves but are the catalysts for development and since within the developing world sub-Saharan Africa has the lowest life-expectancy, the highest infant mortality rate and one of the highest levels of illiteracy (World Bank, 1990), the basis for long-term development in the region is undermined. The authors argue that education is "the key to the process of human-centred development", (p275) because of its effects both on health & nutrition & also the key to economic growth, and they present evidence to show that women's education has a pivotal role in all this.

As far as health is concerned, the authors establish a strong relationship between women's literacy and lower infant mortality rates in sub-Saharan Africa in general and in the Gambia in particular. Secondly, since the region is one of "female farming", it is suggested that "investment in woman's education would yield significant returns in food production and agricultural output, as well as improving nutrition for the household", (p281). Again, this is illustrated by the example of the Gambia where horticultural schemes have succeeded best when led by a <u>literate</u> woman.

It is pointed out that although education can be seen as intrinsic to both human and economic development, the goal of universal primary education is actually receding. The figures for girls' enrolment continue to be lower than those for boys and their drop-

out rate higher. Trying to eradicate illiteracy later with adult literacy programmes is fraught with difficulties, not the least of which is choice of language. Illiteracy among women sets back the process of development still further "because of its particular importance as a generator of both human and economic advancement", (p 284).

The article contains a useful diagram (p. 277), illustrating the relationship between female education and developmental gains in health and agricultural production.

[Previous Page] [Top of Page] [Next Page]

Education research gender, education and development - A partially annotated and selective bibliography - Education Research Paper No. 19, 1997, 250 p.

[Previous Page] [Table of Contents] [Next Page]

### Individual countries

Zimbabwe

Sudan

Niger

Nigeria

**Ivory Coast** 

Malawi, Zambia, Zimbabwe

#### **Zimbabwe**

GORDON, Rosemary (1994) 'Education policy and gender in Zimbabwe', **Gender and Education**, 6 (2), 131-139.

This article examines the changes and continuities in education policy with reference to gender during the colonial and post-colonial periods. Despite the government's stated commitment to gender equality, there has been little change to reduce sexual inequalities in education during the years following Independence. Gordon suggests that "gender neutral" policies may allow a particular state to perpetuate discrimination against women.

At Independence in 1980, the position of women in Zimbabwe was "the outcome of a century of patriarchal racist settler colonialism impacting upon indigenous pre-industrial patriarchal societies", (p131). Black girls had very little access to education. The post-colonial government gave black women majority status in law for the first time and created the Ministry of Cooperative and Community Development and Women's Affairs (MCCDWA). As is often the case when governments set up a separate ministry for women's affairs, in Zimbabwe says Gordon, the MCCDWA's projects were neglected and under-resourced. The establishment of the MCCDWA resulted in the neglect of gender issues in other state organs, including the Ministry of Education. She shows how girls and boys have not benefited equally from the expansion in educational opportunities. At primary level fewer girls enrol and drop-out is higher for girls than for boys; fewer girls make the transition to secondary education and again their attrition rate is higher. The data at all levels of the educational system, says Gordon, suggests

that "despite the state's verbal commitment to gender equity, during the period of post-colonial socialist reconstruction, [it] has, through its education policies and practices, continued its gendering and male protecting role", (p135). In other words, gender neutral policies have masked "a strong bias against women", (p136).

Economic structural adjustment since 1989 has made the situation worse. Although macro-economic policies appear to be gender neutral, their impact is gender differentiated. Austerity programmes affect women negatively because of the reduction in their access to employment, the limiting of access to services, and the increase in the demands on their time and labour to compensate for the gaps created by the cuts in services. These developments lead to more constraints on their daughters' access to education.

#### Sudan

BERNAL, Victoria (1994) 'Gender, Culture and Capitalism: Women and the remaking of Islamic "Tradition" in a Sudanese village', **Comparative Studies in Society and History,** 36 (1), 36-67.

The negative view of observers of North African and Middle Eastern societies who generally identify Islam as "the primary determinant of women's status and the obstacle to social and economic changes which might benefit women", (p. 36-37) is described by Bernal as "Islamic determinism", (ibid). She sees this perspective as a misapprehension of Islam and in her in-depth and thought-provoking analysis examines gender and religion in the Muslim world by identifying the links between "religious transformation, gender relations, and the integration of Muslim communities into the capitalist world system", (p. 37). Bernal argues that contemporary Islamic fundamentalism should be seen as a modem development connected to socio-economic transformations rather than as a return to tradition. Her analysis is illustrated by data from fieldwork in a northern Sudanese village, Wad al Abbas, 1980-1982 and in 1988.

Experiences in Wad al Abbas would seem to indicate that economic changes such as in agriculture & labour migration (mainly to Saudi Arabia), have had unplanned outcomes resulting in new gender relationships and that these relationships are being institutionalised by <a href="mailto:new religious sensibilities">new religious sensibilities and traditions in the form of Islamic Fundamentalism. Bernal concludes-</a>

"the intensification of social restrictions on women and the emergence of new secular and religious notions of gender difference are direct results of the community's growing integration into the world economy", (p61).

### Niger

WYND, Shona (1995) **Factors affecting girls' access to schooling in Niger**, Final Report to ODA Education Division, Ministry of Overseas Development, London.

This study, based on fieldwork in Niger, sets out to develop "a more rigorous understanding of the relationship between education, the role that it plays within the community, and its potential influence on fertility", (p.i). Niger has a fertility rate of 7.4 and a literacy rate of 14% (9% for females). The overall primary school enrolment rate is 28.5% and only 36% of that figure are girls; in rural areas female enrolment can be as low as 10%. Wynd found that the school system is valued-

"not for the basic skills it aims to provide for its students, but for the jobs that students, and their extended families, anticipate upon their graduation from university or professional school", (ibid).

As far as girls are concerned there is a widespread fear that schools teach them ways which run counter to local behavioural norms and that girls may become pregnant as a result:

"Ironically, rather than looking upon education as means of ensuring healthier families, the local belief is that school could actually contribute to increasing fertility", (p. ii).

The causes of low enrolment figures in rural areas are examined including the inefficiency of recruitment methods and the avoidance techniques of parents who do not wish to send their children to school. The concept of "success" also affects recruitment: success means securing a position with the civil service after graduation. Children who do not manage to do this are considered to have "failed", and as most children will "fail", it is not considered worthwhile to send them to school, especially if they are daughters. It is also believed that "passes" are given to the children of government employees rather that to those who have earned them. Girls have few educated role models in the villages and in any case Hausa girls are likely to marry at about 12 years of age. It is often the mother who discourage girls from continuing at school, often because of the fear of the risk of pregnancy, and girls sometimes deliberately fail the primary leaving examination because of pressure at home. The question of a girl's education or lack of it is also a factor in the marriage market, and in the loss of labour in the home. All the factors discussed ape supported by verbatim evidence from the interviews conducted in the villages. Wynd concludes:

"The potential gains that a primary school education may currently offer

in terms of increased levels of hygiene, or the much sought after government job simply do not outweigh the potential social risks or the loss of labour. While studies suggest that increasing levels of education may lead to lower levels of fertility, that issue cannot begin to be explored until the education system itself is viewed as useful enough to attract girls and their parents......

......Clearly the system must be changed from one which produces either civil servants or failures, to one which teaches skills and awareness that are valued within the local community", (p. 19-20).

### **Nigeria**

CSAPO, Marg (1981) 'Religious, Social and Economic Factors hindering the education of girls in Northern Nigeria; **Comparative Education**, 17, (3) 311-319. and

AKANDE, Bolanle E. (1987) 'Rural-urban comparison of female educational aspirations in South-Western Nigeria', **Comparative Education**, 23 (1), 75-83.

Csapo's article on girls' education in Northern Nigeria only just comes within the date parameters of this Bibliography: published in 1981, it is based on figures from the 1970's. It is however useful in that it examines in some detail the factor of religion as it affects girls' education among the mainly Muslim Hausa of Northern Nigeria. Many of the West African countries normally classified as "Sub-Saharan" do in fact reach towards the Sahara on their northern boundaries and their northern regions have a great deal in common with north Africa because of Islamic influence. Csapo also points out however that these northern regions are not only Islamic as compared with the Christianized southern areas but also have less favourable agricultural conditions: the economic factor is also important one as far as the education of girls is concerned. Niles' article on parental attitudes to girls' education (1989, q.v) is a later study in the same area which emphasises the urban/rural dichotomy.

Akande's article on girls' educational aspirations in Oyo State, Southern Western Nigeria, also examines the differences between girls from urban & rural backgrounds. Her research found a significant relationship between girls' family locations and their educational aspirations. Urban girls were far more likely to aspire to University (63%) than rural ones (26.3%). Rural girls' highest ambitions tended to be to train as a nurse or a teacher, an interesting result of the role models available in rural areas and of the high status accorded to nurses and teachers in the villages. Akande also found a significant relationship between family location and girls' scholastic performance. Rural girls perform less well overall than urban ones. More rural girls complained of interruption to their homework from household chores and errands. It is not only the quality of education in rural areas which may affect attainment but the demands of rural life.

### **Ivory Coast**

GRISAY, Aletta (1984) 'Analyse des inégalités de rendement liées au sexe de l'élève dans l'enseignement primaire ivoirien', **International Review of Education,** Vol. 30, p. 25-39.

Research by the *Laboratoire de Pédagoge Experimentale* at the University of Liege into primary education in the Ivory Coast found significant differences in achievement between boys and girls across the curriculum. From the first years boys do better & by the fourth year they have a strong advantage; this advantage lies not only in mathematics, often considered a boys' area, but also in learning French (the medium of instruction in the Ivory Coast). This situation differs from that of industrialised countries where the performance of girls is generally superior to that of boys in subjects linked to language learning. The author suggests that boys in the Ivory Coast (and in certain other developing countries too) may do better than girls in the speaking, reading and writing skills for a variety of reasons:

- because the cultural image of male and female roles engenders different behaviour expectations of girls in school and because there is less pressure on girls to do well, there is a negative influence on girls' motivation the teaching personnel is largely male
- boys have more chance to use French outside school
- girls gain less from classroom experience because they interact less, ask fewer questions. Cultural patterns demand reserved behaviour from a girl: "il est malséant pour une fille... de trop parler ou de se faire remarquer; on la considérait comme une effrontée", say Ivory Coast teachers. (p. 35)

The author feel that it is the last point - patterns of behaviour in the classroom, which most affects girls' results in the Ivory Coast. Direct participation in the teaching/learning process in the classroom, and frequent opportunities to answer, talk and interact are essential in the acquisition of French which is itself a prerequisite for success in the other disciplines.

Attitudes towards the education of girls among the largely male teaching personnel appear to be equivocal, judging by a sample surveyed. Although 80 - 90% of the teachers agreed with statements about the necessity for girls to go to school, to stay there longer & even to have the right to go on to University, traditional views surfaced

in responses to the following statements (p. 36):

C'est auprès de sa mère et non à l'école qu'une fille reçoît le meilleur de son éducation (54% agree)

Quel que soit son degré d'instruction, une femme ne doit pas se croire l'égale de l'homme . (70% agree)

The author concludes ruefully that if teachers try to develop less passive behaviour in girl pupils, they may be reproached by parents for making girls "effrontée" or "insolente". The teachers themselves may not really be convinced about encouraging girls to talk more: they may feel that since girls are by nature chatty - "loin de leur apprendre à ouvrir la bouche, c'est à se taire qu'on devrait les inviter", (p. 37).

#### Malawi, Zambia, Zimbabwe

SWAINSON, Nicola (1995) Redressing gender inequalities in education: a review of constraints and priorities in Malawi, Zambia and Zimbabwe, ODA, London

Dr Swainson describes this report as "primarily a desk study": she has gathered together, as indicated in her Bibliography, not only the usual sources but an enormous number of reports, papers and lectures, often in mimeograph and not easily accessible, to put together this up-to-date and very useful survey.

In the first part of the report she examines the international evidence concerning the benefits of female education and then reviews the literature that outlines the nature and extent of gender disparities in education in Malawi, Zambia and Zimbabwe. This chapter contains a wealth of information and statistics (so far as they are available) on educational expenditure patterns, enrolments and wastage, performance and attainment, and literacy rates. The first part ends with a chapter which examines factors shaping gender inequalities in education and stresses that-

"inequalities stem from gender relations in society at large and these are reflected in and played out in the school system itself," (p 16).

Factors covered include economic restraints, the effect of woman's opportunities (or lack of them) in the labour market, the contribution of girls to household tasks, the socio-economic status of families, parental attitudes and influence, initiation practices and early marriage, and sexuality and sexual harassment. Swainson then examines school-based factors such as the school environment, teachers' expectations and attitudes, and single-sex education.

The second part of the report focuses on strategies to promote the education of both girls and women. It examines the policy options such as expanding educational provision and reducing the direct and indirect costs of schooling, improving girls' health and nutrition and recruiting more female teachers. There is a survey of efforts made to reduce direct costs through various scholarship programmes. Chapter 7 examines various types of government and donor intervention and their outcomes.

The final chapter is a succinct and useful list of recommendations. Swainson first suggests research priorities: clearly focussed empirical research is needed so that efforts to improve girls' educational opportunities can be based on evidence. She suggests twelve areas where research is needed such as the impact of female teachers, patterns of attendance, etc. Policy recommendations are divided into two areas: those which are school-based and those which are community based. Both researchers and policy-makers (whether government or NGO) will find useful suggestions on these lists.

[Previous Page] [Top of Page] [Next Page]

Education research gender, education and development - A partially annotated and selective bibliography - Education Research Paper No. 19, 1997, 250 p.

[Previous Page] [Table of Contents] [Next Page]

# **North Africa and Middle East**

Individual Countries
Annotations
Individual countries

General		
Gender		
AFSHAR, Haleh (ed.) (1993)	Women in Middle East: Perceptions, Realities and Struggles for Liberation, Macmillan Publishers, Basingstoke.	
ALI, Parveen Shaukat (1975)	Status of Women in the Muslim World, A Study in the Feminist Movements in Turkey, Egypt, Iran and Pakistan, Aziz Publishers, Lahore.	
AL-QAZZAZ, Ayad (1977)	Women in the Middle East and North Africa, An Annotated Bibliography, Centre for Middle Eastern Studies, University of Texas, Austin.	
BROWN, Sarah Graham (1988)	Images of Women in the Middle East, Quartet Books.	
BYBEE, Dorothy Ann. (n. d.)	Muslim Peasant Women in the Middle East, their Sources and Uses of Power, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Indiana, United States.	
CHAMIE, Mary (1985)	Women of the World: Near East and North Africa, Agency for International Development (IDCA), Washington D.C.	
FERNEA, Elizabeth Warnock (1985)	Women and the Family in the Middle  East: New Voices of Change, University of Texas Press: Austin.	

FERNEA, Elizabeth Warnock & BERZIGAN, Basima Qattan (eds.) (1977)	Middle Eastern Muslim Women Speak, University of Texas Press, London.
GOCEK, Fatma Muge & BALAGHI, Shiva (eds.) (1994)	Reconstructing Gender in the Middle East: Tradition, Identity and Power, Columbia University Press, New York.
HICKS, Esther K. (1993)	Infibulation: Female Mutilation in Islamic North-Eastern Africa, Transaction Publishers.
JABBRA, Joseph G. & JABBRA, Nancy W. (1992)	Women and Development in the Middle East and North Africa, Brill, Leiden.
MARSHALL, S.E.(1984)	'Politics and Female Status in North Africa- A Reconsideration of Development Theory' in <b>Economic</b> <b>Development and Cultural Change,</b> 32 (3), 499-524.
MESSICK, B. (1987)	'Subordinate Discourse- Women, Weaving and Gender Relations in North Africa' in <b>American Ethnologist,</b> 14 (2), 210-225.
MINAI, Naila (1981)	Women in Islam: Tradition and Transition in the Middle East, Murray Co., London.
MOGHADAM, Valentine M. (1993)	Modernizing Women Gender and Social Change in the Middle East, L. Reinner, Boulder.
MOSKOFF, W. (1982)	'Women and Work in Israel and the Islamic Middle East' in <b>Quarterly Review of Economics and Business</b> , 22 (4), 89-104.
OBERMEYER, C. M.(1992)	'Islam, Women and Politics- The Demography of Arab Countries' in <b>Population and Development Review,</b> 18 (1), 33-60.
OBERMEYER, Carla Makhlouf (ed.) (1995)	Gender, Family and Population in the Middle East: Policies in Context, American University in Cairo Press, Cairo.
OTTO, Ingeborg & SCHMIDT- DUMONT, Marianne (1982)	Women in the Middle East and North Africa, A Selected Bibliography, Deutsches Orient Institut, Hamburg.

PAPPS, I. (1992)	'Women, Work and Well- being in the Middle East - An Outline of the Relevant Literature' in <b>Journal of Development Studies</b> , 28 (4), 595-615.
SALMAN, Magida (et al.) (1987)	Women in the Middle East, Zed Books, London.
SCARCE, Jennifer M. (1987)	Women's Costumes in the Near and Middle East, Unwin Hyman.
SHAABAN, Bouthaina (1988)	Both Right and Left Handed, Arab Women Talk About their Lives, Women's Press, London.
SHARONI, Simona (1994)	Gender and the Israeli- Palestinian Conflict: The Politics of Women's Resistance, Contemporary Issues in the Middle East Series, Syracuse University Press, Syracuse.
TABUTIN, D. (1991)	'High Mortality Rates among Women in North Africa from 1965-the Present Day- Descriptive Aspects' in <b>Population</b> , 46 (4), 833-854.

Gender and Education		
AL-RUBAIY, A. A. (et al.) (1984)	'Implications for Education and Child Rearing: The Role of Women in the Middle East' in <b>School</b> <b>Psychology International</b> , 5 (3), 167-174.	
EL-SANABARY, Nagat (1989)	Determinants of Women's Education in the Middle East and North Africa: Illustrations from Seven Countries, PHREE Background Paper Series, World Bank, Washington D.C.	
MALIK, L. P. (1995)	'Social and Cultural Determinants of the Gender Gap in Higher Education in the Islamic World' in <b>Journal of Asian and African Studies,</b> 30 (3-4), 181-193	

# **Individual Countries**

Algeria Bahrain **Cyprus** 

**Egypt** 

<u>Iran</u>

<u>Iraq</u>

<u>Jordan</u>

Kuwait

Lebanon

Libya

Morocco

<u>Oman</u>

<u>Palestine</u>

**Q**atar

Saudi Arabia

<u>Syria</u>

**Tunisia** 

**Turkey** 

**United Arab Emirates** 

Yemen

#### **Algeria**

Gender		
ADAMSON, Kay (1975)	Perspectives on the Position of Women in Algeria, University of Leeds, School of Economic Studies Discussion Paper, Leeds.	
BENALLEGUE, Nora (1983)	'Algerian Women in the Struggle for Independence and Reconstruction' in <b>International Social Science Journal</b> , 35 (4), 703-717.	
CHERIET, B. (1987)	'Specific Socialism' and Illiteracy among Women: A Comparative Study of Algeria and Tanzania, Ph.D. Thesis, Institute of Education, London, United Kingdom.	

DOMINELLI, Lena (1987)	Love and Wages: Impact of Imperialism, State Intervention and Women's Domestic Labour on Workers' Control in Algeria, 1962-72, Novata Press.
JANSEN, William Hugh & WILHELMINA, Helena Maria (1987)	Women Without Men: Gender and Marginality in Maimuna Town, Algeria, Brill, Leiden.
KNAUSS, P.R. (1987)	Persistence of Patriarchy: Class, Gender and Ideology in Twentieth Century Algeria, Praeger, London.
LAZREG, M. (1988)	'Feminism and Difference- The Perils of Writing as a Woman on Women in Algeria' in <b>Feminist Studies</b> , 14 (1), 81-107.
LAZREG, M. (1990)	'Gender and Politics in Algeria - Unraveling the Religious Paradigm' in <b>Signs,</b> 15 (4), 755-780.
LAZREG, Marnia (1994)	The Eloquence of Silence, Algerian Women in Question, Routledge, New York.
MARSHALL, S. E. & STOKES, R.G.(1981)	'Tradition and the Veil- Female Status in Tunisia and Algeria' in <b>Journal of Modern African Studies,</b> 19 (4), 625-646.
TAHON, M.B. (1982)	'The Employment of Women in Algeria' in Canadian Journal of African Studies, 16 (1), 43-66.
VIDALHALL, J. (1995)	'Why Women (Girls and Women are Killed by Islamic Extremists in Algeria)'? in <b>Index on Censorship,</b> 24 (4), 94-95.

### Bahrain

Gender			

FAKHRO, Munira A. & AHMED, Munira (1990)	Women at Work in the Gulf, A Case Study of Bahrain, Kegan Paul International, London.
FORDYCE, E. J. (et al.) (1983)	'Changing Roles of Arab Women in a Rapidly Developing Nation- The Case of Bahrain' in <b>Population Index</b> , 49 (3), 399.
SEIKALY, M. (1994)	'Women and Social Change in Bahrain' in International Journal of Middle East Studies, 26 (3), 415-426.

Gender and Education	
AL-MISNAD, S. A. (1984)	The Development of Modern Education in Bahrain,
	Kuwait and Qatar: With Special Reference to
	Education of Women and their Position in Modern
	Gulf society, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Durham,
	United Kingdom.

# **Cyprus**

Gender	
II.	'Occupational Segregation and Discriminatory Pay- The
	Position of Women in the Cyprus Labour Market' in
	International Labour Review, 122 (1), 75-93.

# **Egypt**

Gender	
AFRICAN TRAINING AND RESEARCH CENTRE FOR WOMEN (1985)	'Women and Mass Media in Africa: Case Studies of Sierra Leone, the Niger and Egypt' in <b>Journal of Eastern African</b> <b>Research and Development,</b> 15, 198-221.
AL-ALI, Nadje Sadig (1994)	Gender Writing/Writing Gender: Representation of Women in a Selection of Modern Egyptian Literature, American University in Cairo Press, Cairo.

Status of Muslim Women in the World, A Study in the Feminist Movement in Turkey, Egypt, Iran and Pakistan, Aziz Publishers, Lahore.
'Measuring the Female Labour Force in Egypt' in <b>International Labour Review</b> , 128 (4), 511-520.
'Female circumcision in Egypt- Social Implications, Current Research and Prospects for Change' (Reprinted), in <b>Behavioural Engineering,</b> 38 (1), 33-49.
Feminists, Islam and Nation: Gender and the Making of Modern Egypt, Princeton University Press.
Women's Awakening in Egypt: Culture, Society and Press, Yale University Press, London.
'Gender Concept, Development and Pre- School Aged Children in the United States and Egypt' in <b>Sex Roles: A Journal of</b> <b>Research,</b> 18 (11-1), 669-77.
'When Men are Away- New Roles for Women in Egypt' in <b>Sociologisk Forskning,</b> 26 (1), 5-23.
Egyptian Women in Social Development: A Resource Guide, American University in Cairo Press, Cairo.
'Young Women Members of the Islamic - Revival- Movement in Egypt' in <b>Muslim</b> <b>World</b> , 82 (1-2), 55-65.
Infertility and Patriarchy: Cultural Politics of Gender and Family Life in Egypt, University of Pennsylvania Press.
Egyptian Women in a Changing Society, 1899-1987, L. Reinner, Boulder.

MELEIS, A. I. (et al.) (1994)	'Veiled, Voluminous and Devalued- Narrative Stories about Low Income Women from Brazil, Egypt and Colombia' in <b>Advances in Nursing Science</b> , 17 (2), 1- 15.
MORSY, Soheir (1993)	Gender, Sickness and Healing in Rural Egypt: Ethnography in Historical Context, Conflict and Social Change Series, Westview Press, Oxford.
NELSON Cynthia (ed.) (1977)	Women, Health and Development, Cairo Papers in Social Science, Monograph 1, American University in Cairo, Cairo.
SHAMI, Seteney (1990)	Women in the Arab World: Work Patterns and Gender Relations in Egypt, Jordan and Sudan, Berg Publishers.
SINGERMAN, Diane & HOODFAR, Homa (eds.) (1993)	Development, Change and Gender in Cairo: A View from the Household, Indiana University Press.
SOLIMAN, Amal Sanaa (1989)	Studies in Female Labour Supply: Egypt, Ph.D. Thesis, The City University, London, United Kingdom.
STAUTH, G. (1990)	'Women, Properties and Migration - Access to Land and Local conflicts in Rural Egypt' in <b>Zeitschrift der Deutschen Morgenlandischen Gesellschaft,</b> 140 (1), 32-50.
SULLIVAN, Earl L. (1986)	Women in Egyptian Public Life, Syracuse University Press, Syracuse.
TAPLIN, R. (1987)	'Women and Work in Egypt- A Social Historical Perspective, in <b>International Sociology</b> , 2 (1), 61-76.
TOTH, J. (1991)	'Pride, Purdah, or Paychecks- what Maintains the Gender Division of Labour in Rural Egypt' in <b>International Journal</b> <b>of Middle East Studies,</b> 23 (2), 213-236.
ZUHUR, Sherifa (1992)	Revealing Reveiling: Islamist Gender Ideology in Contemporary Egypt, Series in Middle East Studies, University of New York Press.

Gender and Education	
ARABSHEIBANI, G. (1990)	'Higher Education and Occupational Status of Women in Egypt' in <b>Journal of Asian and African Studies</b> , 25 (3-4), 213-218.
DARWISH, M. R. M.(1962)	Factors Affecting the Education of Women in the U.A.R. (Egypt): A Historical and Comparative Study of Women's Education Below the University Level, M. A. Thesis, University of London, United Kingdom.
HORBER, Monica (1991)	The Impact of Islam on Women's Education in Egypt, University of Toronto.
SCHLEIFER, Aliah (1994)	'Muslim Women and Education: Historical Foundations and Twentieth Century Egypt' in <b>Muslim Education Quarterly</b> , 11 (3), 5-15.

#### Iran

Gender	
AFKHAMI, Mahnaz & FRIEDAL, Erika (1994)	In the Eye of the Storm: Women in Post- Revolutionary Iran, IB Tauris.
AFSHAR, H. (1985)	'The Legal, Social and Political Position of Women in Iran' in <b>International Journal of the Sociology of Law,</b> 13 (1), 47-60.
AGHAJANIAN, A. (1981)	'Socioeconomics of Female Headed Households in Shiraz, Iran' in International <b>Journal of the Sociology of</b> <b>the Family,</b> 11 (1), 99-104.
AGHAJANIAN, A. (1992) ALI, Parveen Shaukat (1975)	'Status of Women and Fertility in Iran' in Journal of Comparative Family Studies, 23 (3), 361-374. Status of Women in the Muslim World, A Study in the Feminist Movements in Turkey, Egypt, Iran and Pakistan, Aziz Publishers, Lahore.

DARVISHPOUR, M. (1993)	'A Picture of the Deteriorating Situation for Women in Iran' in <b>Sociologisk Forskning,</b> 30 (3), 47-62.			
FATHI, Asghar (ed.) (1985)	Women and the Family in Iran, Social, Economic Studies of the Middle East, Brill, Leiden.			
HAERI, S. (1992)	'Temporary Marriage and the State in Iran- An Islamic Discourse on Female Sexuality' in <b>Social Research</b> , 59 (1), 201-223.			
HEMMASI, M. (1994)	'Gender and Spatial Population Mobility in Iran' in <b>Geoforum</b> , 25 (2), 213-226.			
HIGGINS, P. J. (1985)	'Women in the Islamic Republic of Iran- Legal, Social and Ideological Changes - Comment' in <b>Signs</b> , 10 (3), 477-494.			
MILLER, Y. N. (1986)	'Women and Revolution in Iran' in <b>Sign</b> 11 (4), 806-9.			
MOGHADAM, V. M. (1991)	'The Reproduction of Gender Inequality in Muslim Societies - A Case Study of Iran in the 1980s' in <b>World Development,</b> 19 (10), 1335-1349.			
MOGHADAM, V. M. (1992)	'Patriarchy and the Politics of Gender in Modernizing Societies - Iran, Pakistan and Afghanistan' in <b>International Sociology,</b> 7 (1), 35-53.			
MOGHADAM, V. M.(1995)	'Gender and Revolutionary Transformation - Iran 1979 and East Central Europe 1989' in <b>Gender and</b> <b>Society</b> , 9 (3), 328-358.			
MOGHISSI, Haideh (1994)	Populism and Feminism in Iran: Women's Struggle in a Male Defined Revolutionary Movement, Macmillan Publishers.			
NAJMABADI, Afsaneh (1991)	Women's Autobiographies in Contemporary Iran, Harvard University, Centre for Middle Eastern Studies.			

OBERMEYER, C. M.(1994)	'Reproductive Choice in Islam- Gender and State in Iran and Tunisia' in <b>Studies</b> in Family Planning, 25 (1), 41-51.
PAIDAR, Parvin (1995)	Women and Political Process in Twentieth Century Iran, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
RAZAMANI, N. (1993)	'Women in Iran - The Revolution Ebb and Flow' in <b>Middle East Journal</b> , 47 (3) 409-428.
RAZAVI, S. (1994)	'Agrarian Change and Gender Relations in South- East Iran' in <b>Development and Change</b> , 25 (3), 591-634.
SANASARIAN, Eliz (1982)	Women's Rights Movement in Iran: Mutiny, Assessment and Repression from 1900 to Khomeini, Praeger.
SHOAEE, R. S. (1987)	'The Mujahid Women of Iran - Reconciling Culture and Gender' in Middle East Journal, 41 (4), 519-537.
YEGANEH, N. (1993)	'Women, Nationalism and Islam in Contemporary Political Discourse in Iran' in <b>Feminist Review</b> , 44, 3-18.

Gender and Education			
	'The Creation of New Muslim Woman: Female Education in the Islamic Republic of Iran' in <b>Convergence</b> , 24 (4), 42-52.		
TOHIDI, Nayareh (1984)	Sex Differences in Achievement/Career, Motivation of Iranian Boys and Girls' in <b>Sex- roles</b> , 11 (5-6), 467-84.		

# Iraq

ADILILAIDAD E '1 (1000)	
	Are Iraqi Women More Prestige Conscious than Men? Sex Differentiation in Baghdadi Arabic' in <b>Language in Society</b> , 18 (4), 471-81.

AL-KHAYYAT, Sana Ayoub Sabri (1985)	The Position of Iraqi Women within the Family: With Particular Reference to Married Women, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Keele, United Kingdom.
KHAYYAT, Sana (1990)	Honour and Shame: Women in Modern Iraq, Saqi Books.
MUSTAFA, Adnan Yasin (1990)	Women and Development in an Urban Context: A Study of Women Migrants in Mosil City (Iraq), Ph.D. Thesis, University of Hull, United Kingdom.

#### Jordan

Gender				
BASSON, P. (1981)	'Women and Traditional Food Technologies- Changes in Rural Jordan' in <b>Ecology of Food and Nutrition</b> , 11 (1), 17-23.			
BASSON, P (1982)	'Domestic Productivity in Male- Headed and Female- Headed Households of Rural Jordan' in <b>Ecology of Food</b> <b>and Nutrition,</b> 12 (2), 75-78.			
SHAMI, Seteney (1990	Women in the Arab World: Work Patterns and Gender Relations in Egypt, Jordan and Sudan, Berg Publishers.			

#### Kuwait

Gender		
AL-MUGHNI, Haya (1990)	The Politics of Women's Organisations in Kuwait; A Study of Class, Gender and Patriarchy, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Exeter, United Kingdom.	
AL-MUGHNI, Haya (1993)	Women in Kuwait: The Politics of Gender, Saqi Books.	
ASHKANANI, Zubaydah Ali M. (1989)	Middle Aged Women in Kuwait: Victims of Change, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Durham, United Kingdom.	

TETREAULT, M. A. & ALMUGHNI, H.	'Modernization and Its Discontents- State
(1995)	and Gender in Kuwait' in Middle East
	<b>Journal,</b> 49 (3), 403-417.

Gender and Education			
AL-MISNAD, S. A. (1984)	The Development of Modern Education in Bahrain, Kuwait and Qatar: With Special Reference to Education of Women and their Position in Modern Gulf society, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Durham, United Kingdom.		
CORNELL, M. Louise (1991)	'Looking Forward by Looking Back: Retrospect on Women, Education and Development in Kuwait' in <b>Muslim Education Quarterly,</b> 8 (3), 13-29.		
CORNELL, L.(1976)	Development of Education for Women in Kuwait' in <b>Canadian and International Education,</b> 5 (2), 72-83.		
SHAH, N. M. (et al.) (1991)	'Asian Women Workers in Kuwait' in <b>International Migration Review</b> , 25 (3), 651-667.		
SOLIMAN, Abdalla M. (1989)	'Sex Differences in the Style of College Students in Kuwait' in <b>Journal of Creative Behaviour,</b> 23 (1), 38-45.		

#### Lebanon

Gender				
BRYCE, Jennifer (et al.) (1989)	Life Experiences among Low- income Mothers in Beirut, in <b>Journal of Marriage and the Family,</b> 50 (3), 811-819.			
CHAMIE, M. J. (1983)	'The Status of Working Women in Lebanon- An Analysis of the 1970s' in <b>Population Index</b> , 49 (3), 399.			
JOSEPH, S. (1993)	'Gender and Relationality among Arab Families in Lebanon' in <b>Feminist Studies</b> , 19 (3), 465-486.			

# Libya

Gender			
Gondon			

ABDALLA, Saleh E. & GIBSON,	The Relationship of Exposure to American
Janice T. (1984)	Culture on the Attitude of Libyan Nationals
	towards the Role of Women in the Work force'
	in Contemporary Educational Psychology, 9
	(3), 294-320.

#### Morocco

Gender	
BAKKER, J. (1992)	'The Rise of Female Healers in the Middle Atlas, Morocco' in <b>Social Science and Medicine</b> , 35 (6), 819-829.
BELHACHMI, Zakia (1987)	'The unfinished assignment: educating Moroccan women for development', in <b>International Review of Education,</b> 33(4), 485-494.
COURBAGE, Y. (1991)	'Economy in Recession, Female Activity in Development, and Mortality Decline in Morocco' in <b>Population</b> , 46 (5), 1277-1283.
DYWER, Daisy Hilse (1978)	Images and Self Images: Male and Female in Morocco, Columbia University Press, New York.
HESSINI, Leila (1994)	'Wearing the Hijab in contemporary Morocco' in GOCEK, F. M. & BALAGHI, S. (eds.), <b>Reconstructing Gender in the</b> <b>Middle East,</b> Columbia University Press, 40-56.
MAHER, Vanessa (1974)	Women and Property in Morocco: Their changing Relation to the Process of Social Stratification in the Middle Atlas, Cambridge University Press, London.
NACIRI, R. & BARKALLIL, N. (1989)	The Emancipation of Women in Morocco-Some Statistics' in <b>Corps Ecrit</b> , 31, 153-162.
ROSANDER, Eva Evers (1991)	Women in Borderland: Managing Muslim Identity where Morocco meets Spain, University of Stockholm.

SPRATT, J. E. (1992)	'Women and Literacy in Morocco' in
	<b>Annals of the American Academy of</b>
	<b>Political and Social Science,</b> 520, 122-132.

Gender and Education	
YOUSSEF, Nadia H. (1978)	Women and their Professional Future: An Assessment of Training Needs and Training Programmes in Morocco, Agency of International Development, Washington D. C.
YOUSSEF, Nadia H. (et al.) (1979)	An Evaluation of Non - Formal Educational Programs for Women in Morocco, Agency of International Development, Washington D. C.

## Oman

Gender	
EICKELMAN, Christine (1989)	Women and Community in Oman, New York University Press.
` ` ` '	Behind the Veil in Arabia: Women in Oman, University of Chicago Press.

## **Palestine**

Gender		
ABDALLAH, S. L. (1995)	'Palestinian Women in the Camps of Jordan- Interviews' in <b>Journal of Palestine Studies</b> , 24 (4), 62-72.	
BENDT, Ingela (1982) (trans. from the Swedish by HENNING, A.)	We Shall Return - Women of Palestine, Zed Press, London.	
CERVENAK, C. M. (1994)	'Promoting Inequality- Gender Based Discrimination in UNRWA's Approach to Palestine Refugee Status' in <b>Human Rights Quarterly</b> , 16 (2), 300-374.	
KAWAR, Amal (1996)	Daughters of Palestine: Leading Women of Palestine National Movement, State University of New York.	

MOORS, Annelies (1996)	Women, Property and Islam: Palestinian Experience, 1920-1990, Cambridge University Press.
SAYIGH, R. (1983)	'Women in Struggle- Palestine' in <b>Third World Quarterly,</b> 5 (4), 880-886.
ZUBI, Nanla Abdo (1994)	Family, Women and Social Change in the Middle East: Palestinian Case, Canadian Scholars Press.

## Qatar

Gender	
AL-MUHANNADI, Muneera (1992)	A Socio-linguistic Study of Women's Speech
	in Qatar, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Essex,
	United Kingdom.

Gender and Education	
ABDULLA, Sara Jassim A. (1990)	Education, Social Structure and Social Change in the State of Qatar: With Reference to Education, Recruitment and Career Structures of Women Secondary School Headteachers, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Wales, United Kingdom.
AL KAABI, A. H. M. (1988)	The Effect of Education and Work on Women's Position in Qatar, M.A. Thesis, University of Durham, United Kingdom.
AL-MISNAD, S. A. (1984)	The Development of Modern Education in Bahrain, Kuwait and Qatar: With Special Reference to Education of women and their Position in Modern Gulf society, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Durham, United Kingdom.

## Saudi Arabia

Gender				

ALMETAIR, Amer Nasser (1987)	The Impact of Social Economic Change on Saudi Urban Transportation, Eastern Region: Female Transportation, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Durham, United Kingdom.
ALMUNAJJED, Mona (1995)	Women in Saudi Arabia Today, Macmillan Publishers.
ALSUWAIGH, S. A. (1989)	'Women in Transition- The Case of Saudi Arabia' in <b>Journal of Comparative Family Studies,</b> 20 (1), 67-78.
AREBI, Saddeka (1994)	Women and Words in Saudi Arabia: The Politics of Literary Discourse, Columbia University Press.
ERTURK, Y. (1991)	'Convergence and Divergence in the Status of Moslem Women - The Cases of Turkey and Saudi Arabia' in <b>International Sociology</b> , 6 (3), 307- 320.
RAWAF, M. (1990)	'The Changing Status of Women in Management in the Public Administration in Saudi Arabia' in <b>Public Administration and Development,</b> 10 (2), 209-219.
RAWAF, Monirah (1991)	Women in Public Administration in Saudi Arabia: The Need for Reform, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Bath, United Kingdom.

Gender and Education		
AL-HARIRI, Rafeda (1987)	'Islam's Point of View on Women's Education in Saudi Arabia' in <b>Comparative Education</b> , 23 (1), 51-57.	
AL-RAWAF, Haya Saad (1990)	An Open University for Women in Saudi Arabia: Problems and Prospects, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Loughborough, United Kingdom.	
AL-RAWAF, Haya Saad & SIMMONS, Cyril (1991)	The Education of Women in Saudi Arabia' in <b>Comparative Education</b> , 27 (3), 287-295.	

AL-SHARHAN, Jamal (1994)	'The Use of Audio Visual Aids in Intermediate Stage Schools for Girls in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia' in <b>British Journal</b> of Educational Technology, 25 (2), 84-90.
EL SANABARY, N. (1993)	'The Education and Contribution of Women Health Care Professionals in Saudi Arabia-The Case of Nursing' in <b>Social Science and Medicine</b> , 37 (11), 1331-1343.
EL SANABARY, Nagat (1994)	'Female Education in Saudi Arabia and the Reproduction of Gender Division' in <b>Gender and Education,</b> 6 (2), 141-150.
MALLOUH, Faizah (1991)	Prospective Female Teachers and their Training at Junior Colleges in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Exeter, United Kingdom.
MUJAHID, Ghaz (1987)	'Education for Girls in Saudi Arabia' in <b>Muslim Education Quarterly,</b> 4 (3), 45-74.

# Syria

Gender and Education	
ALRABAA, Sami (1985)	'Sex division of labour in Syrian school textbooks',
	<b>International Review of Education,</b> XXXI (3), 335-348.

## Tunisia

Gender	
ELMECHAT, S. (1982)	'Emancipation, Power and Women of Tunisia (The Creation of Union Nationale des Femmes de Tunisie' in <b>Temps Modernes,</b> 39 (436), 975-1010.
HAYS, P. A. & ZOUARI, J. (1995)	'Stress, Coping and Mental-Health among Rural, Village and Urban Women in Tunisia' in <b>International Journal of Psychology</b> , 30 (1), 69-90.

MARSHALL, S. E. & STOKES, R.G. (1981)	'Tradition and the Veil- Female Status in Tunisia and Algeria' in <b>Journal of Modern African Studies,</b> 19 (4), 625-646.
OBERMEYER, C. M.(1994)	'Reproductive Choice in Islam - Gender and State in Iran and Tunisia' in <b>Studies</b> in Family Planning, 25 (1), 41-51.

Gender and Education	
	'Education of Girls in Tunisia: Policy Implications
	of the Drive for Universal Enrolment' in
	Comparative Education Review, 24 (2-Part 2), pS
	106-S123.

# Turkey

Gender	
AKSU, F. (1984)	'The Position of Women in Turkish- Islam Society' in <b>Monatsschrift Kinderheilkunde</b> , 132 (9), 704.
ALI, Parveen Shaukat (1975)	Status of Muslim Women in the World, A Study in the Feminist Movement in Turkey, Egypt, Iran and Pakistan, Aziz Publishers, Lahore.
ARAT, Y. (1990)	'Islamic Fundamentalism and Women in Turkey' in <b>Muslim World,</b> 80 (1), 17-23.
ARAT, Yesim. (1990)	Patriarchal Paradox: Women Politicians in Turkey, Fairleigh Dickinson University Press.
BERIK, Gunseli (1987)	Women Carpet Weavers in Rural Turkey: Patterns of Employment, Earnings and Status, Women, Work and Development Series, ILO.
BERIK, Gunseli (1989)	'Born in Factories: Women's Labour in Carpet Workshops in Rural Turkey' in <b>International Studies Notes</b> , 14 (3), 62-66.
CINAR, E.M. (1994)	'Unskilled Urban Migrant Women and Disguised Employment - Home Working Women in Istanbul, Turkey' in <b>World Development</b> , 22 (3), 369-380.

GUN, G. (1986)	'The Woman in the Dark Room: Contemporary Women Writers in Turkey' in <b>World Literature Today,</b> 60 (2), 275-279.
HADLER, Sandra (1993)	<b>Turkey: Women in Development,</b> a World Bank Country Paper, World Bank, Washington D. C.
KADIOGLU, A. (1994)	'The Impact of Migration on Gender Roles - Findings of Field Research in Turkey' in <b>International Migration,</b> 32 (4), 533-560.
KAGITCIBASI, C.(1986)	'Status of Women in Turkey- Cross Cultural Perspectives' in <b>International Journal of Middle</b> <b>East Studies,</b> 18 (4), 485-499.
MARCUS, J. (1987)	'Equal Rites and Women in Turkey' in <b>Mankind</b> , 17 (2), 120-128.
MORVARIDI, B. (1992)	'Gender Relations in Agriculture' in <b>Economic Development and Cultural Change,</b> 40 (3), 567-586.
SUNAR, D.G. (1982)	'Female Stereotypes in the United States and Turkey- An Application of Functional Theory to Perception in Power Relationships' in <b>Journal of</b> <b>Cross-Cultural Psychology</b> , 13 (4), 445-460.
TEKELI, S. (1992)	'Europe, European Feminism and Turkey' in <b>Women's Studies International Forum,</b> 15 (1), 139-143.
UNAT, N. Abadan (et al.) (1981)	Women in Turkish Society, Social, Economic and Political Studies in the Middle East, Brill.

Gender and Education	
TANSEL, Aysit (1994)	Wage Employment, Earnings and Returns to Schooling for
	Men and Women in Turkey' in <b>Economics of Education</b>
	<b>Review,</b> 13 (4), 305-320.

## **United Arab Emirates**

Gender	
CREEDON, Pamela. J. (et al.) (1995)	Women and Public Relations Education and
	Practice in the United Arab Emirates' in <b>Public</b>
	<b>Relations Review,</b> 21 (1), 59-76.
,	

JOSEPH, S. (1986)	'The Women of the United Arab Emirates' in
	<b>International Journal of Middle East</b>
	<b>Studies,</b> 18 (4), 501-509. (Review of Soffan,
	q.v.)
SOFFAN, Linda Usra (1980)	The Women of the United Arab Emirates,
	Croom Helm, London.

Gender and Education	
AL-HAMMADI, Abdulaziz A.A. (1995)	Role conflict among Working Women in the United Arab Emirates and its Relationship with Personality Traits and Socio-economic Factors: A Study of Female Preparatory and Secondary School Teachers, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Hull, United Kingdom.
CREEDON, Pamela J. (et al.) (1995)	'Women and Public Relations Education and Practice in the United Arab Emirates' in <b>Public Relations Review,</b> 21(1), 59-76.

## Yemen

Gender	
MAKHLOUF-OBERMEYER, Carla (1979)	Changing Veils - Women and Modernization in North Yemen, Croom Helm, London.
MOLYNEUX, Maxine (1982)	State Policies and the Position of Women Workers in the People's Democratic Republic of Yemen, ILO, Geneva.
MOLYNEUX, M. (1985)	'Legal Reform and Socialist Revolution in Democratic Yemen- Women and the Family' in <b>International Journal of</b> <b>Sociology of Law,</b> 13 (2), 147-172.

Gender and Education	
DUBOK, H.(1990) The Recruitment of Female Agricultural Extension Agents in	
Yemen Arab Republic, M. Phil Thesis, University of	
	Manchester, United Kingdom.

## **Annotations**

#### General

MALIK, Lynda P. (1995) 'Social and cultural determinants of the gender gap in Higher Education in the Islamic World', **Journal of Asian and African Studies**, Vol. 30, 3-4, p. 181-193

This study analysed gender stratification in higher education in Iran, Turkey and Pakistan and found that cultural factors (particularly religion) were much better predictors than structural factors. Realignments of state-class relations were found to be unrelated to the size of the higher education gender gap, which was maximised by the institutionalisation of Islamic religious codes. Malik chose to focus on three countries which represent significantly different aspects of the Islamic tradition. Although Islam emphasises obedience & the conservative view that the proper role of women is in the family rather than the public sphere, and although this creates difficulties for women contemplating independent careers in many Islamic societies, "the nature and the severity of the problems faced by professional women vary from one country to another and are influenced by many factors", (p184). Malik lists among these factors the sacred/secular orientation of the government, the literacy of the population, the class structure of the society and the economic conditions prevalent in the country.

Each of these factors is then examined in the case studies of Iran, Pakistan and Turkey, which whilst nominally Muslim, differ in fundamental ways. In Turkey the gender gap in higher education is minimal. Pakistan and Iran both have high levels of gender stratification in universities. Malik says that these may be explained by the overall low literacy levels prevailing there as well as by the attempts of religious authorities to limit women's participation in public life.

State/class structure also varies: Turkey experienced revolution without however the existing class system being modified. There the traditional elite remained in place, unlike in Iran. In Pakistan there has been no revolution and the traditional elites have retained their position.

The sacred/secular orientation of the three countries also differs. Turkey is officially secular, Iran is a theocratic state and Pakistan is a democracy where fundamentalists, despite not winning elections, nevertheless influence government to institutionalize their Islamizing programmes.

Malik's analysis, she feels, points to cultural factors being more important than

structural ones in determining gender stratification in higher education. In Pakistan and Iran, both with a high degree of gender stratification, Islamic fundamentalist policies have been institutionalized despite the facts that in Pakistan the traditional elites are in power but in Iran have been replaced. In Turkey the degree of gender stratification is low, the state is secular, and the elites remain. In the three countries under consideration, "the sacred/secular dimension consistently overrides class/structural considerations", (p191).

MOGHADAM, Valentine M. (1993) Modernising Women: gender and social change in the Middle East, Lynne Riener, Boulder.

This book, in the series <u>Women and Change in the Developing World</u>, has rapidly found a place as essential reading on student booklists. It deals with social change in the Middle East, North Africa and Afghanistan and "its impact on women's role and status, and women's responses to, and involvement in, change processes", (p.xiii). This is a study from a sociological perspective and the author states in her preface -

"Myths and stereotypes abound regarding women, Islam, and the Middle East. This book is intended in part to "normalise" the Middle East by underscoring the salience of structural determinants other than religion. It focuses on the major social-change processes in the region to show how women's lives are shaped not only by "Islam" and "culture", but also by economic development, the state, class location & the world system", (p.xiii).

There are chapters on economic and political development, and Islamist movements, and a whole chapter each is devoted to the women of Iran and Afghanistan in the two detailed case studies.

Education is considered in the chapter dealing with 'Women, Patriarchy and the Changing Family'. Moghadam points out that -

The persistence or modernisation of patriarchy notwithstanding, the processes of urbanization, industrialization, proletarianization, and mass schooling - so important to the demographic transition, and the decline of classic patriarchy in the West - are present in the Middle East", (p122).

Factors such as the development of groups of educated middle-class woman and also the rapid growth in numbers of unmarried adolescents (as the age of marriage rises) have had great impact. Education, says Moghadam, seems to be a more important variable in changing the position and self-perception of women than is employment. She views the social and political changes under way in the Middle East through a "Marxist-feminist sociological lens", (p. 250). Middle-class women with education and jobs are, she feels playing a pivotal role in change. The fundamentalist backlash is directed at this stratum of women "who collectively symbolise social change in the Middle East", (p250).

### Individual countries

Bahrain Saudi Arabia

#### **Bahrain**

Seikaly, May "Women and Social Change in Bahrain", **International Journal of Middle East Studies**, 26, 1994, 415-426.

The dynamics of rapid change in socioeconomic and political structures in the Arab world, especially in the oil-dependent states of the Arabian Gulf such as Bahrain, have created superficially modem-looking societies without solving the dilemmas which Western modernisation has brought. "Change has come into conflict with the traditional cultural value systems tied to religion that control social behaviour", (p. 416). Seikaly shows how the contradiction between modernisation and cultural/religious authenticity explains the ambivalence shown by political leaders and strategists towards development and how, as a wave of sociopolitical conservation spreads all over the Arab world, Islamic fundamentalist thought is dictating limitations to women's social development.

Women's educational and job opportunities began to grow in the 1970's but Seikaly describes this development as mainly an urban, middle class revolution. In rural areas, there was little change. She sees even the changes in the middle class as very limited as women were unable to establish "practical sociocultural rights for all women, regardless of class", (p421). Modernised young women had unconsciously distanced themselves from the realities of their society and with a political approach which was often elitist, could not reach all strata of women by traditional mechanisms. The article goes on to examine women's educational and job opportunities and their position as regards personal-status law. It concludes that after the liberalising experience of the 1970's and 1980's, the modem return to tradition is the more striking, particularly as it is starting to attract women who once considered themselves politically radical and socially liberal.

#### Saudi Arabia

AL-HARIRI, Rafeda (1987) 'Islam's point of view on Women's Education in Saudi Arabia', **Comparative Education**, 23 (1), 51-57.

and

AL RAWAF, Haya Saad and SIMMONS, C (1991) - 'The education of women in Saudi Arabia', **Comparative Education**, 27 (3), 287 - 295.

These two articles form an interesting pair. Al-Hariri presents the arguments underlying discussion about women's education from a purely Islamic point of view, with supporting quotations from the Quran. She stresses that the Quran encourages rather then forbids the education of women, but that Islam does insist "on keeping women in a position that ensures their stable family life", (p.52). The rapid development of female education in Saudi Arabia since the 1960's has therefore been within a separate educational system directed by the General Presidency for Girls' Education. The economic resources of the country are such that developing parallel systems for boys and girls has not been a financial problem. The rapid development in provision for girls' education is outlined and the author shows how the provision is moulded to be acceptable within an Islamic context:

"the areas of study for male and female students show that the highest number of female students is in the field of humanities, whilst in engineering their number is nil. This indicates that females are taking only subjects which are considered suitable to the nature of Saudi women & in accordance with the basic teaching of Islam", (p.55).

The article by Al Rawaf and Simmons is far fuller and better documented and although it acknowledges the huge growth in the provision of education for girls, it is more objective in pointing out the limitations of that provision in terms of goals and facilities. There are interesting sections on the reinforcement of stereo-typing in textbooks (p. 291) and on Distance Learning for women.

[Previous Page] [Top of Page] [Next Page]

Education research gender, education and development - A partially annotated and selective bibliography - Education Research Paper No. 19, 1997, 250 p.

#### [Previous Page] [Table of Contents] [Next Page]

# **Asia**

#### **Annotation**

General	
Gender	
MOMSEN, Janet and KINNAIRD, Vivian (eds) (1993)	Different Places, Different Voices: Gender and Development in Africa, Asia and Latin America, Routledge, London. (Part 3 is South Asia, Part 4 is South East Asia).

Gender and Education	
JAYAWEERA, Swarna (1987)	"Gender and Access to Education in Asia" in International Review of Education, 33 (4) 455-466.
MAK, Grace C.L. (ed) (1996)	Women, Education and Development in Asia: cross-national perspectives; Garland, New York and London.
SHAH, Madhuri (1986)	Without Women No Development: Selected Case Studies from Asia of Non-Formal Education for Women, Commonwealth Secretariat, London.
UNESCO (1987)	A Framework for Improvement of Educational and Vocational Guidance Services for Girls and Women in Asia and the Pacific; PROAP, Bangkok.
UNESCO (1990)	Functional Literacy and Civic Education among Rural Women, PROAP, Bangkok.
UNESCO (1992)	Promotion of Primary Education for Girls and Disadvantaged Groups, PROAP, Bangkok.
UNESCO (1994)	Women's Participation in Higher Education: China, Nepal and the Phillipines, PROAP, Bangkok.

## **Annotation**

MAK Grace C.L. (1996), **Women, Education and Development in Asia: Cross-National Perspectives,** Garland Publishing, New York and London.

This book is part of a series within the Garland Reference Library, of Social Science known as 'Reference Books in International Education'. It has a very simple structure. Following the editor's Preface there are three parts: East Asia, South-East Asia and South Asia, after which comes an extensive bibliography, list of contributors and index. Its main value lies in being the most recent presentation on this theme in respect of the countries included, and in its straightforward and informative style and format.

The countries included are: The People's Republic of China, Japan, South Korea, Taiwan: Republic of China, Indonesia, Malaysia, Singapore, India, Pakistan and Sri Lanka. As there is very little regional comment, we have decided to include most of the annotations of these chapters under the individual country headings below. We may note, however, a number of interesting omissions which inevitably diminish the capacity of the book to reflect its full title, notably: the whole of South-West Asia and the former Soviet Central Asia, Pakistan, Mongolia, the entire region of India-China, Thailand and The Phillipines. There are a number of others too, of course.

In the brief preface, the author relates the volume to the international development experience of the last two decades, and especially to the issue of linkage between investment in education and economic development. She links this with Asia's development experience, asking three main questions: 'How do its development strategies affect educational policies and woman's status? In a continent largely patriarchal, how have women responded to the increase in educational opportunities? And how do education and development needs combine to affect women's chances in their subsequent lives? Although the bulk of the book comprises ten case studies, four interrelated aspects of schooling are supposed to be addressed throughout: the development experience and its effect on women's status; the types of opportunity now available to women and their differential take up; has educational opportunity enhanced women's capacity to operate in, and influence, the public sphere? the impact of education and economic participation on women's domestic status. Grace Mak concludes in respect of the ten contributions that: "The variation among us precisely reflects the different social contexts in which we, grew up and the ideological and material conditions in which we live today", but for all concerned: "The struggle must continue at both the macro-social and daily life levels".

[Previous Page] [Top of Page] [Next Page]

Education research gender, education and development - A partially annotated and selective bibliography - Education Research Paper No. 19, 1997, 250 p.

[Previous Page] [Table of Contents] [Next Page]

# **South Asia**

Individual countries
Annotations
Individual countrie

Gender	
CHEN, Martha (1995)	"A Matter of Survival: Women's Right to Employment in India and Bangladesh", in: NUSSBAUM Martha and GLOVER, Jonathan (Eds), <b>Women, Culture and Development: a</b> <b>study of human capabilities,</b> Clarenden Press, Oxford, 37-57.
DIXON, Ruth B.(1978)	Rural Women at Work: strategies for development in South Asia, John Hopkins, University Press, Baltimore,
RAJU, Saraswati and BAGCHI, Deipica (1994)	Women and Work in South East Asia, Routledge, London.

Gender and Education	
BHOG, Dipta et al (1994)	"Concreting Concepts: continuing education strategies for women" in <b>Convergence.</b> 27 (2/3), 126-137.
JEFFERY, Roger and BASU, Alaka M. (1996)	Girls' Schooling, Women's Autonomy and Fertility Change in South Asia, Sage, New Delhi.
KHAN, Shahrukh, R. (1989)	Barriers to Female Education in South Asia, World Bank, Washington DC.

NARAYANAN, Aparna (1996)	A Critical Analysis of Literature on Gender, Education and Development: Selected Writings on India and Bangladesh, MSc Dissertation, University of Oxford.
NAYAR, Usha (1988)	Women Teachers in South Asia: Continuities, Discontinuities and Change, Chanakya, Delhi.
UNESCO (1985)	Towards Equality of Educational Opportunity: inter-country exchange of experience (Bangladesh, India, Nepal, Pakistan), PROAP, Bangkok.
UNESCO (1992)	Promotion of Primary Education for Girls and Disadvantaged Groups: PROAP, Bangkok.

## **Individual countries**

<u>Afghanistan</u>

Bangladesh

**Bhutan** 

<u>India</u>

Nepal

<u>Pakistan</u>

Sri Lanka

## **Afghanistan**

The Reconstruction of Afghanistan: a chance for rural Afghan women. United Nations Research Institute for Social Development, Geneva.
Three Women of Herat, Cape, London.
Bartered Brides, politics, gender and marriage in an Afghan tribal society, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

UNESCO (1990)	Status for Women: Afghanistan, PROAP, Bangkok.
WOLFE, Nancy Hatch (1992)	The Present Role of Afghan Refugee Women and Children, Bernard van Leer Foundation, The Hague.

Gender and Education	
MAHMOUD, Mohammad Naim et al (1978)	Study of the Differences of Curricula for Girls and Boys: Democratic Republic of Afghanistan, UNESCO, Paris.

# Bangladesh

Gender	
ABDULLAH, Tahrunessa A. and ZEIDENSTEIN, Sondra A. (1982)	Village Women of Bangladesh: prospects for change, Pergamon, Oxford.
CAIN, Mead, KHANAM, S.R. and NAHAR, S. (1979)	Class, Patriarchy and Women's Work in Bangladesh, Population Council, New York
CHAUDHARY, Rafiqui Huda (1980)	Female Status in Bangladesh, Bangladesh Institute of Development Studies, Dacca.
CHEN, Martha (1986)	A Quiet Revolution: women in transition in rural Bangladesh, BRAC, Dhaka.
ELAHI, K. Maudood (1993)	Gender Relations in Rural Bangladesh: Aspects of Differential Norms about Fertility, Mortality and Health Practices, in: MOMSEN, Janet, and KINNAIRD, Vivian (eds), <b>Different Places, Different Voices: Gender and Development in Africa, Asia and Latin America,</b> Routledge, London, 80- 92.

KHAN, Salma (1988)	The Fifty Percent: women in development and policy in Bangladesh, University Press, Dacca.
LEWIS, David J. et al (1993)	Going it Alone: female-headed households, rights and resources in rural Bangladesh, Centre for Development Studies, University of Bath.
MAJUMDER, Pratimer Paul (1986)	Women, Work and Home, Bangladesh Institute of Development Studies, Dhaka.
SCOTT, Gloria L. and CARR, Marilyn (1985)	The Impact of Technology Choice on Rural women in Bangladesh: problems and opportunities, World Bank, Washington DC.
SOBHAN, Salma (1978)	Legal Status of Women in Bangladesh, Bangladesh Institute of Law and International Affairs, Dacca.
SULTAN, Minus (1994)	"Women's Struggle Against Tradition in Bangladesh" in <b>Convergence</b> . 27 (2/3), 79-85.
WHITE, Sarah C.(1992)	Arguing with the Crocodile: gender and class in Bangladesh, Zed Books, London.
WORLD BANK (1990)	Bangladesh: strategies for enhancing the role of women in economic development, World Bank, Washington DC.

Gender and Education	
AHMED, Monzoor et al (1993)	Primary Education for All: learning from the BRAC experience, Academy for Educational Development, Washington DC.
ISLAM, Shamina (1982)	Women's Education in Bangladesh: needs and issues, Foundation for Research on Educational Planning and Development, Dacca.

LOVELL, Catherine H. and KANIZ, Fatema (1989)	BRAC: non-formal primary education in Bangladesh, UNICEF, New York.
UNESCO (1987)	Universal Primary Education for Girls: Bangladesh, PROAP, Bangkok.
UNESCO (1994)	In Our Own Hands: the story of Saptagram, a women's self-reliance and education movement in Bangladesh, Paris.
WARNER, Rachel (1991)	"Bangladesh is my motherland" in English and Media Magazine, 25, 12-15.

## **Bhutan**

Gender and Education	
, , ,	<b>Education and Gender in Bhutan: a tentative analysis,</b> SNV, Thimpu.

## India

Gender	
ABRAHAM, Taisha (1995)	Female Empowerment: impact of literacy in Jaipur District, Rajasthan, Har-Anad Publications, New Delhi.
ANANDALAKSHMY, S. (1994)	The Girl Child and The Family: an action research study, India University, New Delhi.
DEVASIA, Leela and DEVASIA, V.V. (eds) (1990)	Women in India: equality, social justic and development, Indian Social Institute, New Delhi.
ENGINEER, Asghar Ali (ed) (1995)	Problems of Muslim Women in India: Orient Longman, Bombay.
JAIN, Devika and BANERJEE, Nirmala (eds) (1985)	Tyranny of the Household: investigative essays women's work, Vikas Publishing House, New Delhi.
JEFFREY, Robin (ed) (1992)	Politics, Women and Well-Being: How Kerala became a 'Model'.

KRISHNARAJ, Maithreyi and HANANA, Karuna (eds) (1980)	Gender and the Household Domain: social and cultural dimensions, Sage Publications, London.
MAZUMDAR, Vina (1979)	Symbols of Power: studies on the political status of women in India, Allied Publishers, Bombay.
MENON, Indu M.	Status of Muslim Women in India: a case study of Kerala, Uppal, New Delhi.
MUKHOPADHYAY, Maitrayee (1984)	Silver Shackles: women and development in India, Oxfam, Oxford.
NUNA, Sheel C. (1990)	Women and Development, National Institute of Educational Planning and Administration, New Delhi.
RATHORE, B.S. and CHHABRA, R. (1991)	"Promotion of Women's Entrepreneurship: training strategies" in <b>India National Bank</b> <b>News Review,</b> 7 (8) 31-36.
SEBASTI, L. Raj (ed) (1991)	Quest for Gender Justice: a critique of the status of women in India, T.R. Publications, Madras.
UNICEF (1990)	Children and Women in India: a situational analysis, New Delhi.
UNNITHAN-KUMAR, Maya (1996)	Identity, Gender and Poverty in Rajasthan: experiences of a tribal community, Berghahn Books, Providence.
VARMA, Rameswari (1993)	Assessing Rural Development Programmes in India from a Gender Perspective", in: MOMSEN, Janet and KINNAIRD, Vivian (eds), Different Places, Different Voices: Gender and Development in Africa, Asia and Latin America, Routledge, London, 120-130.

VISHWANATH, Leela (1993)	Social Mobility among Scheduled Caste Women in India: a study of Kerala, Uppal Pub. House, New Delhi.
WORLD BANK (1991)	Gender and Poverty in India, World Bank, Washington DC.

Gender and Education	
AGARWAL, Nandita (1993)	Women, Education and Population in India, Chugh. Publications, Allahabad.
AGGARWAL, Anil (1992)	"Who will help her learn?" in <b>Down</b> to Earth, November 15, 1992, New Delhi.
AGGARWAL, J.C. (1987)	Indian Women: education and status, Arya Book Depot, New Delhi.
AGRAWAL, Suren and AGGARWAL J.C. (1992)	Women's Education in India, Concept Pub. Co. New Delhi.
AGWAN, Abdul Rashid (1993)	"The Educational Profile of Muslim Women in India" in <b>Muslim Education Quarterly,</b> 10 (1), 7-33.
BHASIN, K. (1984)	"The Why and How of Literacy for Women: some thoughts in the Indian context" in <b>Convergence</b> , 17 (4). 37 43.
CHANANA, Karuma, (ed)	Socialisation, Education and Women: explorations in gender identity, Sangam Books, London.
DIGHE, Anita (1995)	Women and Literacy in India: a study in a resettlement colony of Delhi, Education for Development, Reading.
ESKSTAAND, Lars-Henri (1992)	The Future of Non-formal Education for Women in India: problems and suggestions, Lund University, Sweden.

GHOSH, R. (1986)	"Women's Education in the Land of the Goddess Saraswati" in <b>Canadian</b> <b>and International Education,</b> 15 (1). 39-52.
GHOSH, Ratna, and TALBANI, Abdulaziz (1996)	"India", in: MAK, Grace C.L., Women, Education and Development in Asia: Cross- National Perspectives, Garland, New York and London, 165-186.
GOELA, Usha (1989)	Training Schemes for Women in the Government of India, National Institute of Public Cooperation and Child Development, New Delhi.
INDIAN COUNCIL OF SOCIAL SCIENCE RESEARCH (1977)	Critical Issues on the Status of Women: suggested priorities for action, Indian Council for Social Science Research, New Delhi.
INDIRA DEVI M (1987)	Women, Education, Employment: family living: a study of emerging Hindu wives in urban India, Gian Publishing House, Delhi.
JAIN, Anrudh, K, and NAG, Moni (1987)	"Importance of Female Primary Education for Fertility Reduction in India", in: GHOSH, Ratna and ZACHARIAH, Mathew (eds), Education and the Process of Change, Sage, New Delhi, 157-177.
JEJEEBHOY, Shireen J. (1993)	Women's Education and Fertility Behaviour: a case-study of rural Maharshtra, United Nations, New York.
JHARTA, Bhawana (1996)	Women and Politics in India: impact of family and education on women political activists. Deep and Deep Publications, New Delhi.
KABRA, Lalita (1991)	Scheduled Caste Girls: educational backwardness and prospects, Mittal, New Delhi.

KANWAR, Asha S. and JAGANNATHAN, Neela (eds) (1995)	Speaking for Ourselves: women and distance education in India, Manohar Publications, New Delhi.
KANWAR, Asha S. (1991)	"Distance Education for Women's Equality: an Indian perspective" in <b>Journal of Distance Education,</b> 5 (2), 49-58.
KURRIEN, John (1992)	Providing Basic Education for Poor Girls and Women in India: issues and prospects, Centre for Learning Resources, Pune.
MAJUMDAR, P.K. and CHAUDHARI, Buddhadeb (1983)	Faltering First Steps: reasons for disparity of sex-ratio in primary education level, Cosmo Publications, New Delhi.
MATHUR, Y.B. (1973)	Women's Education in India 1913-1966, Asia Publishing House, London.
MAZUMDAR, Vina (1987)	"Education, Development and Women's Liberation: Contemporary Debates in India", in GHOSH, Ratna and ZACHARIAH, Mathew (eds), Education and the Process of Change, Sage, New Delhi, 198-211.
MAZUMDAR, Vina and PANDEY, Balaji (1988)	National Specialised Agencies and Women's Equality; NCERT, Centre for Women's Development Studies, New Delhi.
MIES, Maria and SARKAR, Saral K. (1980)	Indian Women and Patriarchy: conflicts and dilemmas of students and working women, Concept, New Delhi.
MUKHOPADHYAY, Carol C, and SEYMOUR, Susan (eds) (1994)	Women, Education and Family Structure in India, Westview, Colorado.
NAIK, Chitra (1987)	"Educating Rural Girls: a review of an action-research project" in International Review of Education, 33 (4), 495-501.

NAYAR, Usha (1989)	Universalisation of Elementary Education for Girls in India: some basic issues, Women's Studies Unit, NCERT, New Delhi.
NAYAR, Usha (1995)	From Girl Child to Person: a resource material for teachers and headteachers of primary schools in India, UNESCO, New Delhi.
NAYAR, Usha (1995)	Planning for UPE of Girls and Women's Empowerment: Gender Studies in DPEP
PRASAD, Janardan (1995)	Women, Education and Development: a new perspective, Kanishka Publishers, New Delhi.
RAJALAKSHMI, R. (1993)	Higher Education of Women in Modern India: a study of the socioeconomic and political aspects of higher education of Tamil women, Criterion, New Delhi.
REDDY, Redepppa M.C. (1991)	"Women's Education in India: problems and prospects" in <b>Convergence,</b> 24 (4), 35-41.
RHODE, Jon E.(1987)	"Health, Nutrition and Education of Girls in India: an integrated approach" in <b>Journal of Education</b> and <b>Social Change,</b> 1 (3), Pune.
SALDANHA, Lynette (1988)	Information Technology and the Training and Career Development of Women: the case of India, Discussion Paper No. 30, International Labour Office, Geneva.
SHARMA, Prem Lata (1988)	Rural Women in Education: a study in under-achievement, Sterling Publishers, New Delhi.
SRIVASTAVA, V (1978)	Employment of Educated Married Women in India: its causes and consequences, National, New Delhi.

SWARNA LATHA, E.V. (1993)	Women's Education and Occupational Aspirations, Discovery Pub. House, New Delhi.
TALESRA, Hemlata (1989)	Higher Education among Women, National Publishing House, New Delhi.
UNESCO (1982)	Education for Disadvantaged Women, PROAP, Bangkok.
UNESCO (1987)	Universal Primary Education for Girls: India, PROAP, Bangkok.
UNESCO (1989)	Simultaneous Education for Women and Girls: Report of a Project (Uttar Pradesh), PROAP, Bangkok.
UNESCO (1991)	A Study on Access of Women and Girls to Technical Vocational Education in India, Paris.
VARGHESE, Mariamma A. (1990)	Women Administrators in Education, Har-Anand Publications, New Delhi.
VLASSOF, Carol (1994)	"Hope or Despair? Raising Education and the Status of Adolescent Females in Rural India" in International Journal of Educational Development, 14 (1), 3- 12
VOHRA, Roopa and SEN, Arun K.(1989)	Status, Education and Problems of Indian Women, Akshat Publications, Delhi.
WADDIN, J.C. and GOANKAR, V. (1993)	"Educational Status of the Rural Teenage Girls and Some Associated Factors", in: <b>Journal of Education</b> <b>and Social Change</b> (India), 7, 46-

# Nepal

Gender

ACHARYA, Meena and BENNET, Lynn (1983)	Women and the Subsistence Sector, World Bank, Washington DC.
ALLEN, Michael and MUKHERJEE, S.N. (1990)	Women in India and Nepal, Sterling, New Delhi.
DEVKOTA, R.C. (1991)	Policy Approaches of NGO's for mobilisation and interest representation of rural women in the Nepalese context, CESO, The Hague
REID, Holly (1984)	Women and Resource Conservation and Utilisation in Nepal, Centre for Women in Development, Washington DC.
SUBEID, Prativa (1983)	Nepali Women Rising, Women's Awareness Group, Kathmandu.

Gender and Education	
ANDERSON, Jean and JOSHI, Govinda Prasad (1994)	"Female motivation in the patriarchal school: an analysis of primary textbooks and school organisation in Nepal and some strategies for change" in <b>Gender and Education</b> , 6 (2), 183-199.
BAIDYA, Bhuchandra P.R. (1991)	Women and Training for Rural Gainful Activities, I.L.O., Geneva.
CENTRE FOR EDUCATION RESEARCH, INNOVATION AND DEVELOPMENT (1978)	Equal Access of Women to Education Programme in Nepal: an evaluative study.
MANADHAR, Udaya (1994)	"Empowering women and families through literacy in Nepal, in Convergence, 27 (2/3), 102-110.
SCHULZ, Linda Zelda (1994)	"Your daughters are not daughters but sons: field notes on being and becoming a woman teacher in Nepal and in Canada" in <b>Gender and</b> <b>Education,</b> 6 (2) 183-199.
SHRESHTA, Pushpa (1995)	Educated Women in Urban Nepal, B.R. Pub. Corp., Delhi.

TEAS, Molly Maguire (1993)	Increasing Women's Participation in the Primary School Teaching Force in Nepal, The World Bank, Washington DC.
TULADAR, Sumon (1994)	"Participatory video as post-literacy activity for women in rural Nepal" in <b>Convergence,</b> 27 (2/3) 111-118.
UNESCO (1981)	Access of Girls to Education: a review of Nepali experiences with suggestions regarding regional imbalances and socio-economic disparities. Paris.
UNESCO (1987)	Universal Primary Education for Girls: Nepal PROAP, Bangkok.
UNESCO (1990)	Women's Participation in Higher Education: China, Nepal and the Phillipines, UNESCO PROAP, Bangkok.

## **Pakistan**

Gender	
ANWAR, Seemin and BILQUEES, Faiz (1976)	The Attitudes, Environment and Activities of Rural Women: a case study of Jhok Sayalm. Pakistan Institute of Development Studies Islamabad.
HAFEEZ, Sabeeha (1981)	Metropolitan Women in Pakistan: studies, Renissance Publishing House, Delhi.
KHALILQ-UZ-ZAMAN and KHAN, Muhammed	Female Labour Participation in Rural Economy of Punjab, PERI, Lahore.
KHAN, Nighat Said (1985)	Women in Pakistan; a new era? ASR, Lahore.
KHAN, Nighat Said et al (1988)	Income Generation for Women: lessons from the field, Applied Socio- Economic Research. Labore.

MOGHADAM, Valentine (ed) (1994)	Gender and National Unity: women and politics in Muslim societies, Zed, London.
PATEL, Rashida (1991)	Socio-economic Political Status and Women and Law in Pakistan, Faiza, Karachi.
SATHAR, Zeba A, (1993)	Women's Status and Fertility in Pakistan: recent evidence, United Nations, New York.
SHAH, Nasra M. (ed) (1986)	Pakistani Women: a socio-economic and demographic profile, Pakistan Institute of Development Studies, Islamabad.
ZAFAR, Fareeha (ed) (1991)	Finding Our Way: readings on women in Pakistan, ASR, Lahore.
ZIA, Afiya Shehrbano (1994)	Sex Crime in the Islamic Context: rape, class and gender in Pakistan, ASR, Lahore.

Gender and Education	
ACADEMY FOR EDUCATIONAL DEVELOPMENT (1994)	The Primary Education Development Program: Pakistan, AED, Washington DC.
AFTAB, Tahera (1994)	"Fighting litteracy: what works and what doesn't: a case study of female literacy in Pakistan" in <b>Convergence</b> , 27 (4), 25-34.
ANSARI, Z.A. (1980)	Scales for Measuring Attitude of Women towards Male and Female Education, National Institute of Psychology, Islamabad.
BEHRMAN, Jere R. (1995)	Low Schooling and Large Schooling Gender Gaps in Pakistan: market failure?. Centre for Development Economics, Massachusetts.
BUKHARI, M. Maqsud Alam (1986)	Demand and Supply of Primary and Middle Schools Female Teachers in Pakistan (1981-1990), Allama Iqbal Open University, Islamabad.

CHOWDHURY, Kowsar, P.	"Pakistan", in: MAK, Grace C.L. Women, Education and Development in Asia: cross-national perspectives, Garland, New York and London, 187-216.
FARAH, Iffat (1991)	School Ka Sabaq: literacy in a girls' school in rural Pakistan, <b>PENN Working Papers</b> , 7 (2) 59-81.
GHAFOOR, Abdul (1990	Primary Education of the Girl Child in Pakistan, Academy of Educational Planning and Management, Islamabad.
IJAZ, Kishwer (1980)	An Assessment of the Problems of Health, Nutrition, and Education of Rural Mothers and Children, University of Agriculture, Islamabad.
KHAN, Nighat Said (1988)	"Educating Each Other on Women's Development: report of a workshop and development in Pakistan" in <b>Convergence</b> , 21 (4). 35-44.
KHWAJA, Sarfraz (1989)	Basic Education for Females: situation analysis, PanGraphics, Islamabad.
KHWAJA, Sarfraz (1985)	Promotion of Girls Education in the Context of Universalisation of Primary Education, Academy of Educational Planning and Management, Islamabad.
KLEIN, Heinz Gunther (1992)	Women in Pakistan: general conditions, approaches and project proposals for the development and vocational qualifications of women in the province of Punjab, Vanguard Books, Lahore.
NATIONAL CONFERENCE ON ISSUES CONCERNING WOMEN IN EDUCATION (1980)	Papers: National Conference on Critical Issues Concerning Women in Education, Women's Division, Govt. of Pakistan.
O'GRADY, B. (1994)	Teaching Communities to Educate Girls in Balochistan, Academy for Educational Development, Washington, DC.
THE BRITISH COUNCIL (1993)	Workshop on Female Access to Primary Schooling in Pakistan: Programme Materials and Recommendations, Islamabad.

UNESCO (1978)	Universal Primary Education for Girls: Pakistan, PROAP, Bangkok.
WARWICK, Donald P. and JATOI, Haroona (1994)	Teacher Gender and Student Achievement in Pakistan, in: <b>Comparative Education Review</b> 38 (3), 377-399.
ZEENATUNNISA (1989)	Sex Discrimination in Education: content analysis of Pakistani school text books, Institute of Social Studies, The Hague.

## Sri Lanka

Gender	
KIRABAMUNE, Sirima and SAMARASINGHE, Vidyamali eds) (1990)	Women at the Crossroads: a Sri Lankan perspective, Vikas Publishing House, International Centre for Ethnic Studies, New Delhi.
WICKRAMASINGHE Anoja (1993)	"Women's Roles in Rural Sri Lanka", in: MOMSEN, Janet and KINNAIRD, Vivian (eds) Different Places, Different Voices: Gender and Development in Africa, Asia and Latin America, Routledge, London, 159-175.

Gender and Education	
JAYAWEERA, Swaran (1991)	Diversification of Women's Employment Through Training, I.L.O. Geneva.
JAYAWEERA, Swarna (1996)	"Sri Lanka", in MAK, Grace C.L Women, Education and Development in Asia: crossnational perspectives, Routledge, London, 217-244.
SIRIWARDENA, Subhardra (1973)	"The Education of Girls and Women in Ceylon" in <b>International Review of Education,</b> XIX (1), 115-120.

## **Annotations**

#### General

CHEN, Martha (1996) A matter of Survival: Women's Right to Employment in India and Bangladesh, in: NUSSBAUM, Martha and GLOVER, Jonathan (eds). **Women, Culture and Development: a Study of Human Capabilities,** Clarendon Press, Oxford, 37-57.

Martha Chen's contribution to this important volume is a very special one, as it forms a Case Study located as a preliminary to a range of systemic and theoretical discussions on the issue of gender and human capabilities. The wise reader will take the opportunity to digest the realities described and analysed in this case study and set them against the wider discourse.

In the author's own words: 'This paper explores the predicament of poor women in poor economies, like Saleha Begum (Bangladesh) and Metha Bai (India), who must break with tradition and act independently because they lack the security the tradition is supposed to offer. "In communities where women are secluded, perhaps the most conspicuous and yet necessary way for women to break with tradition is to leave their courtyards or homesteads in search of work". Despite the fact that the constitutions of Bangladesh and India guarantee women equal employment opportunities with men, for many of them the system of seclusion denies them such opportunities.

Martha Chen describes how the 1974 famine in Bangladesh prompted some women to defy tradition and join the work force. The focus is on the increasing phenomenon of female-headed households and their interaction with the wider community and international aid activities. The Indian case is further complicated by immense variety as between castes, where aspiration to (social) status forms an additional constraint on gainful employment outside the home. The author analyses these situations in respect of four issues: the survival imperative; female mortality rates; women's status; human justice. She concludes that: "The demand that women be allowed to abandon seclusion and seek gainful employment outside the home should not be seen as an outside challenge to local culture and tradition but as a local response to changes in local culture and tradition".

Consequently, all women should have a right to gainful and just employment, especially in marginalised and developing economies. This is an essential human good and should be seen positively by insiders and outsiders alike.

## Individual countries

Bangladesh India Pakistan Sri Lanka

#### **Bangladesh**

CHEN, Martha, (1986) Quiet Revolution: women in transition in rural Bangladesh, BRAC, Dhaka.

Martha Chen describes and evaluates the efforts of one agency in Bangladesh to reach poor village women with projects designed to increase their material and social resources. The book details the social and economic roles of these women and conveys with immediacy the empirical base of the BRAC (Bangladesh Rural Advancement Committee) experience. The growth and development of BRAC's approach to community development are described. The early approach was based on the assumptions that a) the rural masses are passive and need to be conscientised; b) their attitudes can be changed through education and training; c) the village communities, although not homogenous, can be organised to work cooperatively. The lack of success of the programmes prompted BRAC to conduct research analysis based on their collective field experience. Their findings led to a transformation in their approach to community development and to a radically new set of assumptions. It began to understand that the village is not a unified community but a set of sub-groups with conflicting interests. The rural power structure affects access to power and distribution of resources. The most important policy change in the light of these new findings was that in order to address the rural power structure, the capacities of and institutions for the poor and powerless must be developed through collective socio-economic action. The selection of poor and marginal women as the target group for a particular BRAC project led to the realisation that education is an essential, but not the most crucial, factor in improving the status of these women. Yet the critical importance of education is acknowledged. The changes that the women experienced in their lives after joining BRAC's program are described by the women in informal interviews with the author. These include changes in relationships, in attitudes, in the resources they have access to or control of and, most critically, in their access to and exercise of power. Chen concludes by trying to identify the reason for the poor results of the development efforts of the past two decades. The fact that women were overlooked and that women's work was not valued may explain the relative lack of success of these efforts. The actual and potential contribution of women to national development should be addressed in development planning and practice.

This remarkable book describes a particular programme of an NGO that has now

gained international recognition for the efficacy of its development efforts. Its great strength is the author's own involvement in the designing and implementation of the projects that are described. The BRAC experience is conveyed with immediacy, and this is reinforced by including the women's opinions on key issues in the course of informal group and individual interviews. We are given an insight not only into programmes that succeeded but into earlier approaches which had to be modified because of their shortcomings. The conclusions of the evaluation of the early approaches, most importantly, that the concept of a unified village "community" may have no basis in reality, is of great significance to future development practices. The author makes an impassioned argument for incorporating a gender perspective into all development planning. There is little doubt that this extremely readable book is useful to the academician and practitioner alike.

# WHITE, Sarah C. (1992) **Arguing with the Crocodile: gender and class in Bangladesh,** Zed Books, London.

The issue of social stratification is exhibited by gender and by class, and its relevance to development policy. It is based on field research in a village called Kumirpur in Bangladesh including case studies of thirty households. The book involves a comparative study of men and women's contribution to households' socio-economic relations. Aspects of the daily life of the people are examined, including women's relationship with men and other women, employment relations between women, the organisation of the family household, and other forms of interaction. The principal argument of the book is that it is untrue that gender relations are set, as many "women and development" approaches assume. Rather gender is a "contested image". This approach to gender shifts the focus from women as an exclusive group, to the actual ways in which women and men manipulate definitions of identity according to their own interests. An important outcome of this approach is that women are no longer conceived of as passive victims, and the study of gender relations is opened up to examine women's exercise of power. The study of access to, and exercise of, power is critical to an understanding of social relations. White's research looks in detail at what happens in the home, how women conceive of their own interests and how notions of gender figure in interpersonal negotiations of power. Relationships between classes and between gender groups are not always based on conflict but show complex negotiations of mutual gain and shared interest. The notion of flexible identities is most clearly seen in family household and patron-client relationships. The family household gives people a common identity and common interests, but also divides them into specific roles and places in the hierarchy. Similarly, patron-client relationships (between men, between women, and between men and women) show elements of contradiction and solidarity. The implication of this is that future gender-oriented research requires a more sensitive comparative approach that includes both sexes in its analysis of social relations. White emphasises that it is not enough to simply classify societies as more or less equal depending on the status of women, but to explore the complexities of the nature of

#### differentiation:

White's book makes important contributions to the gender and development discourse. Her field work in Kumirpur and detailed case studies of thirty households gives her a unique perspective on the subject of gender relations in rural Bangladesh. The stereotype of a monolithic female identity is undermined, and the fact that relations between members of the same class or gender group are often characterised by conflict is highlighted. The most critical insight that this book provides is that future genderoriented research cannot look at the question of female status in isolation from that of males. Her observations relating to "the flexibility of identity" show that women have the room to manoeuvre around cultural prescriptions relating to gender norms. A comparative approach that integrates the relative position of men and women in the social order will help us to identify not only the differences between gender norms, but between norms and practice, and within gender identities. Such an approach reveals that women are not always the passive victims they are often depicted as. The issue of gender identity and its impact on socio-economic relations cannot be understood through convenient generalisations. It is a noteworthy addition to the literature on gender and development.

#### India

AGGARWAL, J.C. (1987) **Indian Women: Education and Status,** Arya Book Depot, New Delhi.

Aggarwal relies on political documents to trace the history of women's education in India. This historical survey focuses on central government efforts in the postdependence period to tackle the issues relating to women's education. Thus, it describes the findings and recommendations of centrally appointed committees on women's status and education, including the National Committee on Women's Education (1959); the Committee on Differentiation of Curricula for Girls and Boys (1961); the Committee to look into the Causes for lack of Public Support particularly in rural areas for Girls' Education and to enlist Public Cooperation (1963); Committee on the Status of Women in India (1971); and the National Committee on Co-education (1974). Lastly it examines the chapter of the National Policy on Education and Programme of Action (1986) devoted to education for women's equality. The National Policy on Education envisages that education will be used as a strategy for achieving a basic change in the status of women. The national education system will, therefore, play a positive interventionist role in the empowerment of women; contribute towards the development of new values through redesigned curricula and textbooks; promote women's studies as a part of various courses; and widen the access of women in programmes of vocational, technical and professional education.

Aggarwal's book gives a factual account of government policy towards women's education in the post-Independence era. The title of the book is, however, rather misleading. A descriptive review of the reports of various committees cannot be said to discuss the issue of Indian women's education and status. The book does not explore the interaction between the educational levels of women and their socio-economic status. This is a complex issue with important consequences for policy-makers but the book fails to address it. It offers no real insight into how the status of women determines their access to educational pursuits, or into how access to education has influenced their position in society. It is not within the scope of a historical survey of committee reports to address issues of such complexity. The choice of title for the book is, therefore, perplexing. A less factual and more analytical approach would have illuminated the issue of female education in India in a more meaningful way. As it is, the book only serves the purpose of familiarising the reader with governmental reports relating to Indian women's education.

CHANANA, Karuna (ed) (1988) **Socialisation, Education and Women: explorations in gender identity,** Sangam Books, London.

This is a collection of essays that explores the effect of education and socialisation on the changing status of Indian women. The various articles in the volume reveal that not only do Indian family and social structure socialise women in keeping with tradition, "patriarchal" norms, but that this socialisation is reinforced by the educational system itself. Leela Dube writes in "On the Construction of Gender: Hindu girls in patrilineal India", that Hindu rituals, ceremonies, language and practices inculcate in young girls the notions of self-restraint, self-denial, service of temporary membership within the natal home. Similarly, Zarina Bhatty's article "Socialising of the Female Muslim Child in Uttar Pradesh" points out that the legal and social inequalities of Muslim women in reflected in the socialisation of Muslim female children in India from an early age to the established norms and practices. This socialisation is often reinforced by the educational system. Karuna Chanana's essay "Social Change or Social Reform: women, education and family in pre-independence India", states that supporters of women's education promoted the idea of traditional role reinforcement through the curricula women were to receive an education largely to be better wives and mothers. In "Women's Nature and Access to Education in Bengal", Malvika Karlekar shows how traditional notions on the constitution of "women's nature" have circumscribed female access to education from its beginnings in the 19th century up to date. There is a commonality of views among policy makers that there is a potential conflict between the demands of education and what they perceive as the "essential nature" of women.

This collection of essays by Indian writers is a valuable addition to the literature on gender and education in India. It not only analyses the sociology of female education in India, but also critically examines the contribution of education to improving women's status in India. The essays indicate that patriarchal structures severely retard the options

and opportunities available to women. The point about the negative influence of patriarchal ideology and its attendant socio-religious customs on female education is made by virtually every writer in this collection of essays. Unlike many books on gender and education in India, it does not unquestioningly accept education of women as the panacea to the ills that beset Indian society. Rather than challenging the traditional socialisation of young women by family and community, education has often served to reinforce the status quo. There are, however, two noticeable omissions in the book. The observations on the socialisation of girls and young women would have been strengthened by some information on that of boys and young men. Secondly, more concrete micro-level data would have strengthened the arguments about the nature of socialisation of Indian women and the role of education in reinforcing traditional stereotypes. As it stands, many of the articles owe more to historical records and personal experience, and less to empirical research and case studies. The book, however, highlights the problematic nature of female education in India which makes it a valuable addition to the existing literature in this area.

# MUKHOPADHYAY, C.C. and SEYMOUR, Susan (eds) (1994) Women, Education and Family Structure in India, Westview, Colorado.

This collection explores the linkages between women's participation in formal education and the fundamental institutions of family, kinship and marriage. They comment that there is in India an ongoing tension between pressures that increase the desirability of education for women and traditional structures that constrain women's education in order to preserve a set of social institutions that they term patrifocal family structure and ideology. This collection of essays reveals that male-oriented structures and beliefs profoundly affect women's lives and, hence, their access to education and educational achievement. They examine the reciprocal relationship between patrifocal family system and ideology, and women's educational participation and achievement. Steve Derme's essay, "Arranging Marriages: how fathers' concerns limit women's educational achievements" explores how Indian fathers' concerns with their daughters' marriageability effectively limit their daughters' educational aspirations. Carol Mukhopadhyay's article, "Family Structure and Indian Women's Participation in Science and Engineering", finds that the different obligations of sons versus daughters towards their natal families leads to differences in how families view educational achievements, especially in scientific fields, for girls and boys. In "Schooling for What? The Cultural and Social Context of Women's Education in a South Indian Muslim Family", by Sylvia Vatuk shows that women played a pivotal role in accessing education for other females in the family. In this family, cross-age and intergenerational female support networks promoted schooling for girls, whether supplementing the efforts of those males who also favoured education for women or providing opposition to those who resisted. The essay by Susan Seymour, "Women, Marriage and Educational Change in Bhubaneshwar, India: a twenty-five year perspective", shows that middle and upper status residents of Bhubaneshwar responded

very positively to the new educational opportunities for women and men. Even among middle and upper status families change has been more dramatic where a more class-based system of social stratification exists. Residence in traditional caste-based neighbourhoods with large extended patrifocal families has kept the forces of change that female education could potentially produce, under control.

This volume provides remarkable insight into the ways in which variations in family structure influence the issue of female access to, and achievement in, education. Contributors explore the impact that the cultural norms of a patrifocal society have on girls' schooling. The male bias in patrifocal norms and ideology are translated into educational approaches that favour sons. The education of girls beyond a certain level is seen as socially problematic, and concerns about "marriageability" limit the educational choices available to women. The shortcoming of the book is that the ethnographic data is almost exclusively taken from urban and upper class/caste samples. The research findings would have been strengthened if data from rural and lower class/caste families had been utilised to see what light they shed in the linkages between family structure and female education. The anthropological-sociological approach, however, will be indispensable in informing future research on the issue of gender and education.

MUKHOPADHYAY, Maitrayee (1984) Silver Shackles: women and development in India, Oxfam, Oxford.

Mukhopadhyay makes the case that the definition and content of development programmes should be re-examined. Her analysis of development policies in India shows that with the attempt at rapid 'modernisation', and the neglect of integrated rural development, women have lost their productive role in the economy and have been displaced from the process of development. The issues that Mukhopadhyay discusses in relation to the status of women are social organisations, population ratios, access to education, economic contribution, non-governmental organisations and public policy. She argues that the social structure derives its resilience to change from the cultural norms that sustain it, and so there remains a gap between the changes that are planned and the changes that have resulted. The aspects of social organisation which have hindered the process of social change in the role of women are discussed; and these include patriarchy, the joint family system, socialisation of the young, marriage, marriage rites, dowry polygamy and religion. The book discusses at length the issue of women's education and employment, and their impact on women's status. Mukhopadhyay observes that the problem of illiteracy in India is primarily a problem of female illiteracy; and female illiteracy is basically a problem of illiteracy among rural women, particularly those from scheduled caste and tribal families. The majority of women are beyond the ambit of formal education, and the only alternative is to involve them in non-formal education. She criticises formal education as it exists in India today as elitist. In a critique of women's role in the economy, it is pointed out that lack of education and skill denies women access to employment which results in their

displacement from the labour market. Also, the course of economic development in the past two decades has eroded the economic role of women. Technological innovation in both the organised and unorganised sectors of the economy has not been sensitive to women's roles and needs, and has instead tended to increase women's displacement from the process of development. Mukhopadhyay's analysis shows that public policy betrays an essentially middle-class bias which assumes women are primarily homeworkers. Programmes to "integrate women in the development process" ignore the reality that most women already contribute a large amount to development but their contribution is not recognised.

Mukhopadhyay's book is a small but nevertheless significant addition to the literature on gender and development in India. The arguments of the book are sustained both by statistical evidence and interviews with individual women. It details the causes of the deteriorating status of the majority of Indian women, discusses the reasons behind this and puts forward recommendations for the future. The major strength of the book is the critique of certain so-called development practices that have, in fact, had a negative impact on women. It emphasises that development programmes should be more sensitive to the needs of women. This slim text discusses in a thought-provoking manner the major issues relating to women's development in India. It also indicates the policy changes that are requires to rid women of the shackles that have bound them for so long.

GHOSH, Ratna and TALBANI, Abdulaziz (1996), India in: MAK, Grace C.L. **Women, Education and Development in Asia: Cross-National Perspectives,** Garland Publishing, New York and London, 165-186.

The position of women in India is complex because of regional, cultural, and religious differences and sharp socioeconomic disparities. A very small number of women are educated and visible in positions of power and prestige, while the vast majority, whose basic concern is survival, are illiterate, powerless and vulnerable. Despite a fair degree of freedom long ago in the Vedic age, it was not until the immediate post-independence period of 1947 that any modem impetus was evident in support of opportunities for women, whether economic or educational. Only about 8 per cent of females were literate in 1947. The Constitution of 1950 began to recognise human rights, but neither this nor the education system strikes at the structures of patriarchal subordination. It is not so much an issue of educational opportunity here as one of keeping women in their traditional social roles.

Despite the massive expansion of popular education since 1947, in 1990 the female literacy rate had only reached about 25 per cent nationally and 18 per cent in rural areas. This chapter goes on to detail the situation of gender and education in India according to standard indeces: enrolment at different levels, wastage, distribution by field of study etc. Very few women are in the workforce in official terms but a minority

hold high and prestigious positions in academia. In the Civil Service, though, they represent only about 6 per cent of employees.

Although there are enormous disparities in respect of girls' education in India, it is generally the case that lack of special facilities is often a key factor in enrolment. Norms that disapprove of co-education lead to the withdrawal of girls, while lack of safe access constrains participation even when it is condoned. Within this generally negative scene there are areas of high participation and achievement where several factors (eg. matriarchy, mission legacies and socialism) come together (eg. Kerala, Meghalaya and North Punjab). Outside of these areas, the minority of women who have higher education use it to improve their social position in the present structure without changing the hierarchical structure itself. They go into the teaching profession in large numbers because, particularly at the lower levels, this is an extension of their traditional roles: a convenient combination of domestic and occupational spheres. The majority of women do not, or cannot, exercise their rights in education and society because social and structural changes produced by modernization and the egalitarian ideology since independence have not been accompanied by parallel changes in values and attitudes towards women.

#### **Pakistan**

THE BRITISH COUNCIL (1993) Workshops on Female Access to Primary Schooling in Pakistan: Programme, Materials and Recommendations, Islamabad.

This report arises from a national workshop convened by The British Council in collaboration with the Pakistan Ministry of Education and NORAD. It is organised under a number of sub-heads and sections: general papers; cultural and social influences on girls participation in primary education; co-education at primary level; appropriate infrastructures for the fostering of girls' education; the role of NGOs and the private sector in respect of female education. Overall there are 33 papers in this report, distributed fairly evenly over the five sections identified above. Of these 33 papers, only four are contributed by outsiders - all from the UK - so that the bulk of the report is indigenous and derives from the personal experiences and critical observations of the leading female scholars and professionals of the country itself.

It is not possible to summarise all the papers here, or even the key ones, but it is possible to identify major themes that are strongly represented or tend to recur. One of these is the issue of adult education and the significance of maternal literacy. While progress needs to be made in providing more schooling opportunities for girls, there must be a parallel effort to promote appropriate forms of literacy for mothers of today's young children. Ideally, as Fayyaz Bager's paper shows, there needs to be created a sustainable model for universal female literacy, and that the most crucial factor within

this is the availability of local teachers. If this issue, and it is concerned with female teachers, can be successfully addressed then much of the cultural and social constraint will be overcome. This is linked with the contentious issue of co-education. Five papers discuss how far it can be applied to primary schooling in Pakistan. The paper by Humala Khalid argues for its promotion and therefore for reversing the current pattern of male teachers at this level - they represent some 70 per cent of the primary teachers in Pakistan.

Female participation in primary education is also constrained by inadequate infrastructures. For some of the papers in this section this also means the provision of appropriate teachers, but there is also discussion of such aspects as the state of the buildings, the provision of acceptable sanitation facilities, school walls, roads and forms of communication. With rural areas of Pakistan being among the poorest in the world, these physical factors are very influential one way or the other in affecting parental decisions. Finally, several papers outline interesting innovations and projects in specific areas, mostly involving **NGOs** but also the private sector.

With the size of the population of Pakistan being what it is, and the rate of increase being maintained, both private and public sectors must work together in addressing the problem of female participation, along with the crucial contribution of both external and local NGOs.

AFTAB, Tahera (1994), Fighting Illiteracy: What Works and What Doesn't: A Case Study of Female Literacy in Pakistan, **Convergence** 27 (4), 25-34.

This was one of the most significant papers presented at the Cairo Conference of 1994. The author states that since independence in 1947 there has been an underinvestment in people in Pakistan, and especially in females. She presents the paper ". to study the complex, often subtle, ways in which norms and traditions deprive women of the autonomy to which all human beings are entitled, and on which social and economic development ultimately depends."

Illiteracy is highlighted as a major problem. For the women of Pakistan, illiteracy means segregation, the creation of a separate world doomed by poverty, deprivation and oppression. By 1990, the female literacy rate was only 22 per cent. A major cause, for male and female alike, of high rates of illiteracy is the accessibility of schooling, but for social and cultural reasons this constrains girls more than boys. Even once enrolled in primary schools, about 60-70 per cent of girls drop out in the face of the pressures of parental concern, economic need for their contribution to survival, and direct discrimination.

At the adult education level, the gender constricted position of women in Pakistan

varies over an extremely wide range of programmes and skills, but it is always evident. Why is the growth of female literacy in Pakistan so slow? The author identifies the following factors by way of explanation: negative attitudes of the family at birth; low societal status; continued feudalism; patriarchy; an obscurantist view of Islam which supports male vested interests; restricted mobility; low perception of female potential leading to low enrolments in schools (where they exist) and high wastage rates; poor quality literacy materials, again, where they exist at all. Working from an earlier (1991) study of the causative factors of female illiteracy, the author illustrates that among the sample studied (c 1000) from low income localities in Karachi, most girls- c 76 per cent - had never been to school. Major factors were identified as: poverty; cultural blockages; the opposition of fathers to daughter's schooling; lack of interest among girls in education.

Despite this picture of widespread low self-esteem and low ascribed status the Karachi study showed that at least 70 per cent of the girls wanted to study and hope to do so one day through acquiring literacy skills. Clearly in Pakistan the combination of rural and the urban poor in one of the world's least developed economies represents a massive challenge for the young of both sexes, but in trying to respond they begin from different starting lines - the girls having to do more to reach the goal.

CHOWDHURY, Kowsar P. (1996) Pakistan, in: MAK, Grace C.L. **Women, Education and Development in Asia: Cross-National Perspectives,** Garland Publishing, New York and London, 187-215.

Like India, Pakistan inherited its modem education system on independence in 1947, by which time ancient traditions of educational opportunity for females had been drastically eroded. This situation has been further enhanced by increasing economic disparity between rich and poor, urban and rural and to some extent between ethnic groups. Within this generally worsening situation for the poorer sections of society the welfare and productivity of women in Pakistan rank almost the lowest in the world.

This chapter recognises four main categories of indicators of women's welfare, productivity and therefore, status: mortality rate and life expectancy; human resources development - including education; women's role in lowering the birth rate; participation in the economy and contribution to household income. In summary, and put together, these four indices show a picture of a strikingly negative sex ratio in female terms due to dire health circumstances; very low educational status, therefore virtually no human resource development; inability to help reduce the birth rate or to make any telling contribution to economic growth, even at local level.

The situation had not been addressed in any significant way until the Sixth Five Year Plan (1983-88) which officially endorsed the integration of women into national

development. Targets were set to increase female participation in primary education to 60 per cent, and the female literacy rate to nearly 50 per cent. In practice these targets have not been achieved. Subsequent plans and measures have also, in general, failed to make a significant impact.

This chapter proceeds to detail the various areas in which female disadvantage is normally evident (enrolment, participation, wastage etc), and identifies negative sociocultural attitudes and widespread grinding poverty as the main causes for the patterns of inequality that continue to exist. Some of the barriers could be overcome if culturally acceptable facilities existed that were accessible to girls. In short: "... girls do not enrol in schools because there are no schools for them" (p 119). It is the lack of schools rather than cultural inhibitions that is the single most important reason for the low rate of female enrolment in Pakistan. Negative parental attitudes (mothers as well as fathers), and poverty are cited as the next most important factors.

The chapter goes on to examine female participation in the labour force, in parenting and in politics, with evidence, not surprisingly of the constraining effect of lack of education in all areas. By highlighting this situation, the author is anxious not to undermine the importance of education, and concludes that female access and attainment must be enhanced. It is not only because women's education increases social and economic returns, but also because it is a fundamental human right.

#### Sri Lanka

JAYAWEERA, Swarna (1996), Sri Lanka in: MAK, Grace C.L. (ed) **Women, Education and Development in Asia: Cross-National Perspectives,** Garland Publishing, New York and London, 217-244.

This review of education and development in Sri Lanka from a gender perspective takes into account a number of social science theories by exploring three facets of the education and development interface as it affects women: gender based distribution of educational opportunity, the relationship between education and female labour force participation, and the impact of education on gender roles and relations within the family.

After a description of the phases of Sri Lankan development: traditional, colonial and postcolonial, this article details the progress of education in recent decades. Since the 1960s educational and social policies have been implemented without gender differentiation. For example, the percentage of women students in the universities increased from 10 per cent in 1942 to 44 per cent in 1970. By 1918 literacy rates for females were 83 per cent as compared with 90 per cent for males. Distance from school is no problem, and the vast majority of schools are co-educational. There is an absence

of oppressive social practices, but poverty continues to be a barrier to educational opportunity, Structural adjustment policies have resulted in a deterioration in the quality of education in the 1980s and 1990s.

Although access and enrolment have remained relatively equal, there has been an increasing disparity in quality as between the rural and urban areas. District-wide disparities in education participation also underscore the disadvantaged situation of girls in remote and plantation locations. Social class is the major determinant of access but this in turn relates to gender. Nonetheless the participation of females at all levels has maintained an impressive profile wherever socio-economic circumstances permit.

Despite such a record there is one area of education where female disadvantage is evident, namely technical and vocational training. This derives from gender-specific curricular demarcation at school level and leads on to influence the labour market, so that high levels of achievement be girls do not relate positively to human resource development. Indeed unemployment rates among women have risen higher than those of men in the last two decades.

The author summarizes the current situation in the following terms: "A dichotomous perception of social and economic development has eroded some of the benefits of education that should have accrued to women in the labour force and in the family environment. Nevertheless, education has been perceived often in Sir Lanka as a basic human right as well as an instrument of gender equity and social justice."

[Previous Page] [Top of Page] [Next Page]

Education research gender, education and development - A partially annotated and selective bibliography - Education Research Paper No. 19, 1997, 250 p.

[Previous Page] [Table of Contents] [Next Page]

### **South East Asia**

Brunei

Cambodia

Indonesia

Laos

Malaysia

Myanmar

Papua New Guinea

**Phillipines** 

**Singapore** 

**Thailand** 

Vietnam

**Annotations - Individual countries** 

### Brunei

Gender and Education			
YUSOF, Jamilah (1993)	An Investigation into Attitude of Secondary School		
	Students in Brunei towards Mathematics by Gender and		
	Grade Level.		

**BURMA** (see MYANMAR)

### Cambodia

Gender	
LEDGERWOOD, Judy (1990)	<b>Changing Khmer Conceptions of Gender: women,</b>
	stories and the social order, UMI, Ann Arbour.

G	Gender and Education				
F	ISKE, Edward B. (1995	Using Both Hands: women and education in			
		Cambodia, Asian Development Bank, Manila.			

## Indonesia

Gender	
GERKE, Solvay (1992)	Social Change and Life Planning of Rural Javanese Women, Breitenbach, Saarbrucken.
HELLKIG, Tineke (1994)	Adjustment and Discontent: representation of women in the Dutch East Indies, Netherlandic Press, Windsor.
TOLLENAERE, Herman (1996)	The Politics of Divine Wisdom, Theosophy and Labour: national and women's movements in Indonesia and South Asia 1875-1947, Ratholieke Universiteit, Nijmegen.
PRABOWO (1982)	An Empirical Analysis of the Effects of Income and Education on Fertility in Indonesia, Council for Asian Manpower Studies, Quezon City.
WARNER, Lavinia and SANDILANDS, John (1982)	Women Beyond the Wire, Hamlyn, Feltham.
WIERINGAM Saskia (1995)	The Politicisation of Gender Relations in Indonesia: the Indonesian Women's Movement and Gerwani Until the New Order State, thesis, Amsterdam.
WOLF, Diane Lauren (1992)	Factory Daughters, Gender, Household Dynamics and Rural Industrialisation in Java, University of Calif. Press, Berekeley.

Gender and Education				
ODEY-GARDINER, Mayling and "Indonesia", in: MAK, Grace, C.L. (ED				
SUPRAPTO, Riga-Adewoso (1996)	Women, Education and Development in Asia: cross-national perspectives,			
	Garland, New York and London, 95-118.			

## Laos

Gender	
NATIONAL UNION OF LAO WOMEN (1989)	Status of Women: Laos, UNESCO, PROAP, Bangkok.
NGAOSYVATHN, Pheuiphanh (1993)	Lao Women: yesterday and today.
NGAOSYVATHN, Mayoury (1990)	On the Edge of the Pagoda: Lao women in Buddhism, York University, Toronto.
RAKOW, Meg (1990)	Women in Lao Morality Tales, University of Hawaii at Manoa, Manoa.

# Malaysia

Gender	
ARRIFIN. Jamilah (ed) (1994)	Reviewing Malaysian Women's Status: country report in preparation for the Fourth World Conference on Women, University of Malaya. Kuala Lumpur.
AFFRIN, Jamilah (1992)	Women and Development in Malaysia, Pelanduk Publications, Selangor.
AFFRIN, Jamilah (ed) (1994)	Reading on Women and Development in Malaysia, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur.
AFFRIN, Jamilah et al (ed) (1994)	Poverty Amidst Plenty: research findings and the gender dimension in Malaysia, Pelanduk.
BUANG, Amirah (1993)	"Development and Factory Women: negative perceptions from a Malaysian source area", in: MOMSEN, Janet and KINNAIRD, Vivian, Different Places, Different Voices: gender and development in Africa, Asia and Latin America. Routledge, London, 197-210.

CONSUMER ASSOCIATION OF PENANG (1982)	Abuse of Women in the Media, Consumers Association of Penang, Penang.
KING AL, Yun et al (1984)	Women in Malaysia, Pelanduk Publications, Selangor.
HONG, Evelyn (ed) (1983)	Malaysian Women: problems and issues, Consumers Association of Penang, Penang.
JAHARA, Yahaya (1991)	Women's Participation in Small Scale Ruminant Enterprise: a case study of three FELDA schemes in Negeri Sembilan, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur.
MANDERSON, Leonore (1980)	Women, Politics and Change: the Karim Ibu UMNO, Malaysia 1945-1972, OUP, Kuala Lumpur.
NG. Cecilia and YONG, Carol (1990)	Malaysian Women at the Crossroads, Change, International Reports, London.
RAJA ROHANA RAJA, Mahat (1991)	The Role and Status of Malay Women in Malaysia: social and legal perspectives, Dewan Bahasa dan Pustaka, Kuala Lumpur.
STIVENS, Maria et al (1949)	Malay Peasant Women and the Land, Zed Books, London.
STIVENS, Maria (1985)	Women and Development in South East Asia II: sexual politics in Remban, female autonomy, matriliny and agrarian change in Negeri Sembilan, Malaysia, University of Kent, Canterbury.
STRANGE, Heather (1981)	Rural Malay Women in Tradition and Transition, Praeger, New York
YOO SANG, Nge et al (1992)	Status and Role of Malaysian Women in Development: a bibliographical essay, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur.

### **Gender and Education**

BRIEN, Michael J. and LILLARD, Lee A (1994)	"Education, Marriage and First Conception in Malaysia" in <b>Journal of</b> <b>Human Resources,</b> 29 (4), 1167- 1204.
BRIEN, Michael J. (1995)	Education, Marriage and First Conception in Malaysia, The Rand Corporation, Santa Monica, California.
LEE, Molly N.N. (1995)	Women in Education, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Penang.
NAWAWI, H.B.T.M. (1991)	"Participatory Adult Education for Rural Women: a perspective", in: <b>Adult Education and Development,</b> 36, 93-101.
PONG, Suet-ling (1993)	"Preferential Policy and Secondary School Attainment in Peninsular Malaysia" in <b>Sociology of Education</b> , 66 (4), 245-261.
SIDIN, Robiah (1996)	"Malaysia", in MAK, Grace C.L. (ed), Women, Education and Development in Asia: cross-national perspectives, Garland, New York and London, 119-142.
RUDIE, Ingrid (1994)	Visible Women in East Coast Malay Society: on the reproduction of gender in ceremonial, school and market, Scandinavian University Press, Oslo.
UNIVERSITI KEBANGSAAN MALAYSIA (1983)	Study on Access of Women to Science Education and Training and Associated Careers in Malaysia, UNESCO, Paris.

# Myanmar

Gender				

ASIA WATCH AND WOMEN'S RIGHT PROJECT (1993)	A Modern Form of Slavery: trafficking of Burmese women and girls into brothels in Thailand, Human Rights Watch, New York.
MI MI KHAING, Daw (1984)	The World of Burmese Women, Zed Books, London.
THEIN, Mya M (1980)	"Women Scientists and Engineers in Burma", in <b>Impact,</b> XXX (1), 15-22.

# Papua New Guinea

Gender				
INGLIS, Amirah (1975)	The White Women's Protection Ordinance: sexual anxiety and politics in Papua, Chatto and Windus, London.			
LUTKEHAUS, Nancy and ROSCOE, Paul (1995)	Gender Rituals: female initiation in Melanesia, Routledge, New York.			
SCHOEFFEL, Penelope (1983)	Women's Associations in the Rural Economy of the South Pacific: case studies from Western Samoa and East New Britain Province, Papua New Guinea, South Pacific Commission, Noumea, New Caledonia.			
SEDDON, Sally Bruce (1983)	Economic Activities of Women in the Oksapmin Subdistrict, West Sepik Province, University of Papua New Guinea, Papua New Guinea.			
TURNER, Anne (1993)	Views from Interviews: the changing role of women in Papua New Guinea, OUP, Melbourne.			
WEINER, Annette B. (1976)	Women of Value, Men of Renown: new perspectives in Trobriand exchange, University of Texas Press, Austin,			

Gender and Education	
GIBSON, Margaret A. (1990)	"Equity for the Nation's Smallest Schools" in Papua New Guinea <b>Journal of Education</b> , 26 (1).
GIBSON, Margaret A. (1993)	Equity for Female Teachers: a national survey of employment, training and promotional opportunities for community school teachers in Papua New Guinea, National Research Institute, Borokko.
JOHNSON, Patricia Lyons (1992)	Education and Gender Inequality in Papua New Guinea, Michigan State University, East Lansing.
STILL, Kathy and SHEA, John (1976)	Something's Got To Be Done So We Can Survive In This Place: the problems with women students at the University of Papua New Guinea, UPNG, Port Moresby.
UNESCO (1987)	Universal Primary Education for Girls: Papua New Guinea, PROAP, Bangkok.
WORMALD, Eileen and CROSSLEY, Anne (1988)	Women and Education in Papua New Guinea and the South Pacific, University of Papua New Press, Wigani.

# **Phillipines**

Gender	
LAZO, Lucita (ed) (1992)	Homeworkers of South East Asia: the struggle for social protection in the Phillipines, PROAP, ILO, Bangkok.
RESURRECCION-SAYO, Bernadette (1994)	Farmers, Loggers on Fragile Land: changing gender relations in a Phillipine mountain village, Institute of Social Studies, The Hague, working paper series 170.

# **Singapore**

Gender	
HASSAN, Riaz (1980)	Ethnicity, Culture and Fertility Behaviour: an exploratory study of fertility behaviour and sexual beliefs, Copmen Publishers, Singapore.
LAM LIN, Jenny et al (eds) (1993)	Voices and Choices: women's movement in Singapore, Singapore Council of Women's Organisations, Singapore.
LIM, Linda	Women in the Singapore Economy, Copmen Publishers, Singapore.
MANDERSON, Lenore (ed) (1983)	Women's Work and Women's Roles: economics and everyday life in Indonesia, Malaysia and Singapore, Australian National University, Canberra.
SINGAPORE ASSOCIATION OF WOMEN LAWYERS (1986)	Legal Status of Singapore Women, Asiapac, Singapore.
WHITE, R.O. and ORR, Robert (1978)	Rural Asian Women: status and environment, Institute of Southeast Asian Studies, Singapore.
WONG, Aline K. (1980)	Economic Development and Women's Place: women in Singapore, Change International Reports, London.

Gender and Education	
	Educational and Occupational Attainment of Singapore's Chinese Women and Men, Chopmen Enterprises, Singapore.
	"Singapore", in MAK, Grace, C.L. (ed), Women, Education and Development in Asia: cross-national perspectives, Garland, New York and London, 143-161
	<u>-</u>

KONG, Lily et al (1994)	Convent Chronicles: a history of a pioneer mission
	school for girls in Singapore, Armour Publishing,
	Singapore.

## **Thailand**

Gender	
ASIA WATCH AND WOMEN'S RIGHT PROJECT (1993)	A Modern Form of Slavery: trafficking of Burmese women and girls into brothels in Thailand, Human Rights Watch, New York.
HOGAN, Dennis P. et al (1987)	Cultural and Economic Factors in the Fertility of Thai Women, East- West Center, Honolulu.
KHIN, Thitsa (1990)	Providence and Prostitution: image and reality for women in Buddhist Thailand, Change International Reports, London.
LAZO, Lucita (ed) (1992)	Homeworkers of Southeast Asia: the struggle for social protection in Thailand, International Labour Organisations, UNESCO, PROAP, Bangkok.
MUNTARBHORN, Vitit (1985)	Women's Development in Thailand, Thailand National Commission on Women's Affairs, Bangkok.
MUNTARBHORN, Vitit et al (1990)	Status of Women: Thailand, UNESCO, PROAP, Bangkok.
PONGSAPICH, Amara (1988)	Occasional Papers on Women in Thailand, Chulalongkorn University Social Research Institute, Bangkok.
VAN ESTERIK, Penny (1989)	Deconstructing display, gender and development in Thailand, York University, Toronto, working paper No. 2.

VAN ESTERIK, Penny (1989)	Ideologies and Women in Development Strategies in Thailand, York University, Toronto, working paper No. 2.
YODDUMNERN-ATTIG, Bencha et al (1992)	Changing Roles and Statuses of Women in Thailand: a documentary assessment, Mahidol University, Nakhonpathom.

Gender and Education	
FENSHAM, Peter et al (1989)	"The Superior Achievement of Girls in Chemistry and Physics in Upper Secondary Schools in Thailand" in <b>Research in Science and Technological Education</b> , 7 (1), 5-14.
FENSHAM, Peter et al (1989)	"Successful Achievement by Girls in Physics Learning" in <b>International Journal of Science</b> <b>Education,</b> 11/(.) 101-112.
PREEYANUCH, L. (1979)	Adult Education Programmes for Women in Rural Thailand, unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University of Hull.
SUCHART, Prasithrathsin (1981)	Fertility Threshold Values of Income and Education in Thailand, University of the Phillipines, Quezon City.
UNESCO (1982)	<b>Education for Disadvantaged Women, PROAP,</b> Bangkok.

### **Vietnam**

Gender	
EISEN, Arlene (1984)	Women and Revolution in Vietnam, Zed Books.
VIETNAMESE WOMEN'S UNION AND CENTRE FOR WOMEN'S STUDIES (ed) (1989)	Vietnamese Women in the Eighties, Foreign Language Publishing House, Hanoi.

## **Annotations - Individual countries**

#### Indonesia

ODEY-GARDINER, May ling and SUPRAPTO, Riga Adiwoso (1996), Indonesia, in:

MAK, Grace C.L. (ed), Women, Education and Development in Asia: Cross-National Perspectives, Garland Publishing, New York and London, 95-118.

Indonesia is, in demographic terms, one of the largest countries in the world. Geographically it is incredibly fragmented, comprising over 1000 islands and at least 300 distinct ethnic groups. Gender is another aspect of disparity, females not having the same access as men to education, employment and social standing.

This chapter first provides a sustained gender-based analysis of Indonesian education. Quantitative and qualitative data are provided with the problems laying clearly in the area of the latter. Not surprisingly, dislocated communications and the insularity of many of the smaller national components lead to deepened disparities. Such contexts tend to overcome a long standing policy of equal access to education, traditional roles for the majority of females result in interrupted attendance and lower attainments than their male counterparts

In general however, recent improvements in educational participation and qualifications have led to credentials outstripping employment opportunities in the modem sector. So unemployment of the educated tends to be more prevalent in urban than in rural areas and affects both sexes A tendency to remain even longer in education prolongs the problem. As female superiority of attainment runs right through to the highest levels, the benefits of higher education for women are higher than for men. In Indonesia there is little cultural constraint against women working outside of the household, However, financial rewards for comparable occupations are not equal, and favour males.

Positive development trends in education and the economy have led to the phenomenon of 'open unemployment', and more among women than men. It is possible, though, that the currently booming economic growth of the country may provide sufficient private sector jobs to satisfy the highly educated of both sexes. It is clear that strong policies of human resource development across the whole population of Indonesia, but especially in the major cities, is one of the pillars of economic growth in Indonesia. This has relied on liberal general education supporting diverse skills but it is thought that future growth needs to be reflected more to science and technology. This could disadvantage females depending on whether or not traditional choices prevail as between subjects to be

studied and skills acquired.

#### Malaysia

BRIEN, Michael J. and LILLIARD, Lee A. (1994), Education, Marriage, and First Conception in Malaysia, **Journal of Human Resources**, XXIX (4), 1167-1204.

This paper examines cohort and ethnic differences in education, the timing of marriage, and the timing of first conception for women in Peninsular Malaysia. The authors examine the roles of education and enrolment in delaying marriage and first conception, and dropping out of school. The focus is on the joint nature of these decisions by controlling the endogeneity of one outcome as it affects the others. Changes in education and enrolment account for a substantial position of the cohort trend towards later age of marriage in this part of Malaysia. Further, most of the rise in the age of first conception across cohorts and ethnic groups is fully accounted for by cohort and ethnic differences in the age of marriage.

All this is set against a picture of rising educational attainment for both sexes and the evidence of a wider spread of curricular interests and therefore employment opportunities among females. However the authors merely ask whether either educational development or economic development, or both have a causal connection with the marriage and conception trends recorded? Substantial amounts of data are provided and various statistical models employed.

After this detailed descriptive analysis they are prompted to select a number of questions as being of first order significance: is endogeneity important? what about the age at marriage? what is the role of marital status? The fix on the last one is significant in that in Malaysia, marital status is critical to understanding the timing of first conception because there is very little childbearing outside of marriage. They conclude with the following summary: "We find that marital status is a very significant predictor of the decision to continue in school, but that its importance is reduced by the rarity of marriage before leaving school. A number of other explanatory factors are found to influence continuing in school, including educational policies, family background characteristics, and the availability of schools of the appropriate level." Availability is an important issue in spatial terms and in respect of female take up. The usual structure of urban advantage over rural is present in Malaysia and clearly enhances the prospects of women continuing in education, especially as further and higher education opportunities tend to be in towns and cities anyway.

SIDIN, Robiah (1996), Malaysia, in MAK, Grace C.L. (ed). **Women, Education and Development in Asia: Cross-National Perspectives,** Garland Publishing, New York and London, 119-141.

Education is perceived as having contributed significantly to the recent and rapid development of Malaysia economically, as well as having a primary function in socializing children into accepted community values and behaviour. It is clear that women have played a full part in this development, across a wide range of sectors and this has been happening not only because of labour demand, but also due to governmental efforts to incorporate women effectively in the process. This chapter details the different types of educational opportunities open to women on an equal basis to men as well as their participation in the economic, social and political dimensions of Malaysian life.

An historical account of the development of the profile of female education is provided, showing phases of increased participation in response to different factors such as mission activity and military conflict. The achievement of independence provided a major opportunity, and by 1970 the enrolment rate for girls at primary level was 85 per cent, while at secondary level 44 per cent for lower and 16 per cent for upper. Given the macro multi ethnic picture there is obviously some variation as between the major components. There is also some disparity even today as between urban and rural areas of the country, but most boys and girls are attending school at least up to the age of 15. After that various forms of selection begin to play a significant part in the appearance of greater gender differentiation. In particular the participation of girls in vocational and technical education is still low, providing only about 25 per cent of the total enrolment in this sector, and being concentrated in traditional 'female' programmes. However, there are signs of a change of attitude on a small scale. At tertiary level the representation of women in most subject areas is strong. The article provides data to illustrate the situation in all sectors of education and employment.

Over the last decade, the proportion of the labour force that is female has risen, while that of males has correspondingly fallen. Nonetheless, women are both vertically and horizontally, clustering in manual and clerical jobs, though at the professional levels, where high achieving females are breaking through, there is evidence of increased appointments in medicine, dentistry, accounting law and university teaching. Women are increasingly active and effective in social development fields as their self-concept and self development profiles have strengthened. Such confidence building experiences have also projected increased numbers of women into Malaysian politics at various levels.

So the major problems facing Malaysian women are now those arising from having to combine occupational and domestic responsibilities. Constraints on their geographical mobility lead to tensions in both professional and skilled manual sectors. The author concludes that the issues that most need to be addressed concern the workplace, conflict between women's traditional and modem roles, and leadership.

[Previous Page] [Top of Page] [Next Page]

Education research gender, education and development - A partially annotated and selective bibliography - Education Research Paper No. 19, 1997, 250 p.

[Previous Page] [Table of Contents] [Next Page]

## **Central and East Asia**

China

South Korea

Mongolia

**Kyrgyzstan** 

Taiwan

<u>Uzbekistan</u>

**Annotations - Individual countries** 

### China

Gender	
CHEUNG, Fanny et al (eds) (1991)	Selected Papers of Conference on Gender Studies in Chinese Societies, Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong, Kong.
CROLL, Elizabeth (1985)	Women and Rural Development in China: production and reproduction, ILO, Geneva.
CROLL, Elizabeth (1995)	Changing Identities of Chinese Women: rhetoric, experience and self-perception in twentieth-century China, Zed Books, London.
CROLL, Elizabeth (1978)	Feminism and Socialism in China, Routledge and Kegan Paul, London.
GILMARTIN, Christina K. (1995)	Engendering the Chinese Revolution: radical women, communist politics and mass movements in the 1920s, University of California Press, California.
GILMARTIN, Christina K. et al (ed) (1994)	Engendering China: women, culture and the state, Harvard University Press, Massachusetts.

HEMMEL, Vibeke and SINDBJERG, Pia (1984)	Women in Rural China: policy towards women before and after the Cultural Revolution, Curzon, London.
JASCHOK, Maria and MIERS, Suzanne (eds) (1994)	Women and Chinese Patriarchy: submission, servitude and escape, Zed Books, London.
JUDD, Ellen R.(1994)	Gender and Power in Rural North China, Stanford University Press, California.
SIDEL, Ruth (1982)	Women and Child Care in China: a firsthand report, Penguin, Harmondsworth.
SLIMMER, Virginia M. and KEJING, Dai (1991)	Experience and Status of Chinese Rural Women: differences among the three age groups, Kentucky.
SMITH, Douglas C.(1992)	"The Chinese Family in Transition: implications for education and society in modem Taiwan" in <b>Asia Culture Quarterly,</b> Fall 1992.
UNITED NATIONS UNIVERSITY (1993)	The Impact of Economic Development on Rural Women in China, United Nations University, Tokyo.
WOLF, Margery (1987)	Revolution Postponed: women in contemporary China, Metheun.

Gender and Education	
AKSORNKOOL, Namtip (1995)	Daughters of the Earth: skills-based literacy programme for women, China, UNESCO and UNICEF, Paris.
DAI, Shujun (1991)	"Three Chinese Women's Vocational Universities" in <b>Chinese Education: A Journal of Translations,</b> 24 (2), 73-78.
HUANG, Jiafen (1993)	"An Investigation of Gender Differences in Cognitive Abilities among Chinese High School Students" in <b>Personality and</b> <b>Individual Differences,</b> 15/(6), 717-719.
KAN, Feng Min (1990)	Job Opportunities and Technical and Vocational Training of Unemployed Girls in China, Centre for the Study of Education in Developing Countries, The Hague.

KAN, Feng Min (1990)	Employment and Access to On-The-Job Training of Chinese Women, Centre for the study of Education in Developing Countries, The Hague.
NAN, Ning (1992)	"Sex Discrimination in Education" in Chinese <b>Education and Society</b> , 25/(1), 44-47.
MAK, Grace C.L. (1996)	"The People's Republic of China", in MAK, Grace C.L. (ed), Women, Education and Development in Asia: cross-national perspectives, Garland, New York and London, 3-28.
RAI, Shirin M. (1994)	"Modernisation and Gender: education and employment in Post-Mao China" in <b>Gender and Education,</b> 6 (2), 119-129.
UNESCO (1987)	Universal Primary Education for Girls: China, PROAP, Bangkok.
WIDMER, Ellen (1991)	"Martyred Matrons, Martial Maidens and the Women Reader: some Sino-Japanese Comparisons" in <b>International Journal of</b> <b>Social Education,</b> 6 (1), 60-82.
WU, Haiqing (1992)	"The Current Status of Women Professors in China" in <b>Chinese Education and Society</b> , 25 (1), 53-55.
XU, Jinni and FARRELL, Edwin (1992)	"Mathematics Performance of Shanghai High School Students: a preliminary look at gender differences in another culture" in <b>School Science and Mathematics,</b> 92 (8), 442-445.

## **South Korea**

Gender	
CHUNG, Sei-wha (ed) and SHIN, Chang-hyun (tr) (1986)	Challenges for Women: women's studies in Korea, Ewha Women's University Press, Seoul.
KENDALL, Laurel and PETERSON, Mark (eds) (1983)	Korean Women: view from the inner room, East Rock Press, Cushing.

KENDALL, Laurel (1985)	Shamans, Housewives and Other Restless Spirits: women in Korean ritual life, University of Hawaii Press, Honolulu.
SOH, Chunghee Sarah (1991)	The Chosen Women in Korean Politics: an anthropological study, Praeger, New York.
TINKER, Irene (1980)	Towards Equity for Women in Korea's Development Plans, Equity Policy Centre, Washington D.C.

Gender and Education	
CHUNG, Ji Sun (1994)	"Women's Unequal Access to Education in South Korea" in <b>Comparative Education Review</b> , 38 (4). 487-505.
JEON, Kyung-Won (1993)	"A Study on Mental Health of Scientifically Gifted High School Males and Females" in <b>Gifted Education International,</b> 9 (2), 85-92.
KIM, Oksoan (1996)	"South Korea", in MAK, Grace C.L. (ed) Women, Education and Development in Asia: cross-national perspectives, Garland, New York and London, 51-64.
KWON, Mee-Sik (1992)	Conceptualisation of Critical Feminist Pedagogy as a Theoretical Tool of Social Transformation and its Applicability in a Korean Context.

# Mongolia

Gender	
UNESCO (1990) Status of Women: Mongolia, PROAP, Bangk	cok.

Gender and Edu	cation
UNESCO (1979)	Standardisation of Education and Curricula for Boys and Girls
	in General Education, Vocational and Teacher-Training
	Schools in the Mongolian Peoples Republic, Paris.

# Kyrgyzstan

Gender and Education

UNESCO (1991)	Islam, Perestroika and the Education of Women: principles
	and possibilities, Paris.

### **Taiwan**

Gender and Education	
HSIEH, Hsiao-chin (1996)	Taiwan, Republic of China", in MAK, Grace C.L. (ed), Women, Education and Development in Asia: crossnational perspectives, Garland, New York and London, 65-91,
WEI, Chin Lung (1993)	"Instructional Uses of Computers in Boys', Girls and Coeducational Senior High Schools in Taiwan, the Republic of China" in <b>Journal of Computer-Based Instruction</b> , 20 (1), 15-20.

### **Uzbekistan**

Gender	
AMINOVA, Rakhima Khodievna and MEEROVICH, B.M. (tr.) (1985)	The October Revolution and Women's Liberation in Uzbekistan, Nauka Publishers, Moscow.

### **Annotations - Individual countries**

China South Korea

#### China

MAK, Grace C.L. (1996), The People's Republic of China, in: MAK, Grace C.L. (ed), **Women, Education and Development: Cross-National Perspectives,** Garland Publishing, New York and London, 3-28.

The author adopts what she terms a special approach to assessing the status of women in China in relation to education, family situation and economic development. In general it seems that education and population policies in recent decades have met with

some success in respect of enhancing female opportunity, whereas attempts to reach more liberal positions on marriage, divorce and employment have been constrained by male resistance. Lack of policy coordination in the social spheres and in relation to economic policy is seen as an important factor.

A useful background on historical attitudes to the education of women and girls is provided,, with special reference to the influence of the post 1949 period, and a range of useful data on issues such as enrolment at different levels, subject orientation and employment is listed. It was found that, post 1949, although a re-organised economy was more willing to recruit women, urbanization was slow. So geography has been a crucial factor in affecting women's employment prospects, since urban areas normally offer more education and training opportunities to females. The urban/rural dichotomy, distinctive and important in the case of China, is given further space in the article before the author moves on to the 'contemporary' situation: that is to say from 1978 to the present.

This is described as the period of pragmatism and is examined in relation to four issues: the family, education, the economy and politics. During the past 20 years marriage and childbearing trends in China have changed in such a way as to release women for economic participation, and this has direct links to education where emphasis has been on basic and vocational sectors. However, female improvement in educational terms is coming from a very low base and as recently as 1990, of the 80 per cent of the adult population who were illiterate, 70 per cent were female. Nonetheless within the proportion of the population actively engaged in education, the female dimension is growing, This, according to the author, attracts various forms of discrimination including: tracking females into traditional subjects such as foreign languages, primary school teaching and fashion; demanding higher grades for females than for males competing in the same arena, including access to higher education.

Agriculture continues to be the major occupation of the Chinese population, but while boys may be released for education, parents tend to keep their daughters in productive employment. Only if a 'township enterprise' (semi urban light industrial development) is nearby would that pattern be changed, and women transfer to non-agricultural work, In urban areas where diversification of production offers more employment opportunities, the positive educational profile of women and girls makes then attractive but has also attracted a backlash as males seek to protect their traditional position. The Chinese experience shows the difficulty of sustaining equality due, at least in part, to lack of power among women as a group. Yet, education and some modern sector economic participation has engendered a new awareness among Chinese women of their rights and their potential that sustains them in the continued struggle for equal opportunity.

#### **South Korea**

KIM, Oksoon (1996), South Korea, in MAK, Grace C.L. (ed). **Women, Education and Development in Asia: Cross-National Perspectives,** Garland Publishing, New York and London, 51-63.

Because studies of the impact of education on development typically came to differentiate females from males, the author sets out to investigate the extent to which female labour has contributed to economic growth since 1960 in Korea. There is a context of parallel and rapid expansion of educational opportunities in that country, but any connection needs to be properly demonstrated both in general terms, as well as in relation to gender.

The author based the study on three assumptions: that educational expansion in South Korea provided more opportunities for males than for females; that female labour contributed to economic groeth in Korea in different ways than did male labour; that educational expansion did not lead to improvement in the economic circumstances of the female population during the years of rapid economic development. Data are provided to illustrate the phenomenal growth in the education sector in South Korea in recent decades as well as the continued popular demand for this service. The figures show that the vast majority of investment and innovation has come from the private sector, and the author argues that the expansion has reinforced inequality in respect of educational opportunities open to males and females. In Korea this whole issue is dominated by social class leading to an unequal distribution of new educational opportunities. This in turn affects girls adversely and is even more reinforced by curricular stereotyping, making, for example, home economics compulsory for girls and technology for boys. This meant that, at a time of massive industrial and manufacturing expansion, certain industries concentrated on acquiring female workforces. This was due to low employment costs for greater skills and higher reliability. Regardless of sector, Korean females are paid about half that received by male counterparts. Cheap female labour is concentrated in the burgeoning cities. So because the manufacturing sector has occupied such an important place in Korea's economic growth, low paid female employees have contributed significantly to the accumulation of capital necessary for sustained economic growth.

A number of sources are the examined by the author in attempting to illuminate the relationship, if any, between educational expansion and economic growth. It is clear that in the South Korean case, most females are educated way beyond the level required for the job they are doing, and it is obvious that human capital theory does not apply to the female working population in that country. Women continue to work under poor conditions for low wages, regardless of their educational background. Conversely male workers are sometimes enjoying the higher wages gained in employment for which they

are not necessarily qualified. From this it can only be concluded that Korean women's' contribution to the country's economic development has indeed been greater than that of men, which is considered in the context of educational background and payment for work done.

[Previous Page] [Top of Page] [Next Page]

Education research gender, education and development - A partially annotated and selective bibliography - Education Research Paper No. 19, 1997, 250 p.

[Previous Page] [Table of Contents] [Next Page]

## **Latin America**

Individual countries
Annotations
Individual countries

General	
Gender	
AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF RETIRED PERSONS (1989)	Mid-life and Older Women in Latin America and the Caribbean, PAHO, Washington DC
BOURQUE, S (1989)	Gender and the State: Perspectives From Latin America, in: CHARLTON, S. EVERETT, AND STAUDT, K (eds) Women, the State and Development, State University of New York, Albany.
CARR, Shirley et al (1993)	Special Issue: Women's Participation in Trade Unions, in: <b>Labour Education</b> , 90, 4-56.
CHANEY, Elsa M (1979)	Supermadre: Women in Politics in Latin America, Austin: Institute of Latin American Studies, University of Texa Press.
CHANEY, Elsa M (1984)	Women of the World: Latin America and the Caribbean, IDCA, Washington DC.
CHINCHILLA, N (1979)	Working-Class Feminism: Domitila and the Housewives Committee, in: <b>Latin American Perspectives,</b> 6, 3. 87-92.

ECLA, (1983)	Report of the Group of Experts on Operational Strategies for the Advancement of Women up to the Year 2000, Santiago, Chile
ECLA, (1983)	Report of the Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean, Santiago, Chile
ECLA, (1983)	Latin America: Analysis of the Social Problems Affecting Women in Various Sectors, Santiago, Chile
ECLA, (1983)	The Legal Situation of Latin American and the Caribbean Women as Defined According to the Resolutions and Mandates of the United Nations System. Volume I: Basis, Proposals, Methodology, and the Legal Situation of Women, Santiago, Chile.
ECLA, (1984)	Five Studies on the Situation of Women in Latin America, Santiago. Chile
ECLA, (1984)	Contribution to the appraisal of the United Nations Decade for Women and to the Design of Strategies for the Future, Santiago, Chile
ECLA, (1984)	Report of the Regional Meeting For Latin America and the Caribbean in Preparation for the World Conference to Review and Appraise the Achievements of the United Nations Decade for Women: Equality Development and Peace, Santiago. Chile
ECLA, (1984)	Selected Publications Prepared by ECLA during the United Nations Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace, Santiago, Chile

ECLA, (1984)	The Rural Woman in Latin America: A Social Actor in the Past Decade (1975-1984), Santiago, Chile.
EDWARDS, Beatrice (1989)	Women, Work and Democracy in Latin America, in: <b>Convergence</b> 27, 2/3, 51- 57
GOODENOW, Carol ESPIN, Olivia M (1983)	Identity Choices in Immigrant Adolescent Females, in: <b>Adolescence</b> , 28, 109, 173-184.
HENSMAN, Robin (1989)	The role of Women in the Resistance to Political Authoritarianism in Latin America and Asia, in: AFSHAR, HALEH (ed), Women and Politics in the Third World, Routledge, London. 48-72
INTER-AMERICAN FOUNDATION (1974)	The Female Role in Development in Latin America: a Partially Annotated Bibliography of Recent Publications in the Social Science, Rosslyn, Virginia.
JAQUETTE, J (1980)	Female Political Participation in Latin America, I: NASH, J and SAFA. H (eds) Sex and Class in Latin America, Bergin Publishers, New York
JAQUETTE, J. (1989)	The Women's Movement in Latin America, Boston: Unwin Hyman.
JELIN, Elizabeth (ed) (1990)	Women and Social Change in Latin America, UNRISD/Zed Books.
JELIN, Elizabeth (ed) (1991)	Family, Household and Gender Relations in Latin America, UNESCO/Kegan Paul
KNASTER, M (1977)	Women in Spanish America: An Annotated Bibliography from the Pre Conquest to Contemporary Times, G.K. Hall, Boston.
MOMSEN, Janet and KINNAIRD, Vivian (1993)	Different Places, Different Voices: Gender and Development in Africa, Asia and Latin America, Routledge, London (Part V: Latin America 227- 287)

PESCATELLO, A (ed) (1973)	Female and Male in Latin America,: University of Pittsburgh Press. London and Pittsburgh
RADCLIFFE, Sarah A WESTWOOD, Sallie (eds) (1993)	"Viva" Women and Popular Protest in Latin America, Routledge, London,
RAMOS-PALOMO, M:D et al, (1994)	Femenino Plural: Palabra y Memoria de Mujeres, Universidad de Málaga, Spain
ROWE, Leslie (1981)	International Women Students: Perspectives for the 80s, Report of SJOBERG, Steve (eds) the International Women Students Conference, Boston, Mass.
ROZSAVOLQUI, Paula de (1976)	Role of Women in Latin America, in: Literacy Discussion, 6,4, 103-118
SAFA, H.I (1990)	Women's Social Movements in Latin America, in: <b>Gender and Society</b> , 4, 3.
SCHIRMER, J.G (1989)	Those who die for life cannot be called dead: Women and Human Rights Protests in Latin America, in: <b>Feminist Review</b> , 32, 3-29.
SCHMIDT, S (1976)	Political Participation and Development: the Role of Women in Latin America, in: <b>Journal of International Affaires</b> , 30,257-270.
SCHMUKLER, Beatrice (1992)	Women and the Microsocial Democratisation of Everyday Life, in: STROMQUIST, N (ed) Women and Education in Latin America. Knowledge, Power and Change, Lynne Rienner, London 251-276.
SLATER, D. (1985)	New Social Movements and the State in Latin America, Amsterdam, CEDLA.
STEPAN, Nancy Leys (1991)	The Hour of Eugenics: Race, Gender and Education in Latin America, Cornell University Press, Ithaca and London.

STEVENS, E.P. (1973)	Marianismo: the Other Face of Machismo in Latin America, in A. PESCATELLO (ed) Female and Male in Latin America, London and Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press.
ULSHOEFER, Petra (1985)	Central America and the Dominican Republic: Trade Union Training for Women Workers: Some Encouraging Years, in: <b>Labour Education</b> , 61, 18- 19.
UNESCO, (1994)	Women and Culture in Latin America, in: Culture Plus, 14.
VASQUEZ, Josefina Z (1985)	Women's Liberation in Latin America: Towards a History of the Present, in: UNESCO, Women from Witch Hunt to Politics, Paris, 89-108
WESTWOOD, Sallie RADCLIFFE, Sarah A (1993)	Gender, Racism and the Politics of Identities in Latin America, in: RADCLIFFE, Sarah A and WESTWOOD, Sallie (eds) "Viva" Women and Popular Protest in Latin America, Routledge, London. 1-29.
WILKINSON, Jean (1989)	Unheard Words: Third World Women Speak for Themselves, in: <b>Social</b> <b>Studies Review,</b> 29, 1, 71-76
WORONIUK, Beth (1995)	Women in the Americas: Bridging the Gender Gap, IDB, Washington DC
YUDELMAN, Sally (1994)	Women Farmers in Central America: Myths, Roles Reality, in: <b>Grassroots</b> <b>Development,</b> 17, 2, 2-13.
ZABALETA, M. (1986)	Research on Latin American Women: In Search of Our Independence, in: <b>Bulletin of Latin American Research,</b> 5,2,97-103.

Gender	and	<b>Education</b>
Ochuci	anu	Laucanon

ALMERAS, D (1994)	Women's Formal Education: Achievements and Obstacles, in: CEPAL Review, 54,61 -79
ARPESLAGH, Robert (1991)	World Without Writing and Themthey Write for the First Time, VAN DEN BERG, Joanne Netherlands Institute of International Relations (includes several Latin American components).
BRASLAVSKY, Cecilia (1984)	Mujer y Educación: Desigualdades Educativas en América Latina y el Caribe, UNESCO. Santiago Chile
CASTRO MARTIN, Teresa (1994)	Women's Education and Fertility in Latin America: Explaining the Significance of Education for Women's Lives, Macro. International Calverton.
CATANZARITE, L. (1992)	Gender, Education and Employment in Central America: Whose Work Counts? in: STROMQUIST, N (ed) Women and Education in Latin America. Knowledge, Power and Change, Lynne Rienner, London, 67-86
CEBOTAREV, Eleonora A (1980)	A Non-Oppressive Framework for Adult Education Programmes for Rural Women in Latin America, in: <b>Convergence,</b> 13, 1/2, 34-49.
CONWAY, Jill (1993)	The Politics of Women's Education: Perspectives from Asia, Africa and Latin America, University of Michigan Press, Ann Arbor
CORVALÁN, Graziella (1990)	Mujer y Educación en América Latina, REDUC, Santiago, Chile
GERMAN ADULT EDUCATION ASSOCIATION (1994).	Adult Education and Development. Bonn. (includes sections on, Brazil, Colombia, Nicaragua and Latin America in general.)

RIVERO, José (1990)	Latin America And The Caribbean: A Major Project for Literacy, IBE, Geneva.
SCHIEFELBEIN, Ernesto PERUZZI, Sonia (1990)	Education Opportunities for Women: the Case of Latin America and the Caribbean, in: <b>The Major Project Bulletin,</b> 24, 49-76.
TURNER, Susana (1990)	The Literacy Issue: Feminist Perspectives on Reading and Writing, in: <b>Voices Rising,</b> 4, 1, Jan-Feb.
UNESCO/UNIFEM (1992)	Manual de Recomendaciones para la Eliminación de Estereotipos en los Textos Escolares y en los Materiales Educatívos en General, Oficina Sub-Regional para Centroamérica, Guatemala.

### **Individual countries**

Argentina

**Bolivia** 

**Brazil** 

Chile

Colombia

Costa Rica

<u>Cuba</u>

**Dominican Republic** 

**Ecuador** 

El Salvador

**Guatemala** 

**Honduras** 

**Mexico** 

Nicaragua

**Panama** 

<u>Peru</u>

Puerto Rico

<u>Venezuela</u>

### Argentina

Gender	
DE-LISI, Richard GALLAGER, Ann (1991)	Understanding of Gender Stability and Constancy in Argentinean Children, in: Merril-Palmer Quarterly, 37, 3,483-502.
MILLER, Karen (1984)	The Effects of Industrialization on Men's Attitudes Towards the Extended Family and Women's Right: A Cross-National Study, in: <b>Journal of Marriage and the Family,</b> 46, 1,153-160 (includes Chile)

Gender and Education	
BONDER, G (1992)	Altering Sexual Sterotypes Through Teacher Training (Argentina), in: STROMQUIST, N. (ed) Women and Education in Latin America. Knowledge, Power and Change, Lynne Rienner, London, 229-250.
BRASLAVSKY, C (1992)	Educational Legitimation of Women's Economic Subordination in Argentina, in: STROMQUIST, N (ed) Women and Education in Latin America. Knowledge. Power and Change, Lynne Rienner, London, 47-66.

## Bolivia

Gender	
BENTON, Jane 1993)	The Role of Women's Organisations and Groups in Community Development: A Case Study of Bolivia, in: MOMSEN. Janet and KINNAIRD, Vivian (eds) Different Places, Different Voices: Gender Development in Africa, Asia and Latin America, Routledge, London, 230-242.
COOK, Katsi (1993)	Seeking the Balance: A Native Women's Dialogue. Panel Presentation at the State of Indian American Conference, in: <b>Akwe: kon Journal,</b> 10, 2, 16-29. (includes Nicaragua).
SAGE, C (1993)	Deconstructing the Household: Women's Role under Community Relations in Highland Bolivia, in: MOMSEN, Janet and KINNAIRD Vivian, (eds) <b>Different Places</b> , <b>Different Voices: Gender Development in Africa, Asia and Latin America,</b> Routledge, London, 243-255

# HEALY, K (1991) Animating Grassroots Development: Womens's Popular Education in Bolivia, in: **Grassroots Development,** 15, 26-34

### **Brazil**

Gender			
ALVAREZ, S (1990)	Engendering Democracy in Brazil. Princeton University Press, Princeton		
ALVAREZ, S (1989)	Women's movements and Gender Politics in the Brazilian Transition, in: J. JAQUETTE (ed) The Women's Movement in Latin America, Boston: Unwin Hyman.  Women in Grassroots Protest Politic in Sao Paulo, Brazil, PhD Thesis, University of Liverpool		
CORCORAN-NANTES, Y (1988)			
CORCORAN-NANTES, Y (1993)	Female Consciousness or Feminist Consciousness Raising in Community Based Struggles in Brazil, in: RADCLIFFE, Sarah A and WESTWOOD Sallie (eds) "Viva" Women and Popular Protest in Latin America, Routledge, London, 136-155.		
FONCECA, Claudia (1991)  Spouses, Siblings and Sex-Li Bonding: A Look at Kinship in a Brazilian Slum in: JELIN (ed), Family Household and Relations in Latin America Kegan Paul, 133-160.			
SARTI, C. (1989)	The Panorama of Feminism in Brazil, in: <b>New Left Review,</b> 173,75-92.		
SCHMINK, M (1981)	Women in Brazilian Abertura Politics, in: <b>Signs</b> , 7, 11, 115-134		

SPINK, M.P. (1982)	Experiences of First Pregnancy and the Use of Antenatal Services in Sao Paulo, Brazil, PhD Thesis, London School, of Economics University of London.
VIEIRA-MACHADO, Leda María (1993)	"We Learned to Think Politically": The Influence of the Catholic Church and the Feminist Movement on the Emergence of the Health Movement of the Jardim Nordeste Area in Sao Paulo, Brazil, in: RADCLIFFE, Sarah A and WESTWOOD, Sallie (eds) "Viva" Women and Popular Protest in Latin America, Routledge, London., 88-111.

Gender and Education	
GERMAN ADULT EDUCATION ASSOCIATION (1994)	Adult Education and Development.  Bonn. (includes sections on Brazil, Colombia, Nicaragua and Latin America in General.)
ROSEMBURG, F (1992)	Education Democratisation and Inequality in Brazil in: STROMQUIST, N. Women and Education in Latin America.  Knowledge, Power and Change, Lynne Rienner, London, 33-46.
STROMQUIST, Nelly P. (1997)	Literacy for Citizenship: Gender and Grassroots Dynamics in Brazil, SUNY Press, Albany.
VIVEROS, E. (1992)	Vocational Training and Job Opportunities for Women in the North of Brazil, in: STROMQUIST, N . (ed) Women and Education in Latin America. Knowledge, Power and Change, Lynne Rienner, London, 195- 228

### Chile

Gender

BARBIERI, M Teresita de (1972)	Acceso de la Mujer a las Carreras y Ocupaciones Tecnológicas de Nivel Medio, UNESCO, Santiago, Chile.
BOYLE, Catherine M (1993)	Touching the Air: The Cultural Force of Women in Chile, in: RADCLIFFE, Sarah A and WESTWOOD, Sallie (eds) "Viva" Women and Popular Protest in Latin America, Routledge, London.), 156-172.
CENTRO DE ESTUDIOS DE LA MUJER, (1988)	Mundo de la Mujer: Continuidad y Cambio, Santiago, Chile.
DINIVITZER, B.D (1981)	Transformation of the Female Labour Force in the Context of Peripherial Capitalism, PhD Thesis, London, School of Economics University of London.
KIRKWOOD, Julieta (1983)	Women and Politics in Chile, in: <b>International Social Science Journal</b> , 35, 4, 625-637.
MILLER, Karen (1984)	The Effects of Industrialisation on Men's Attitudes Towards the Extended Family and Women's Right: A Cross-National Study, in: <b>Journal of Marriage and the Family,</b> 46, 1,153-160 (Argentina and Chile)

omen, Schooling and Work in Chile: idence from a Longitudinal Study, in:
mparative Education Review, 24, 2, 0-179.
<b>Experiment</b> (Burkina Faso, Chile and pal)
e Women's Rural School: An appowering Educational Experience, ROMQUIST, N. (ed) Women and ucation in Latin America, owledge, Power and Change, Lynne enner, London, 277-302.

YEAGER, G.M (1983)	Women's role in Nineteenth Century
	Chile: Public Education Records, 1843-
	1883, in: Latin America Research
	<b>Review,</b> 18, 3, 149-156.

### Colombia

Gender			
COHEN, L.M. (1973)	Women Entry into the Professions in Colombia: Selected Characteristic, in: <b>Journal of Marriage and</b> <b>Family,</b> 35,322-330-		
DONALDSON, Jaime (1992)	Finding Common Ground: Redefining Women's Work in Colombia, in: <b>Grassroots Development,</b> 16, 1,2-11.		
MEERTENS, Danny (1993)	Women's Role in Colonisation: A Colombian Case Study in: MOMSEN, Janet and KINNAIRD Vivian, (eds) Different Places, Different Places, Differents Voices: Gende Development in Africa, Asia and Latin America, Routledge, London, 256-369.		
TOWNSEND, Janet (1993)	Housewifisation and Colonisation in the Colombian Rainforest, in MONSEN, Janet and KINNAIRD, Vivian, (eds) Different Places, Different Voices: Gender Development in Africa, Asia and Latin America, Routledge, London, 270-278		

Gender and Education	
ACUÑA de MORENO, Julia (1989)	Albores de la Educación Femenina en la Nueva Granada, Colegio Departamental de la Merced, Bogota.
GERMAN ADULT EDUCATION ASSOCIATION (1994)	Adult Education and Development. Bonn. (includes Brazil, Colombia, Nicaragua and Latin America in general.)

### **Costa Rica**

Gender			

CAMACHO GRANADOS, R et al (1996)	Las Cuotas Mínimas de Participación de las Mujeres: Un Mecanismo de Acción Afirmativa. Aportes para la, Discusión Centro Nacional Para el Desarrollo de la Mujer y la Familia. Costa Rica.
GOMÁRIS, Enrique (1994)	La Planificación con Perspectiva de Género Centro Nacional para el Desarrollo de la Mujer y de la Familia, Costa Rica.
MENDIOLA, H (1992)	Gender Inequalities and the Expansion of Higher Education in Costa Rica, in: STROMQUIST, N. (ed) Women and Education in Latin America. Knowledge, Power and Change, Lynne Rienner, London, 125-146.

### Cuba

Gender	
, , , ,	Women in Cuba: Old Problems and New Ideas, in: REED, Gail <b>Urban Anthropology</b> , 15, 3-4, 321-351

Gender and Education	
· · · /	Women in the Transformation of the Cuban Education, in: <b>Prospects</b> V, 3, 387-390.
	Women and Literacy: the Cuban Experience, in: <b>Journal of Reading</b> , 30, 318-324.

### **Dominican Republic**

Gender	
ULSHOEFER, Petra (1985)	Central America and the Dominican Republic: Trade
	Union Training for Women Workers: Some Encouraging
	Years, in: <b>Labour Education</b> , 61, 18-19.

JACO	BSEN, Edward (1985)	Reducing Differences of Mathematical Expectations
		Between Boys and Girls, in: Studies in Mathematical
		<b>Education,</b> 4, 47-57.

### **Ecuador**

Gender	
MOSER, Caroline O.N, (1993)	Adjustment From Below: Low-Income Women, Time and The Triple Role in Guayaquil, Ecuador, in: RADCLIFFE, Sarah A and WESTWOOD, Sallie (eds) "Viva" Women and Popular Protest in Latin America, Routledge, London, 173-196
ROZSAVOLGYI, Paula (1976)	The Role of Women in Latin America, in <b>Literacy Discussion</b> , 6,4, 103-118. (includes functional Literacy Programmes in Ecuador).

Gender and Education	
' ' '	Gender, Ideology and Education: Implication at the Ecuadorian Peryphery, in: <b>Compare</b> , 15, 1, 20-40.

### **El Salvador**

Gender	
SCHIRMER, JENNIFER (1993)	The Seeking of Truth and the Gendering of
	Consciousness: The Comadres of El Salvador and
	the Conavigua Widows of Guatemala. in:
	RADCLIFFE, Sarah A and WESTWOOD, Sallie
	(eds) Viva'' Women and Popular Protest in Latin
	America, Routledge, London. 30-64.

### Guatemala

Gender	
FRANKEL, A. (1990)	Weeping Widows no Longer: Women Organise in Guatemala, in: <b>Central America Report,</b> Winter: 6-7.

SCHIRMER, Jennifer (1993)	The Seeking of Truth and the Gendering of
	Consciousness: The Comadres of El Salvador and the
	Conavigua Widows of Guatemala. in: RADCLIFFE,
	Sarah A and WESTWOOD, Sallie (eds) Viva"
	Women and Popular Protest in Latin America,
	Routledge, London, 30-64.
GIBBONS, Judith et al (1991)	Women's Worldly Fate: Guatemalan, Filipino and
	USA Adolescents Images of Women as Office
	Workers and Home Makers, Paper presented in the
	Interamerican Congress of Psychology, San Jose,
	Costa Rica
GREENBERG, Linda (1992)	Midwife Training Programs in Highland Guatemala.
	in: <b>Social Science Media.</b> 16, 18, 1599-1609
MENCHU, Rigoberta (1995)	We have Come a Long Way, in UNESCO Courier,
	September 1995, 25.

### **Honduras**

Gender and Education	
OOIJENS, J.L.P. et al (1990)	Alfabetización y Mujeres: la Experiencia del
	Proyecto IHDER/ANACH, Editorial Guaymuras,
	Tegucigalpa/CESO La Haya.

### Mexico

Gender	
CHANI, Sylvia (1984)	Las Olvidadas: A Study of Women, Housing and Family Structure in Querétaro, PhD Thesis, University of London.
CRASKE, Nikki (1993)	Women's Political Participation in Colonias Populares in Guadalajara, Mexico, in: RADCLIFFE, Sarah A and WESTWOOD, Sallie (eds) "Viva" Women and Popular Protest in Latin America, Routledge, London.
GALEANA, Paricia (ed) (1994)	La Mujer del Mexico de la Transición: Memoria de un Simposio, Universidad Nacional de Mexico, Mexico D:F.

MAHIEU, Jose A (1985)	Feminine type and Stereotypes in Mexican and Latin America Cinema in: UNESCO, Women from Witch-Hunt to Politics, Paris
OLIVEIRA, Orlandina de (1991)	Migration of Women, Family Organization and Labour Markets in Mexico in: JELIN, Elizabeth (ed). <b>Family Household and Gender Relations in</b> <b>Latin America,</b> UNESCO, Kegan Paul, 101-118.
STEPHEN, L (1989)	Popular Feminism in Mexico: Women in the Urban Popular Movement, in: <b>Zeta Magazine</b> , December.

Gender and Education	
CORTINA, R (1989)	Women as Leaders in Mexican Education, in: Comparative Education Review, 33.357-376.
CORTINA, R (1992)	Gender and Power in the Teachers Union of Mexico, in: STROMQUIST, N. (ed) Women and Education in Latin America.  Knowledge, Power and Change, Lynne Rienner, London
GONZALBO AIZPURU, Pilar, (1987)	Las Mujeres en la Nueva España: Educación y Vida Cotidiana, Colegio de Mexico, Mexico D.C.
VAUGHAN, MK (1977)	Women, Class and Education in Mexico, 1880-1928, in: Latin America Perspectives, 4, 135-152.

### Nicaragua

Gender	
COOK, Katsi (1993)	Seeking the Balance: A Native Women's Dialogue. Panel Presentation at the State of Indian American Conference, <b>Akwe: kon Journal,</b> 10, 2, 16-29. (Includes Bolivia and Nicaragua).
MOLYNEUX, M (1985)	Mobilization without Emancipation? Women's Interests, State and Revolution in Nicaragua, in: D. SLATER (ed)  New Social Movements and the State in Latin America,  Amsterdam: CEDLA.

PUAR, Jasbir. K (1996)	Nicaraguan Women Resistance, and the Politics of Aid, in:
	AFSHAR, Haleh (ed) Women and Politics in the Third
	World, Routledge, London, 73-92.

Gender and Education	
GERMAN ADULT EDUCATION ASSOCIATION (1994)	Adult Education and Development. Bonn. (includes sections on Brazil, Colombia, Nicaragua and Latin America in general.)
VEENHOFF, A (ed) (1992)	Education For Women's Development, in: <b>Netherlands Vena Journal,</b> Special Issue, 4, 1 (includes Nicaragua)

### Panama

Gender and Education	
PEREZ-VENERO, MM (1973)	The Education Of Women on the Isthmus of
	Panama, in: <b>Journal of the West,</b> 12, 325-334.

### Peru

Gender	
ANDREAS, C (1985)	When Women Rebel: the Rise of Popular Feminism in Peru, Lawrence Hill and Company, Westport.
BOURQUE, S and WARREN, K (1	Women of the Andes: Patriarchy and Social Change in Two Peruvian Towns, Ann Arbor, University of Michigan Press
GRAVES, Thomas (1986)	The Women's Voice in the Andean Labour Union, in: <b>Urban Anthropology</b> , 15, 3-4, 355-376.
PRIETO, J (1980)	Mujer, Poder, y Desarrollo en el Perú, Edición Dorhca, Lima

RADCLIFFE, Sarah (1993)	The Role of Gender in Peasant Migration: Conceptual Issue From Peruvian Andes, in: MOMSEN, Janet and KINNAIRD Vivian, (eds) Different Places, Different Voices: Gender Development in Africa, Asia and Latin America, Routledge, London
RADCLIFFE, Sarah (1990)	Multiple Identities and Negotition over Gender: Female Peasant Union Leaders in Peru, in: <b>Bulletin of Latin American Research</b> , 9, 2, 229-47.
RADCLIFFE, Sarah (1993)	People Have to Rise up - Like the Great Women Fighters: The State and Peasant Women in Peru in: RADCLIFFE, Sarah A and WESTWOOD, Sallie (eds) "Viva" Women and Popular Protest in Latin America, Routledge, London, 197-118.
UNESCO, (1980)	Some Ideas from Women Technicians in Small Countries: Impact XXX (1) (includes a chapter on Peru)
VARGAS, V (1990)	The Women's Movement in Peru: Rebellion into Action, WP H12 155, The Hague: Institute of Social Studies.

Gender and Education	
ANDERSON, Jeanine et al. (1983)	L'image de la Femme et de l'Homme dans les Livres Scolaires, Peruviens, UNESCO, Paris
ARRIAGADA, A.M. (1990)	Labour Market. Outcomes of Non-Formal Training for Male and Female Workers in Peru, in: <b>Economics of Education Review,</b> 9, 331-342.
HERZ, Barbara K KHANDKER, Shahidur R (eds) (1991)	Women's Work, Education and Family Welfare in Peru, World Bank, Washington DC.
KING, Elizabeth M (1989)	Does Education Pay in the Labour Market? The Labour Force, Participation, Occupation and Earnings of Peruvian Women, World Bank, Washington DC.

LAFOSSE, V.S. (1992)	Co-educational Settings and Educational and Social, Outcomes in Peru in: STROMQUIST, N . (ed) Women and Education in Latin America.  Knowledge, Power and Change, Lynne, Rienner, London, 87-106.
STROMQUIST, N (ed) (1988)	Feminist Reflections on Peruvian University Politics, in: <b>Higher Education,</b> 17, 5 81 -601.
STROMQUIST, N (1992)	Feminist Reflections on the Politics of the Peruvian University, in STROMQUIST, N . (ed) Women and Education in Latin America. Knowledge, Power and Change, Lynne Rienner, London, 147-170.

### **Puerto Rico**

Gender	
COMAS-DÍAZ, Lillian (1985)	The Cultural Context: A Factor in Assertiveness
	Training with Mainland Puerto Rican Women, in,
	<b>Psychology of Women Quarterly,</b> 9,4,463-475.

### Venezuela

Gender	
ABRAMOVITZ, J. NICHOLS, R (1992)	Women and Bio-diversity: Ancient Reality, Modem Imperative, Development, in: Journal of the Society for International Development, 2
CONSEJO NACIONAL DE LA MUJER, VENEZUELA (1994)	Venezuela, Informe Preliminar Nacional. IV Conferencia Mundial de la Mujer. VI Conferencia Preparatoria Regional para América Latina y el Caribe. Septiembre 1994.
CONSEJO NACIONAL DE LA MUJER, VENEZUELA. (1995)	Venezuela. Informe IV Conferencia Mundial de la Mujer. Beijing 4-15 Septiembre 1995.

INSTITUTO DE LA MUJER (ESPAÑA) y FLACSO (CHILE) (1993)	Mujeres Latinoamericanas, En Cifras. Venezuela, FLACSO, Chile.
GARCÍA GUADILLA María-Pilar (1993)	Ecologia: Women, Environment and Politics in Venezuela, in: RADCLIFFE, Sarah A and WESTWOOD, Sallie (eds) "Viva" Women and Popular Protest in Latin America, Routledge, London. 65-87
GARCÍA GUADILLA María Pilar (1986)	La Experiencia Venezolana con los Polos de Desarrollo: Un Fracaso del Modelo Teórico, de la Institución Planificadora o del Estilo de Planificación?, Cuadernos de la Sociedad Venezolana de Planificación, 162.
ROZSAVOLQUI, Paula de (1976)	Role of Women in Latin America, in:  Literacy Discussion, 6, 4, 103-118.  (includes literacy programmes in Venezuela)

### **Annotations**

#### General

CATANZARITE, Lisa (1992) Gender, Education and Employment in Central America: Whose Work Counts?, in: STROMQUIST, N (ed) (1992) **Women and Education in Latin America. Knowledge, Power and Change,** Lynne Rienner, London, 67-84.

This chapter examines the relationship between education and work. Although the association between them tends indeed to be positive, Catanzarite shows this is true only of formal. not informal, service occupations. Within the formal sector the association is not strictly linear; rather a curvilinear pattern emerges as women with both high and low levels of education tend to participate more than those with inbetween levels.

Theories of female participation tend to assume that women are dependent on men's wages and that their participation in the labour force is essentially a question of aspirations and opportunity cost calculations. Catanzarite argues instead that for poor women work is a necessity for family survival. Therefore, at that level, the association between education and work is irrelevant. Further, women in the informal sector - regardless of educational level- are paid less than men. These findings are important because the informal sector is expanding and women's participation in it is already

greater than men's. In addition, educated women tend to have more stable employment than uneducated women., but many educated women end up in the informal sector of the economy.

Catanzarite's study calls for a reformulation of economic theory to include women's particular role in family survival. It challenges the notion that education will facilitate women's incorporation into the labour force and generate greater income. Neither of these claims is true when women face unstable employment, a strong feature of informal-sector participation. In consequence, the improvement of women's conditions lies not in greater education but in the improvement of wages and the creation of more stable jobs for women, many of whom find their incorporation in the labour force precarious. (Stromquist)

FINK, Marcy (1992) Women and Popular Education in Latin America, in: STROMQUIST, N (ed) (1992) **Women and Education in Latin America. Knowledge, Power and Change,** Lynne Rienner, London, 171-193.

Marcy Fink's chapter examines the concept of nonformal education and particularly "popular education". It maps both conceptually and descriptively the features and achievements of popular education-a type of education that is expanding and becoming more refined in Latin America and yet remains relatively unknown in the United States.

In a detailed description of popular education programs, Fink notes the variety they offer in characteristics, content, and strategies. Notwithstanding this variability, they all share the objectives of providing women an educational alternative to that provided by the formal educational system, which tends to be prescriptive of women's traditional norms and roles. Whether using games, theatre, or more common didactic approaches, popular education for women seeks their acquisition of emancipatory skills.

Fink provides various arguments to support the case that adult women's education must be central in the process of social transformation. It must affect domestic relations and mothers in them. Intervening for adult women will accelerate the process of social change by creating a new socialisation process for children, by encouraging mothers to reduce their enforcement of the sexual division of labour at home, and by evincing new forms of questioning of male power, thereby renegotiating domestic relations.

This chapter also highlights the major tensions within popular education. A key weakness so far has been the **lack of linkage between local activities and social policy.** Yet from a feminist perspective, this may also be a strength. By conducting work in areas in which the state does not intervene, popular education has opened spaces for contestation that will make the state respond not by policy but through the acceptance of new issues. (Stromquist)

RADCLIFFE, Sarah A. and WESTWOOD, Sallie (eds.) (1993) "Viva": Women and Popular Protest in Latin America, Routledge, London and New York.

Powerful grassroots movements in Latin America are demanding fundamental social and political change to a continent which has seen revolutionary governments, authoritarian dictatorships and reformist military administrations. Through their active involvement women are seen for the first time as integral to the process of democratisation. Yet these women are not a simple unity with shared aims; class and ethnicity create division.

"Viva" explores the growing role of women in the formal and informal politics of the countries of Latin America. Through contemporary case studies, the contributors examine how gender-politics in the region is institutionalised in a variety of spheres varying from the state to local groups. The book focuses in particular on the role of the state in the construction of gender, questioning whether the emergence of women's activism and agendas represent a fundamental shift away from the historical marginalization of women from politics. The centrality of gender, class and ethnicity in the ideological construction of "the nation" is discussed.

Following an initial chapter by the editors on "Gender, Racism and the Politics of Identities in Latin America", this book contains a series of country based examinations of particular feminist issues such as: the gendering of consciousness; women and the environment; links with the Catholic church; popular education; community development; the cultural contribution of women; linking the modem with the traditional; the politics of protest. The country case studies range across: Brazil, Chile, Ecuador, El Salvador, Guatemala, Mexico and Peru.

SCHMUKLER, Beatriz (1992) Women and the Microsocial Democratisation of Everyday Life, in: STROMQUIST, N (ed) (1992) **Women and Education in Latin America. Knowledge, Power and Change,** Lynne Rienner, London, 251-276.

Parents, particularly low-income parents, have little power and ability to negotiate the education of their children. This disadvantage is suffered essentially by women, who as mothers are expected to be the ones to supervise the education of children, or at least to become more involved in it than are their husbands.

In this chapter, Beatriz Schmukler discusses the careful although fragile construction of a space where parents can negotiate and renegotiate educational services and practices with school authorities. Although these parent-school authority transactions occur mostly in the area of democratising participation, they concern gender issues in two ways. First, the democratisation of school practices involves mothers more than fathers because mothers must respond to the social norm that they are responsible for their

children. Second, as some parents negotiate new relations with school authorities, such as the creation of student centres that could foster more student discretion, they are opposed by other parents who are concerned with the morality of their daughters and want to keep traditional authoritarian practices in schools. Schmukler describes an experiment that was intended to increase the flexibility of key actors in the educational system: parents, teachers, and school authorities. She discusses the limits of participation-the school challenges the possible contributions of mothers as educators and seeks collaboration only for the purpose of facilitating the school's task. A school's call for participation will fail because teachers differentiate also among parents, the good parents being those whose children have no problems. Thus, those more likely to have legitimate demands upon the school are disqualified from participation. Further, mothers continue to think in narrow, immediate family terms. Schools fragment parental participation, so these women have little opportunity to organise themselves autonomously. Hard-to-break authoritarian patterns of school and the fact that mothers are the main interlocutors make it even more difficult because mothers are expected to support, not question, the socialisation of their children. As children move up the educational ladder, the role of mothers becomes further limited because they are seen as resources to avoid school failure. Mothers are doubly subordinated (because of class and gender) by school authorities to act as socialisation agents for children, and this presumes that mothers accept the school's messages. The study by Schmukler shows that it is possible for mothers to participate and to become more aware of their rights regarding the education of their children. Yet this participation is fraught with selfdoubt and requires mothers to confront behaviours by school, authorities and teachers that circumscribe participation to a few aspects of the educational setting. (Stromquist)

## STROMQUIST, Nelly (ed) (1992) Women and Education in Latin America. Knowledge, Power and Change, Lynne Rienner, London

This book is the prime text on women, education and development in Latin America, or at least within the medium of English. It is a collective *tour de force* ranging across several key areas of concern and a fair proportion of the countries within the region. Many of the chapters form the basis of individual annotations below, but here we will concentrate on the structure of book and the introduction by the editor.

Apart from the introduction, the thirteen chapters comprising this book are grouped into four parts: education, the state and the economy; women and the formal education system; adult women and formal educational efforts; making changes. Overall the book explores the role of education -broadly defined - in reproducing inequality and sexual divisions of labour, and finds the cause of women's inferior situation to be both ideological and material. Central to the book, and relevant to the emerging process of redemocratisation, is the point that knowledge can be used to contest and transform meaning and thus to question existing authority and create new power.

The editorial introduction acknowledge that the Latin American region exhibits a greater degree of social and economic development than most other zones of the social developing' world. In broad terms, regional and national statistics show a situation near to gender parity as far as education -or at least schooling- is concerned, though a tendency for gender related curricular experiences remains. Perhaps this apparent equality is the reason for the paucity of literature on gender and education in this region? Educational opportunity does not necessarily resolve other forms of gender based disadvantage where, as the author puts it: "the subordination of women is anchored in both ideological and material conditions". The widening of educational opportunities under state control merely extends that control.

In such a situation, Stromquist asks: "When are spaces or opportunities created in the educational system for the introduction of emancipatory gender ideas? "In fact nonformal education is well developed in Latin America where it is known as "educación popular" and the mobilisation of women through participation in such a form of emancipation is a move towards democracy.

The editor concludes that: "Women are doing much better than before in terms of access to education and years of education attained, but problematical situations remain in several areas: content of curriculum materials; the social and organisational arrangements used in schools, classrooms and teachers' unions; the presence of women in teachers unions; women's literacy rates; and the design and scope of nonformal educational programs".

STROMQUIST, Nelly (1992) Women and Literacy in Latin America, in: STROMQUIST, Nelly (ed) (1992) **Women and Education in Latin America. Knowledge, Power and Change,** Lynne Rienner, London, 19-32.

As compared with the other two mayor regions of the so-called 'developing world', Latin America has enjoyed considerably more educational expansion in the post 1950 period. With most countries of the region having been independent for nearly 200 years, and despite periods of constraint on public education, strong policies on the provision of schooling have made UPE a reachable target within a generation and USE is also close in several countries. There is also a large and significant tertiary sector in regional terms.

And yet Latin America exhibits some major problems of literacy when one examines the situation on a smaller scale. The gender gap, almost imperceptible on macro aggregated figures suddenly becomes a chasm in certain contextual circumstances, for example in the poor rural areas and in the favellas and barrios of the big cities: in short, whenever poverty is widespread and entrenched. As the author puts it: "Clearly the elimination of illiteracy among women will necessitate the elimination of poverty, and

the redefinition of women's role in society".

Literacy programmes have been a feature of Latin American countries since the days of Jose Vasconcelos at least, but many of them have merely confirmed the *status quo* due to their content and *modus operandi*. In the poorest areas the educational experiences of everybody are severely limited and: "It is clear that the condition of women's literacy is tied to the condition of men's literacy, which in turn is affected mostly by poverty and social class location". Because most work on poverty fails to identify sexual dichotomy, because total population data are used, the additional contrasts on females caused by traditional roles and cultural restrictions are rendered invisible. Government literacy programmes have tended to be very traditional in that they concentrate on language issues, failing to work from social realities to generate conversations.

With respect to the situation of women in Latin America, unless the problem is perceived from certain directions, appropriate solutions cannot be imagined. Illiteracy problems of women are situated at the cross-roads of class and gender subordination, and resolution of these problems must start from there. To do otherwise would be to deny meaning to literacy exercises and fail to motivate poor women.

### Individual countries

**Argentina** 

Bolivia

Brazil

**Chile** 

Costa Rica

**Mexico** 

**Peru** 

#### **Argentina**

BONDER, Gloria (1992) Altering Sexual Stereotypes Through Teacher Training, in: STROMQUIST, Nelly (ed) (1992) **Women and Education in Latin America. Knowledge, Power and Change,** Lynne Rienner, London, 229-249.

Teachers, as an integral part of educational settings, play a key role in the transmission of gender ideologies. Through everyday actions, notions of femininity and masculinity are shaped, strengthened, and transmitted. Teachers have been the targets of many change efforts, usually through systematic efforts designed to produce attitudinal change. In this chapter, Bonder reviews the studies on sexual stereotypes in Argentine

textbooks and then gives a detailed account of one carefully conceived intervention that, although time-intensive, was not expensive in terms of the resources required. That this intervention took place in Argentina, a country with a strong belief in its gender progressiveness, makes it all the more interesting because the intervention confronted its participants with evidence of inequality and subordination that contradicted prevailing perceptions of gender equality in that society. The intervention, in the hands of a skilful psychologist, shows that well-conceived treatments- even though brief in comparison to the whole of experiences and situations that women teachers undergo in their everyday life- can be powerful in creating modified perceptions and attitudes. The in-service training implemented by Bonder also shows that technologies such as audiocassettes can be used effectively to provide stimuli for group discussion and that these group discussions can result in significant and stable changes among the participants.

An additional important contribution made by Bonder lies in the identification of the fears and conflicts that emerged among women teachers as they moved from a traditional to a more progressive, emancipatory view of gender relations. As described in her study, concerns about engaging in "a war between the sexes", creating domestic conflicts, and losing their "power in the domestic sphere" were troubling the teachers as they went on to implement changes in their individual lives. One inference from this is that women cannot readily change; in their everyday practice they will encounter transactions with men and family that make them unhappy and uncertain about the new terrain they are entering. Bonder's study, when juxtaposed with that of Sara-Lafosse, suggests that students in both coeducational schools and single-sex schools may be facing teachers who are themselves very uncertain about altering their own notions of femininity and masculinity. (Stromquist).

BRASLAVSKY, Cecilia (1992) Educational Legitimation of Women's Economic Subordination in Argentina, in: STROMQUIST, Nelly (ed) (1992) **Women and Education in Latin America. Knowledge, Power and Change,** Lynne Rienner, London, 47-66.

Braslavsky's study combines census data and survey data. Her analysis of macrolevel census data is juxtaposed with the current socio-economic structure and the social functions of education. She connects the presence of sex stereotypes in textbooks to the existence of social norms about women's proper role at home and in society.

Although Argentina has extremely high levels of women participating in education, Braslavsky explains that their participation in a school system that continues to present images of women as passive and devoted to home and family has not eroded the existence of a type of domesticity that functions to exclude women from the public sphere. Her cross-sectional research, which observes students at two points in their high school experience- the first and the last year of studies-provides evidence of disparate

academic achievement, depending on the socio-economic status of the school's student body. Although low-income students seem to be slightly more aware than their high-income peers of inequalities in society, all students tend to believe that individual characteristics determine academic success. The egalitarian myth, then, is strong at the individual level, and girls tend to endorse it even more than do boys.

The comparison between first-year and fifth-year students does not reveal a definite pattern in the perceptions of school failure and value orientations of students, which leads Braslavsky to conclude that the five-year school experience does not substantially modify the distribution of perceptions based on gender and socio-economic positions students bring to school. (Stromquist)

#### **Bolivia**

HEALY, Kevin (1991) Animating Grassroots Development: Women's Popular Education in Bolivia, in: **Grassroots Development**, 15, 1, 26-34.

This article has to do with the work of *CIMCA* (*Capacitación Integral de la Mujer Campesina*), a grassroots organisation founded in 1982 by Evelyn Barron and Rita Murillo. Its style was influenced by the work of Vasconcelo and Freire, taking the form of a *ratafolio:* that is to say, a mobile 'civics programme' based on popular experience and animated by the use of puppets, dramas and other visuals. Throughout the 1980s the indigenous population suffered especially severely due to the level of male migration to urban areas, leaving mothers, wives, sisters behind to eke out a living from small family farms.

The project director at that time, Evelyn Barron, insisted that: "women are the great untapped resource in Latin America, but are limited to agricultural occupations", but she was under no illusions as to the level of official interest in CIMCA, observing that: "we are setting our chance because almost everything else has failed". Indeed the aim of CIMCA from the outset was to move away from aid-based development towards self-help and empowerment. The project leaders and workers invested directly in people and under-utilised facilities (such as church halls). Working out of Oruro they established many locations of activity, touring by van and identifying *educadora popular* "a popular education capable of promoting community development". Young single women were the desired trainees.

There was some male backlash to contend with, especially as the movement gained a foothold inside the traditional peasant organisations, and the women acquired a stronger self-image. The contents of the *rotafolio* were products of local workshops, the effort "channelling anger at the recognition of systematic discrimination towards a search for effective remedial action". In effect they were creating "participatory institutes at the

base of society to ensure that democracy becomes more than a hollow word".

#### **Brazil**

ROSEMBERG, Fulvia (1992) Education Democratisation and Inequality in Brazil, in: STROMQUIST, Nelly (ed) (1992) **Women and Education in Latin America. Knowledge, Power and Change,** Lynne Rienner, London, 33-46.

A consequence of powerlessness is not being able to attract research attention to problems one considers important. In the case of women, many important educational issues remain understudied. Yet as Rosemberg's study shows, available census data can be analysed to understand gender conditions. Her study further explores the intersection between gender and ethnicity, a phenomenon especially relevant in a country such as Brazil.

Women have been gaining increased access to education in that country, and they now represent fully half of all students,. Inequalities emerge in years of educational attainment of men and women, in fields of study pursued by the two genders, and in the remuneration similar levels of education produce for men and women.

These findings are well known in the context of other countries. Rosemberg's contribution resides in showing that the gender hierarchy- at least in the Brazilian context- is subordinate to the race hierarchy. The inferior remuneration of women versus men is more pronounced than that of blacks versus whites, an intrigue outcome given the fact that blacks as a group attend poorest schools than whites. Without access to more direct data, we can only assume that society determines the values regardless of actual training and that women learn, through schooling and other social experiences, not to question monetary rewards. That this phenomenon occurs in other countries on the region is suggested by a study by David Post (1990), which found that girls in Peru across all social classes expected to earn less than boys. (Stromquist)

VIVEROS, Elena (1992) Vocational Training and Job Opportunities for Women in Northeast of Brazil, in: STROMQUIST, Nelly (ed) (1992) **Women and Education in Latin America. Knowledge, Power and Change,** Lynne Rienner, London, 195-226.

This qualitative study provides a glimpse of the gender construction processes operating within nonformal education programs. Through interviews with school personnel and the personal perspectives of four students in a computer programming course, shows how the program, family messages, and internalised social expectations combine to reaffirm women in their traditional roles as women and future wives.

Of special interest is how a new field, such computers programming in the context of

Northeastern, quickly become defined in such a manner that better rewarded positions go to men. That both men and women receive training in computer science does not prevent employers from offering different jobs to men and women graduates of these programs. Thus men are promptly defined as "programmers" and women as "word processors technicians". Confronted with stale definitions of women abilities, the women graduates from this program express disappointment at their limited chances for finding appropriate and well-remunerated employment; at the same time, they also show a willingness to accept the conditions in which they live and to give priority to family and marriage plans.

In the end, a new occupational field that can be equally filled by women and men is recast so that it fits existing perceptions of femininity and masculinity. This suggests that the introduction of technologies is not necessarily accompanied by shifts in gender and social relations. (Stromquist)

#### Chile

VALDES, Ximena (1992) The Women's Rural School: An Empowering Educational Experience, in: STROMQUIST, Nelly (ed) (1992) **Women and Education in Latin America. Knowledge, Power and Change,** Lynne Rienner, London, 277-302.

This chapter by Ximena Valdes offers a firsthand account of the evolution of an educational intervention with low-income women in Chile. It depicts how what started as brief gender-consciousness sessions gradually became redesigned into a rural women's school to provide its participants the space and time needed for an effective reflection of their situation as women and workers.

This account details the strategic decisions that program designers had to make in order to serve women effectively. Working with women who were so heavily involved in domestic and remunerated work activities made it necessary to take them to a new setting (the rural school) for four-day meetings over a six-month period. Pedagogically, it was felt that the identification of labour demands by the women would be a good starting point for the discussion of their subordination in society. Because the low-income women tended to combine work and family issues in their perception of personal problems, the program designers had to create homogeneous groups along lines of occupational interest.

Valdes shows that this popular education program, in terms of creating a critical understanding and new visions among the participants, was successful. However, two major problems were encountered: first, the tension the women developed between solving immediate economic problems and addressing longer-term social change; second, the tendency among the participants to engage in collective action and to adopt

a feminist discourse while attending the rural school, but to encounter difficulties in continuing such practices upon return to their communities. The resolution of these tensions calls for supportive measures in the social and economic arenas of the country as a whole, a condition beyond the program designers' control. Although the popular education program will go on, its developers raise questions about the opportunities that may emerge now that Chile has a democratic regime. (Stromquist)

#### Costa Rica

MENDIOLA, Haydée M (1992) Gender Inequalities and the Expansion of Higher Education in Costa Rica STROMQUIST, Nelly (ed) (1992) **Women and Education in Latin America. Knowledge, Power and Change,** Lynne Rienner, London, 125-145.

This chapter examines the changes in the participation of women in higher education that derive from a major expansion of the university system in Costa Rica. This rich quantitative study compares enrolment changes over a seven-year interval and traces university graduates as they join the labour force.

Mendiola finds no changes in the participation rates of men and women as new types of universities are created. This supports findings detected in other countries, namely that as more men seek higher education, so too do more women. The principle of homogenous marriage may be at work, a concept that deserves further consideration.

A positive result from the expansion of university education is that women tend to increase their chances of completing their studies and moving into a more diversified set of fields of study. *On* the other hand, women from upper classes are the ones who move into the new fields, including nonconventional fields for women.

The Costa Rican data also show that access to higher education does not result in the same benefits for men and women. Different types of educational institutions produce different levels of financial compensation in the labour force for their graduates, an effect that is more marked among women than among men.

In all, the chapter warns us that the process of social and gender stratification is an enduring one and that university expansion alone does not significantly alter the field-of-study choices and income of lower sectors of society. (Stromquist)

#### **Mexico**

CORTINA, Regina (1989) Women as Leaders in Mexican Education, in: **Comparative Education Review**, 33, 3, 357-376.

In Mexico the late nineteenth century creation of teacher training colleges was accompanied by new opportunities for women. By 1907 nearly 80 per cent of normal school students were female, though partly because of this there were very few women in the universities. Nearly a century later, the majority of Mexican teachers are women, though positions of authority and power still tend to reside with men. This is because gender differences have been institutionalised in teacher education and employment.

Within Mexican public education, women are concentrated in the lower tier of the system. Even though over 30 per cent of university students are female, they tend to be found in traditionally 'female' fields such as liberal arts, teaching, nursing and social work. There is a firmly rooted prejudice that "women who study are a bad investment for the state", and the kinds of socio-cultural premises created lead to the dropout of a significant number of female workers even in these welfare-oriented areas.

Within all this, the one sure avenue for women is teaching. Even a proportion of the Mexican female elite hold a normal school degree, but normal school has never enjoyed the status of the high schools - the route to universities - and dominated by men. This was institutionalised subordination.

The article moves on to address the relationship between gender inequality and educational employment. Even the high percentage of school principals who are female does not mean that a critical mass of women in the educational system has real power. Over the last 50 years, the author claims that: "the expansion of jobs for middle class women in teaching in Mexico has been closely linked to the implementation of access to education for more and more children". Even the teacher training sector has been feminised but few women hold managerial positions in it, a phenomenon that: "cannot be explained without understanding how the private and public worlds of women interact in their lives as teachers".

In order to probe into this issue the author interviewed 22 successful female teachers and 21 successful male teachers -all but 2 of the 43 were trained in the public sector. It was found that barriers to female advancement were partly due to institutionalised prejudices in the educational system and indeed the profession, and partly due to the demands of family responsibility. Nonetheless Cortina concludes that women in education in Mexico form a privileged group among Mexican women in general, there being strong Union support and genuinely equal pay. Further decentralization might devolve more power to women in the profession, but those private family responsibilities, still unequally shared between men and women, will continue to be a constraint on many potential leaders.

CORTINA, REGINA (1992) Gender and Power in the Teachers' Union in Mexico, in: STROMQUIST, Nelly (ed) (1992) **Women and Education in Latin America.** 

**Knowledge, Power and Change,** Lynne Rienner, London, 107-124.

Women represent the largest group among primary school teachers in many countries of the world. Although this means that potentially they could play a decisive role within their profession, this is in fact seldom the case.

A case study of the participation of women teachers as union members and leaders is provided in Cortina's chapter. Through her examination of the National Union of Education Workers in Mexico, the largest union and unquestionably one of the most powerful in Mexico, Cortina explains how the high participation of women in union membership has not been reflected in leadership positions. This situation is complex and results not only from women's self-exclusion based on prevailing norms of "virtuous women" who must refrain from meeting with men in awkward settings, but also from women's everyday constraints as they feel responsible for the domestic life of their families. The limitations women face are further fostered by the male leadership of unions that, consciously or unconsciously, draws upon women's norms of passivity and devotion to gear their involvement into supportive activities for the union. Thus, women's units in the union ironically end up playing social auxiliary roles rather than providing substantive political input. The recent demise of the women's units, however, might also signal a defensive response on the part of male leadership to preclude the emergence of effective space for women. Cortina's qualitative investigation provides insights into how gender as a system of power relations contributes to maintain political structures and social inequalities. Women teachers show little knowledge of the female leaders representing them; female leaders, in turn, show little awareness of feminist ideas or of the need to address problems salient among women. Thus, reproduction of the status quo continues. (Stromquist)

#### Peru

SARA-LAFOSSE, Violeta, (1992) Coeducational Settings and Educational and Social Outcomes in Peru, in: STROMQUIST, Nelly (ed) **Women and Education in Latin America. Knowledge, Power and Change,** Lynne Rienner, London, 87-105.

The study by Sara-Lafosse is unusual in that it considers benefits other than academic achievement for the development of boys and girls in Schools. Her findings have to be appreciated in the context of a Latin society that is *machista* in nature and in which strong beliefs about the sexual division of labour prevail.

Research in other countries indicates that boys tend to benefit from both single-sex and coeducational schools. They accrue benefit under both settings from the preferential treatment they tend to receive from both men and women teachers. Research that controls for factors such as socio-economic status has also shown that in some countries

girls register greater gains in academic achievement when they attend single-sex schools.

Although coeducational schools may be in some instances detrimental to girl's cognitive growth and may send hidden curricula messages reinforcing women's subordination, particularly through the modelling of men in important administrative positions, the coexistence of girls and boys in settings defined as serious and formal tends to reduce the myths of masculinity and femininity that set the genders apart from each other.

Sara-Lafosse's study shows that students perceptions of equal abilities by both sexes along a wide range of dimensions (intellectual to artistic) tend to be higher among students with substantial exposure to coeducational schooling than among those whose experience has been limited mostly to single-sex schools. Her data also show that levels of aggression- and essential feature of *machista* behaviour- and the belief that housework is solely a woman's task diminish for boys in coeducational schools. For those who think of the many virtues in single-sex schooling, Sara-Lafosse presents a view of other gains that accrue when there is a more open contact between male and female students. (Stromquist)

STROMQUIST, Nelly P (1992) Feminist Reflections on the Politics of the Peruvian University, in: STROMQUIST, Nelly (ed) (1992) **Women and Education in Latin America. Knowledge, Power and Change,** Lynne Rienner, London, 147-167.

This chapter examines a highly politicized university setting in order to detect the extent to which feminist currents have had an impact on the curriculum or the sociopolitical agenda of the university. In **Peru**, university students are highly sensitive to the questions of social, economic, and ethnic inequalities in the rest of the society- a feature that long has characterized them. This sensitivity to social disparities, unfortunately, has not been extended to gender issues.

Despite the fact that several fields have a large female enrollment and that women participate to a moderate degree in university politics, the political agenda is defined in the Marxist context of a class struggle, with feminist concerns dismissed as petty bourgeois. Women students who seek acceptance must then suppress these concerns.

Stromquist discusses the various factors that account for the low attention to gender issues in the university. Salient among these issues is the strong reliance on Marxist as a theoretical framework. Because it emphasizes the mode of production rather than the interplay between production and reproduction, this framework is compatible with existing patriarchal ideologies that leave little space for the development of a feminist agenda.

In conscience, politics at the university channels students activism into protecting the disadvantaged groups of society, yet it categorizes these people essentially in terms of their occupational roles as workers and peasants, not as gendered social actors. Ironically, although Peru has a well-developed feminist movement, with several large and stable groups and sustained publications, neither the university programs nor the activities within it reflects gender-related concerns. (Stromquist)

[Previous Page] [Top of Page] [Next Page]

Education research gender, education and development - A partially annotated and selective bibliography - Education Research Paper No. 19, 1997, 250 p.

#### [Previous Page] [Table of Contents]

## **Tropical islands**

Islands in the Caribbean - General section

Individual islands

Islands in the Indian ocean - Individual islands

Islands in the South Pacific ocean

Individual islands

Annotations - Tropical islands in the Caribbean

### Islands in the Caribbean - General section

Gender	
ACOSTA-BELEN, Edna & BOSE, Christine E. (eds.) (1993)	Researching Women in Latin America and the Caribbean, Westview Press, Boulder Colo.
ANDERSON, P.(1986)	Women in the Caribbean- Conclusion in <b>Social and Economic Studies</b> , 35 (2), 291-324.
ANTROBUS, Peggy (1989)	'Crisis, Challenge and the Experiences of Caribbean Women in Caribbean Quarterly 35 (1-2), 17-28.
BARROW, Christine (1988)	'Anthropology, the Family and Women in the Caribbean' in MOHHAMEN, P. & SHEPHERD, P. (eds.), <b>Gender in Caribbean Development,</b> University of West Indies, Jamaica, 156-169.
BRITTAIN, A, W. (1991)	'Can Women Remember the Number of Children they have Borne- Data from the East Caribbean' in <b>Social Biology</b> , 38 (3-4), 219-232.

CEBOTAREV, E. A. (1988)	'Women, Human rights and the Family in Development Theory and Practice (with Reference to Latin America and the Caribbean)' in <b>Canadian Journal Of Development Studies,</b> 9 (2), 187-200.
DAVIES, Carole Boyce & FIDO. Elaine Savory (1995)	Out of the Kumbla: Caribbean Women and Literature, Africa World Press.
ELLIS, Pat (1986)	'Introduction - an Overview of Women in the Caribbean Society' in ELLIS, Pat (ed.), <b>Women of the Caribbean</b> , Kingston Publishers Limited, Jamaica.
EMEAGWALI, Gloria Thomas (ed.) (1995)	Women Pay the Price: Structural Adjustment in Africa and the Caribbean, Africa World Press.
FEIJOO, M.D.C. (1990)	'Our Memory, Our future- Women and History - Latin America and the Caribbean' in <b>Desarrollo Economico</b> , 30 (118), 290.
GREENE, Edward (ed.) (1993) HART, Keith (ed.) (1989)	Race, Class and Gender in the Future of the Caribbean, Institute of Social and Economic Research, University of West Indies, Kingston, Jamaica. Women and the Sexual Division of Labour in the Caribbean, Consortium Graduate School of Social Sciences, University of West Indies Publishers, Jamaica.
LAWRENCE, L. S. (1983)	'Women in Caribbean Literature- The African Presence' in <b>Phylon,</b> 44 (1), 1-11.
LAZARUSBLACK, M. (1991)	'Why Women take Men to Magistrate Courts- Caribbean Kinship Ideology and Law' in <b>Ethnology</b> , 30 (2), 119-133.

LYNCH, Rosylyn M. (1993)	Gender Differences in Labour Market Experience - The Case of University Graduates in the Eastern Caribbean, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Hull.
MASSIAH, Joycelin (1979)	Women in the Caribbean, An Annotated Bibliography, Institute of Social and Economic Research, Cave Hill, Barbados.
MASSIAH, Joycelin (1983)	Women as Heads of Households in the Caribbean, Family Structure and Feminine Status, UNESCO, Paris.
MASSIAH, J.(1986)	'Work in the Lives of Caribbean Women' in <b>Social and Economic</b> <b>Studies,</b> 35 (2), 177-239.
MASSIAH, J.(1986)	'Women in the Caribbean Project- An Overview' in <b>Social and Economic Studies</b> , 35 (2), 1-29.
MILLER, Errol (1988)	"The Rise of Matriarchy in the Caribbean' in <b>Caribbean Quarterly</b> , 34 (3-4), 1-20.
MOMSEN, Janet Henshall (1986)	Boesrup Revisited: Economic Restructuring and Gender Roles in the Caribbean, University of Newcastle.
MOMSEN, Janet Henshall (ed.) (1993)	Women and Change in the Caribbean: A Pan-Caribbean Perspective, J. Currey, Kingston.
MORRISSEY, Michael (1975)	Women in Jamaica, Department of Statistics, Jamaica.
MORRISSEY, M. (1989)	'Female Headed Households in Latin America and the Caribbean' in <b>Sociological Spectrum,</b> 9 (2), 197- 200.
MORRISSEY, Marietta (1990)	Slave Women in the New World: Gender Stratification in the Caribbean, University Press of Kansas.

POWELL, D. (1984)	'The Role of Women in the Caribbean' in <b>Social and Economic Studies</b> , 33 (2), 97-122.
POWELL, D. (1986)	'Caribbean Women and their Response to Familial Experiences' in <b>Social and Economic Studies</b> , 35 (2), 83-130.
REDDOCK, R. F. (1985)	'Women and Slavery in the Caribbean- a Feminist Perspective' in <b>Latin</b> <b>American Perspectives</b> , 12 (1), 63-80.
SAFA, Helen Icken (1995)	Myth of the Male Breadwinner: Women and Industrialization in the Caribbean, Conflict and Social Changes Series, Westview Press, Boulder.
SENIOR, Olive (1991)	Working Miracles: Women's Lives in the English Speaking Caribbean, J. Currey.
SHEPHERD, Verene (ed.) (1995)	Engendering History: Caribbean Women in the Historical Perspective, J. Currey.
STUART, Bertie A. Cohen (1979)	Women in the Caribbean, A Bibliography, Department of Caribbean Studies, Royal Institute of Linguistics and Anthropology, Leiden.
UNITED NATIONS, ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL (NEW YORK) (1983)	The Legal Situation of Women in Latin America and the Caribbean Defined According to the Resolutions and Mandates of the United Nations System, Vol. 1: Basis, Proposals, Methodology and Information Analysis, United Nations Economic Commission for Latin America, Santiago, Chile.
UNITED NATIONS, ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN (1988)	The Decade for Women in Latin America and the Caribbean, Background and Prospects, United Nations, Santiago.

UNITED NATIONS, ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN (1992)	Major Changes and Crisis, the Impact on Women in Latin America and the Caribbean, United Nations, Santiago.
WHITE, A. (1986)	'Women in the Caribbean Project' in <b>Social and Economic Studies</b> , 35 (2), 59-81.
YELVINGTON, Kevin A. (1995)	Producing Power: Ethnicity, Gender and Class in the Caribbean Workplace, Temple University Press, Philadelphia.
YUDELMAN, Sally W. (1987)	Hopeful Openings, A Study of Five Women's Development Organizations in Latin America and the Caribbean, Kumarian Press, West Hartford.

Gender and Education	
BHASIN, Kamla & ELLIS, Pat (1984)	'Dialogue for Literacy: The Why and How of Literacy for Women: Some Thoughts of the Indian Context; and Women, Adult Education and Literacy: A Caribbean Perspective' in Convergence: An International Journal of Adult Education, 17 (4), 37-53.
ELLIS, Pat (1987)	'Women, Adult Education and Literacy: A Caribbean Perspective' in <b>International Journal of Lifelong Education,</b> 6 (1), 61-68.
ELLIS, Patricia (1991)	'The Need for Female Participation in Technical and Vocational Education in the Caribbean' in <b>Journal of Cooperative</b> <b>Education,</b> 26 (3), 77-81.
HAMILTON, Marlene A. (1981)	'The Prediction of Academic Success: An Interim Report' in <b>Caribbean Journal of Education</b> , 8 (1), 43 ff.
LEO-RHYNIE, Elsa (1989)	'Gender Issues in Education and Implications for Labour Force Participation' in HART, K. (ed.), <b>Women and the Sexual Division of Labour in the Caribbean,</b> University of West Indies Publishers, Jamaica.

MASSIAH, Joycelin (ed.) (1982)	Women and Education, Women in the Caribbean Project, Volume 5, Institute of Social and Economic Research, University of West Indies, Barbados.
MCKENZIE, H. (1986)	'The Educational Experiences of Caribbean Women' in <b>Social and Economic</b> Studies, 35(3), 65-105.

### **Individual islands**

Antigua and Barbuda

Barbados

Curacao

**Dominica** 

Grenada

<u>Haiti</u>

<u>Jamaica</u>

**Martinique** 

Montserrat

**Trinidad and Tobago** 

### **Antigua and Barbuda**

Gender	
	'Bastardy, Gender Hierarchy and the State- The Politics of Family Law Reform in Antigua and Barbuda' in <b>Law and Society Review</b> , 26 (4), 863-899.

#### **Barbados**

Gender	
'Male Images of Women in Barbados' in <b>Social and Economic Studies,</b> 35 (3), 51-64.	

LEVEY, D. E. & LERCH, P. B. (1991)	Tourism as a Factor of Development -
	Implications for Gender and Work in
	Barbados' in <b>Gender and Society</b> , 5 (1), 67-
	85.

### Curacao

Gender	
	Male and Female and the Afro-Curacavan Household, YPEREN, Maria J. L. Van (trans. from the Dutch), Nijhoff, The Hague.

### **Dominica**

Gender	
	'Differential Fertility of Women of Dominica' in
	American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 81
	(2), 265.

### Grenada

Gender	
LADUKE, B. (1984)	'Women, Art and Culture in the New Grenada' in Latin
	America Perspectives, 11 (3), 37-52.

### Haiti

Gender	
CHARLES, C. (1995)	'Gender and Politics in Contemporary Haiti, a Duvalierist State: Transnationalism, and the Emergence of a New Feminism' in <b>Feminist</b> <b>Studies</b> , 21 (1), 135-164.
PASCAL, Trouillot Ertha (1983)	Analyse de la Legislation Révisant le Statut de la Femme Mariée, le Décret du 8 Octobre 1982 et le Code Civil, Henri Deschamps, Port-au-Prince.

### Jamaica

Gender	
CHAMBERLAIN, M.(1994)	'Women and Gender in Caribbean History' in <b>History Workshop -A Journal of Socialist and Feminist Historians,</b> Mona Jamaica, 37, 250-252.
COOPER, Carolyn (1993)	Noises in the Blood: Orality, Gender and the Vulgar Body of Jamaican Popular Culture, University of Caribbean Studies, Macmillan, Caribbean.
HOTCHKISS, J. L. & MOORE, R. E. (1996)	'Gender Compensation Differentials in Jamaica' in <b>Economic Development and Cultural Change,</b> 44 (3), 657-676.
LAFONT, Suzanne (1995)	Emergence of an Afro-Caribbean Legal Tradition: Gender Relations and Family Courts in Kingston, Jamaica, Austin & Winfield.
SARGENT, C. & HARRIS, M. (1992)	'Gender Ideology, Child Rearing and Child Health in Jamaica' in <b>American</b> <b>Ethnologist</b> , 19 (3), 523-537.
SMITH, Honor Ford (ed.) (1986)	Lionheart Gal: Lives of Women in Jamaica, Sistren Theatre Collective, Women's Press.
STANDING, Guy (1981)	Unemployment and Female Labour, A Study of Labour in Kingston, Macmillan Publishers, London.
YELVINGTON, Kevin A. (1995)	Producing Power: Ethnicity, Gender and Class in a Caribbean Workplace, Temple University Press.

Gender and Education	
MILLER, Errol (1986)	Marginalization of the Black Male: Insights from the Development of the Teaching Profession, ISER, Jamaica.

MILLER, Errol (1990)	Jamaican Society and High Schooling, Institute of Social and Economic Research, U.W.I., Jamaica, Chapter 7, 211-232.
MITCHELMORE, M. C. & CLARKE, N. M. A. (1993)	'Gender, Nutrition and School Achievement in Jamaica' in <b>Social and</b> <b>Economic Studies,</b> 42 (2-3), 117-134.
GERSHENBERG, I.(1994)	'Gender, Training and the Creation of a Managerial Elite -Multinationals and Other Firms in Jamaica' in <b>Journal of Developing Areas</b> , 28 (3), 313-324.
HAMILTON, M. & LEO-RHYNIE, E.(1984)	'Sex Roles and Secondary Education in Jamaica' in World Yearbook of Education: Women and Education, Kogan Page, London, 123-138.

### Martinique

Gender	
PIERRE-CHARLES, Livie (1975)	Femmes et Chansons, Editions Louis Soulanges,
	Paris.

### **Montserrat**

Gender	
SKELTON, Tracey (1989)	Women, Men and Power: Gender Relations in
	Montserrat, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Newcastle Upon
	Tyne, United Kingdom.

### **Trinidad and Tobago**

Gender	
DALY, Stephanie (1982)	The Developing Legal Status of Women in Trinidad and Tobago, National Commission on the Status of Women, Port of Spain.

DRIVER, E. D. & DRIVER, A. E. (1983)	'Gender, Society and Self- Conceptions- India, Iran, Trinidad -Tobago and the United States' in <b>International Journal of</b> <b>Comparative Sociology,</b> 24 (3-4), 200- 217.
HAREWOOD, Jack (1978)	Female Fertility and Family Planning in Trinidad and Tobago, University of West Indies, Kingston.
MAHABIR, Kumar (1992)	East Indian Women of Trinidad and Tobago: an annotated bibliography, Chakra, Chaguanas.
REDDOCK, Rhoda (1994)	Women, Labour and Politics in Trinidad and Tobago: A History, Zed Books, London.

Gender and Education	
DRAYTON, Kathleen B. (1989)	White Man's Knowledge: Sex, Race and Class in Caribbean English Language Textbooks, Women and Development Studies Seminar, University of West Indies (Mimeograph).
FOREMAN, Judith (1985)	'Schooling, Gender and Development in Trinidad and Tobago' in LILLIS, K. M. (ed.) <b>School and Community in Less Developed Areas,</b> Croom Helm, London, 228-257.
PAYNE, Monica A.(1989)	Differential Classroom Treatment of Male and Female Students, Women and Development Studies Seminar, University of West Indies (Mimeograph)
PAYNE, Monica A. (1989)	Sexuality and the Secondary School: Some Observations on Co-education and Single Sex Environments, Women and Development Studies Seminar, University of West Indies (Mimeograph)

# Islands in the Indian ocean - Individual islands

Mauritius

### **Mauritius**

Gender	
MINISTRY OF LABOUR AND INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS, WOMEN'S RIGHTS AND FAMILY WELFARE (1989)	Women in Figures, Numerical Designation, Government Printers, Port Louis.
MINISTRY FOR WOMEN'S RIGHTS AND FAMILY AFFAIRS (1982)	The Ministry of Women's Rights and Family Affairs, Government Printers, Mauritius.
MINISTRY OF WOMEN'S RIGHTS, CHILD DEVELOPMENT AND FAMILY WELFARE (1995)	White Paper on Women in Development, Ministry of Women's Rights, Mauritius.
MINISTRY OF WOMEN, FAMILY WELFARE AND CHILD DEVELOPMENT (1996)	A Statistical Profile on Women in the Republic of Mauritius, Ministry of Women, Family Welfare and Child Development, Mauritius.

### Reunion

Gender			
UNIVERSITE DE LA REUNION	Visages de la Féminité, Recueil d'Articles,		
(1984)	Centre de Recherches Littéraires et		
	Historiques et Centre Interdisciplinaire de		
	Recherche sur les Civilisations et Littératures		
	du Monde Anglophone - Afro -		
	Indianocéanique, Université de la Réunion.		

## **Seychelles**

Gender	
	'The Equality of Sexes in the Seychelles' in Freedman, M. (ed.) <b>Social Organisation,</b> Cass & Co., London, 43-64.

BENEDICT, M. & B (1984)	Men, Women and Money in Seychelles, University of California Press, Berkeley and Los Angeles.
BERGE, Gunvor (1987)	Hierarchy, Equality and Social Change: Exchange Processes on a Seychelles Plantation, Oslo Occasional Paper in Social Anthropology, University of Oslo, Chapter 9.
PEDERSEN, J. (1987)	'Plantation Women and Children- Wage Labour, Adoption and Fertility in the Seychelles' in <b>Ethnology</b> , 26(1), 51-61.
ROBERTS, Maryse (1994)	National Report on the Situation of Women in Seychelles, National Gender Unit, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Planning and Environment, (Mimeograph).

## Islands in the South Pacific ocean

#### **GENERAL SECTION**

Gender		
COX, Elizabeth (1988)	'Networking among the Rural Women in the	
	Pacific' in <b>ASPBAE Courier</b> , 44, 6-16.	
STRATHERN, Marilyn (ed.) (1987)	<b>Dealing with Inequality: Analysing Gender</b>	
	<b>Relations in Melanesia and Beyond, Essays</b>	
	by Members of the 1983/1984 Anthropological	
	Group at the Research School of Pacific	
	Studies, Australian National University,	
	Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.	
TONGAMOA, Taiamoni (ed.) (1988)	Pacific Women: Roles and Status in Pacific	
	Societies, University of South Pacific, Fiji.	

Gender and Education	
	'Barriers to Educational Access: A Study of the Enrolment and Attrition Patterns of Pacific Islands Women' in <b>Research in Distance Education</b> , 4 (2), 2-4.

### **Individual islands**

Fiji
Solomon Islands
Tonga
Vanuatu
Western Samoa

### Fiji

Gender		
BASOW, Susan A. (1986)	'Correlates of Sex- Typing in Fiji' in <b>Psychology of Women Quarterly,</b> 10 (4), 429-42.	
BOLABOLA, Cema (1987)	An Experience of the Transfer of Appropriate Technology from Fiji to Kenya; The 1987 ISIS-WICCE Exchange Programme on Women and Appropriate Technology' in <b>Asian South Pacific Bureau of Adult Education Courier</b> , 41,20-26.	
RENNIE, L. J. & DUNNE, M. (1994)	'Gender, Ethnicity and Students' Perceptions about Science and Science- Related Careers in Fiji' in <b>Science Education</b> , 78 (3), 285-300.	
WILLIKSENBAKKER, S.(1992)	'Elopement in Urban Fiji- Body and Gender Images as Mediators in a Cleansing Process' in <b>Journal of Polynesian Society,</b> 102 (2), 115-128.	

Gender and Education		
KAMIKAMICA, E. (1985)	'Problems of Women's Education in Fiji' in <b>Women in</b>	
	Development in the South Pacific: Barriers and	
	<b>Opportunities,</b> Papers Presented at a Conference held in	
	Vanuatu, Development Studies Centre, Australian	
	National University 11-14 August 1984.	

### **Solomon Islands**

Gender			

DUREAU, C. (1993)	'Nobody Asked the Mother - Women and Maternity on Simbo, Western Solomon Islands' in <b>Oceania</b> , 64 (1), 18-35.
	'Kwaio Women Speak- The Micropolitics of Autobiography in a Solomon Islands Society' in <b>American Anthropologist</b> , 87 (1), 27-39.

# Tonga

Gender	
GAILEY, C.W. (1996)	'Women and Democratization Movement in Tonga- Nation Versus State, Authority Versus Power' in <b>Women's Studies</b> <b>International Forum,</b> 19 (1-2), 169-178.
JAMES, K. (1983)	'Gender Relations in Tonga 1780-1984' in <b>Journal of the Polynesian Society,</b> 92 (2), 233-243.
JAMES, K. E. (1991)	The Female Presence in Heavenly Places- Myth and Sovereignty in Tonga' in <b>Oceania</b> , 61 (4), 287-308.
OLSON, F. (1994)	'Female Voices of Aggression in Tonga' in <b>Sex Roles,</b> 30 (3-4), 237-248.

### Vanuatu

Gender		
BEDFORD, Richard (ed.) (1989)	Population of Vanuatu: Analysis of 1979 Census, Population Monograph, 2, South Pacific Commission, Noumea.	
BONNEMAISON, Joel (1974)	'Changements dans la Vie Rurale et Mutations Migratoires aux Nouvelles - Hébrides' in Cahiers ORSTOM: Série Sciences Humaines, 11 (3-4), ORSTOM, Paris, 259-286.	
FORD, Donna-Mae (1994)	The Viability of Primary Health Care for Women's Health: An Ethnographic Study of Women's Health Beliefs, Values and Practices in Rural Vanuatu, University of Alberta, Canada.	

JOLLY, M. (1987)	The Forgotten Women: A History of Migrant Labour and Gender Relationships in Vanuatu' in <b>Oceania</b> , 58 (2), 119-139.
JOLLY, Margaret (1994)	Women of the Place: Kastom, Colonialisation and Gender in Vanuatu, Studies in Anthropological Series, Gordon and Breach.
MOLISA, Grace (1985)	'Vanuatu Women's Development Since Independence' in <b>Women and Development in</b> <b>the South Pacific,</b> Canberra Development Studies Centre, ANU, 215-217.
RARUA, Kathleen (1988)	'Vanuatu' in Tongamoa, Taiamoni (ed.) <b>Pacific Women -Roles and Status in Pacific Societies,</b> University of South Pacific, 76-87.
REPUBLIC OF VANUATU (1988)	Demographic Analysis: Marriage, Fertility and Infant Mortality- Vanuatu Urban Census 1986, National Planning and Statistics Office, Port Vila.
REPUBLIC OF VANUATU (1989)	Second National Development Plan 1987-91, Women in Development, Chapters 19 (1) & 14 (2).
WALTER, A. (1985)	'L'épouser hier et Aujourd'hui - Quelques Notes Sur les Stratégies Matrimoniales à Vanuatu', <b>Anthropologie-Document de Travail,</b> 5, Port Vila.
WALTER, A. (1988)	Naissance et Maternite à Vanuatu, <b>Anthropologie Document de Travail,</b> 8, ORSTOM, Port Vila.

Gender and Education	
BROCK, C. & CAMMISH, Nadine (1994)	Factors Affecting Female Participation in Education in six Developing Countries, Overseas Development Administration, ODA Research Project 4532 Serial No. 9, London (includes Vanuatu). NEW EDITION NOW PUBLISHED AS COMPANION VOLUME TO THIS.
CAMMISH, Nadine (1994)	'Island Daughters: Factors Affecting the Education of Girls in Vanuatu' in <b>Compare</b> , 24 (2), 139-155.

#### Western Samoa

#### **Gender and Education**

FAIRBAIRN, Dunlop P. (1991) 'E au le Inailau a Tamaitai': Women, Education and Development, Western Samoa, Ph.D. Thesis, Macquire University, North Ryde, NSW.

## **Annotations - Tropical islands in the** Caribbean

Individual countries Pacific islands - General Indian ocean - Individual countries

### Individual countries

Jamaica

#### **Jamaica**

MILLER, Errol 1986 Marginalisation of the Black Male: insights from the **Development of the Teaching Profession, ISER, U.W.I.** 

Unlike many of the other countries in this Bibliography, Jamaica has a good record in girls' education; in fact the girls out-perform the boys. Girls out-number boys in traditional high, private high and comprehensive high schools, all of which enjoy higher social status and are seen as more effective agents of upward social mobility than the new secondary schools where boys out-number girls. Among Jamaican full-time degree students at the University of the West Indies in 1984-85 females out-numbered males (53.9% to 46.1%), although not in mathematics or physical sciences. The teaching profession is predominantly female (87.3% in primary & all-age schools; 65.9% in secondary schools) although men do hold a disproportionate number of head-teacher posts in the school system. In this book Errol Miller examines the evolution of the teaching profession and the teacher-training colleges in Jamaica and, with particular reference to the effects of the last decade of the nineteenth century, advances the hypothesis that"Primary school teaching and teacher education shifted from being male dominated to being female dominated as a result of the intention of the ruling class to release black men from service type occupations to make them available for agricultural & industrial labour, and to stifle the possible emergence of militant black educated men who could possibly overthrow the power structure", (p73).

Miller argues that as result, a fundamental shift in socialization orientation took place during the 1900-1956 period:

"Because of the fundamental influence of the primary school and the teachers' college on black rural life, the change of opportunity from boy to girl, from son to daughter (in terms of educational opportunity & middle class employment prospects in teaching) brought about a significant change in the socialization of boys & girls," (p.70)

Black girls began to achieve more educationally than boys and this phenonomen continues today, contributing to the marginalisation of the black male. Jamaica is one of the few countries in the world, as Miller points out, in which there are more illiterate men than women in the population.

Miller outlines a similar pattern in the institutional provision for high schooling which favoured girls in the post-war and post-Independence period, in his book <u>Jamaican</u> <u>Society and High Schooling</u> (1990) q.v., Chapter Seven.

LEO-RHYNIE, Elsa 'Gender issues in education and implications for Labour force participation', in K. HART (Ed) **Women and the sexual division of labour in the Caribbean,** U.W.I., Jamaica, 1989, p. 81-97.

Whilst Errol Miller (q.v.) argues his theory of the marginalisation of the black male, Elsa Leo-Rhynie points out that access to high school education and gender/subject choice orientation are two features of the Jamaican system of education which reveal gender difference and discrimination against girls. She shows how in the selection examination for high schools "lower-scoring boys are awarded places for which higher-scoring girls are better qualified", (p.84). Although girls perform better on entry to secondary school, it is disturbing that there is a tendency for them to make sex-stereotyped choices in the opportunities offered in secondary education. Even in academic streams more girls chose biology and more boys do physics. At 'A' level, entries for girls have been higher in the arts & for boys in science even though overall girls continue to have higher pass rates. Interestingly, girls of comparable socioeconomic status attending single-sex and co-educational schools have been shown to have differing examination entry and performance rates: girls in girls' schools entered

for more subjects and were more successful than girls in co-educational schools. Despite the worry of the alienation of boys, many of whom tend to truant or not to achieve at the expected levels, and despite the undeniable academic success of girls, the author stresses that there are still problems as far as girls are concerned. One is that of the high teenage pregnancy rate. The other is the self-image which girls develop despite their success in school, resulting in sex-stereotyped choices of courses and jobs. There is moreover clear gender differentiation in the work force: the majority of women are in lower status and lower paid jobs. (See also Hamilton, M. and Leo-Rhynie, E., 1984)

#### Pacific islands - General

Vanuatu

TONGAMOA, Taiamoni (Ed.) (1988) Pacific Women: roles and status of women in Pacific Societies, University of the South Pacific, Fiji.

This small book (104pp) is useful as an introduction to the present-day situation of women in the South Pacific and offers chapters on Fiji, Papua New Guinea, the Solomon Islands, Tonga and Vanuatu. Studies represent the personal views of women who have grown up in the islands. Each chapter follows the same pattern: first there is a general introduction to the role & status of women in the particular island group which covers such aspects as traditional custom, legal status, employment, education & politics, etc. This is followed by four case studies and then a discussion of the findings. The women chosen for the case studies represent a range of experience: urban & rural, literate and illiterate, employed and unemployed, living a traditional life-style or working as a trained professional.

Tongamoa, in her <u>Overview</u> (Chapter 6), points out that such is the cultural diversity among the various Pacific societies, that it is impossible to generalise very far about the cultural patterns, practices & activities relating to women. In the past, the seemingly unfair division of labour and the relatively low status of women were not points of complaint:

"The islanders were not conscious of any competition between men and women, because they perceived their ascribed and traditional roles and responsibilities as being divinely sanctioned & unchangeable, to be carried out for the benefit of everybody in the family and the community", (p89).

Since contact with Western culture however, the established co-existence of females and males in traditional Pacific societies has become a point of controversy. The unequal division of labour in particular has been questioned by educated women. Some

of the women surveyed were reluctant to accept change but the case studies reveal that women are increasingly involved in formal education, employment and politics. Education and jobs give women more independence not only from men but also from their kin networks and lead towards increased individualism. In this context, says Tongamoa, "economic independence causes a reorganisation of traditional structures", (p91). In community-based societies like those of the Pacific Islands, the effect is all the more significant.

### Vanuatu

CAMMISH, Nadine K. (1994) 'Island daughters: factors affecting the education girls in Vanuatu', **Compare**, 24 (2), p. 139-155.

Although there are many anthropological studies on the Melanesian women of Vanuatu, very little has been written about gender and education in the islands apart from this article. Based on fieldwork which formed part of an ODA sponsored study Female participation in education in six developing countries (Brock and Cammish, 1991/4, q.v.), it examines the geographical, socio-cultural, health, economic, legal and politicoadministrative factors which affect girls' participation in education and also looks at factors arising from within the education system itself. Census data, figures from the Ministry of Education and results from the fieldwork survey of primary six pupils' perceptions about girls' education provide useful documentation not easily available elsewhere. The evidence shows that the urban/rural dichotomy which marks girls' access to education in many developing countries, is particularly strong in Vanuatu as is the core/periphery syndrome: remoteness affects both the availability and accessibility of schooling, and preserves traditional socio-cultural attitudes. Primary 6 girls in Port Vila, the tiny capital, confidently expect to go to secondary school & to get jobs in banks and offices. Those living on remoter islands may not even go to school at all, even when one is available: tradition assigns them to working in subsistence agriculture.

Despite problems of accessibility of schools and the traditional low status of girls in Vanuatu, however, the percentage of them enrolling in Primary School <u>has</u> increased rapidly over the last few years and more girls are staying on longer. Between 1979 and 1989 the percentage of girls who had completed 6 or more years of education rose from 54% to 70%. At the secondary level however, the limited number of junior secondary places available, added to problems of distance & accessibility, would seem to preclude any rapid extension of secondary education for either sex, but some new schools are being built.

### Indian ocean - Individual countries

Mauritius Seychelles

#### **Mauritius**

MINISTRY of WOMEN, FAMILY WELFARE and CHILD DEVELOPMENT (1996) **A Statistical Profile on Women in the Republic of Mauritius,** Government of Mauritius, Mauritius.

When one has laboured, sometimes in vain, in other developing countries, to find statistics relating to the female part of the population, it is a delight to find the necessary basic information gathered together in one slim volume (49 pp). Information is available for the Republic as a whole and in disaggregrated form for Mauritius and Rodrigues. The statistics cover <u>population</u> by age and sex, females by age and marital status, marriage and divorce, birth and fertility, and death and life expectancy. There is full and useful information on education: illiteracy rates, nursery/primary/secondary enrolment figures by age and sex, examination passes and percentage of women teachers by level 1988-94. The section on employment gives figures for the main occupations in the islands and details of social benefits. There are also tables on employees in Government Services by Ministry & by sex, and on the electorate and elected representatives. This is a very useful source of reference and is available from the Ministry concerned.

### **Seychelles**

BENEDICT, M & B (1984) Men, Women and Money in Seychelles, California Press, Berkley and Los Angeles.

Little is available on gender, education & development in Seychelles. A forth-coming publication on girls' participation in education was unfortunately not ready in time to include it in this Bibliography but there is an up-to-date study by Maryse Roberts National Report on the Situation of Women in Seychelles (q.v.) covering women's present-day status and legal rights, obtainable from the Seychelles National Gender Unit. The publications of Burton Benedict, spanning over twenty-five years, have analysed the whole social fabric of the Seychelles but this 1984 publication examines in particular male/female domestic relationships. Only Part 2 of the book, by Burton Benedict himself, is considered in this annotation.

Benedict discusses the matricentred nature of the traditional Seychellois family structure and explores the roots of the traditions in the history of slavery and employment in the islands. In later chapters his research data enables him to make detailed comparisons between 1960 and 1975 for employment, class & mobility, domestic expenditure, etc. He argues that: "Money symbolises relations between the sexes over the course of the life cycle", (p182). He goes on to say that, "In Seychelles a man is a male with money. A male without money is not a man but a dependant, a boy, a sponger, a dotard", (p183) and again: "a woman is a female with children, just as a man is a male with money", (p201). Commenting on the traditional arrangements in poorer households, he points out that-

"The pattern of expenditure found in the so-called matrifocal households of the lower economic class does not really indicate that women are in charge. It simply means that virtually all money has to be spent on subsistence. Once the wages rise above subsistence level, the men take over", (p216).

Chapter 19 deals in detail with marriage and concubinage (known in Seychelles as living *en ménage*), and explores the attitudes of men and women to one another in various kinship groups. For those who are in marriage or *en ménage* relationships, Benedict emphasises that sexual relations entail obligations of maintenance both in monetary terms & in terms of domestic labour. Failure to fulfil these obligations leads to fights. The concept of "household" has a certain fluidity in that a Seychellois man may be a "member" of more than one household in terms of recognising financial obligations to other households containing parents, children, siblings, or lovers, (p250). Women's family networks (chapter 20) are strong and operate apart from and to some extent against men:

"Men are necessary to support [them] with their earnings, but they enter into [them] only peripherally as brothers and sons, scarcely at all as fathers and husbands", (p260).

Men and women's very differing roles often bring them into conflict: a woman needs a man's earning capacity and a man needs a woman's domestic services but in the Seychelles context these needs can conflict rather than being complementary.

Although Benedict's data relates to the 1960-75 period, his analysis is useful for an understanding of the traditions underlying life in Seychelles today. It is also interesting as a basis for comparing the Seychelles with islands in the Caribbean in terms of the role and status of women and the academic success of girls in the education system.

Department for International Development 94 Victoria Street London SW1E 5JL

ISBN: 0 902500 76 7

[Previous Page] [Top of Page]